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EMWESR
OUR VISION

KREFEHRNEEPINESERER
To be an Asian originated world-class outdoor
communication enterprise

e2 4 ul: ok
OUR MISSION

AEFRERENFPINEEFR  URDESES
Wz 115 [O] 3 K

To provide optimal Out-Of-Home (OOH) communication
solutions with highest Return-On-Investment (ROI) and
effectiveness

BRESITEER  ReTXREXRA
To promote professional excellence in outdoor advertising
media

BEMNGE - S8 EFHE K
To nurture our workforce into a harmonious, efficient and
effective team

BITH SRR B

To be a commumty conscious enterprise

EAGREE
OUR CORE VALUES

WiE - HABHE  BEE

Integrity: Being honest and truthful towards people
B BERERESEHRE TR

Excellence: Continuous improvement and the pursuit of
excellence

CE . SHEFUCEZL - DR E
Benevolence: Taking social responsibilities and caring for the
community

R
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A EEE
ASIARAY AT A GLANCE

%_
NO.1

BMERPERBHSESETISNEESR
In Greater China’s airport
advertising market

/ -
.,
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1993

FIREEREHEBHNFD
The year we started our
advertising business

482 B8
MILLION

HLEBEERREISH2016F 2T R

Air passenger traffic of Asiaray’s
exclusive airport resources in 2016
/‘A\

Employees
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BEWTHNHE

Cities where we have operations

==
NO.2

BRMERTEL R EES SIS

In Greater China’s metro advertising market

12
21

BREHKERRBNEE
Airports with exclusive concession rights

BREHEERNEERNEE
Metro lines with exclusive concession rights
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MEDIA NETWORK
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OUR PHILOSOPHY

ZEEE

HARC RERBKEESE -

HEGH "HEBA-TEEL" WEREESUIEEATR -
BAEBE=HEREEANERENT  BURESEP KBERESR
AR BEAREEEEE -

BREREAAN — XMCBRREERAR - RABMXER
FEEEP — BIEEENEBAR  BAESMa
TE —RGEBLCHRERE  BE RBEMAE 2EEIRE  BEIKRE

SPACE MANAGEMENT

We view ourselves as the managers of the space, which distinguishes us from the traditional
“Buy Wholesale, Sell Retail” approach.

Our well-developed space management model enables us to create value for our advertising
customers, media resources owners and passengers.

Media resource owner —enhance the overall ambience and optimize the commercial value

Advertising customer — enhance the overall impact of the advertisement

Passenger —extend beyond the visual to stimulate senses of smell, touch, hearing and taste,
making up an exuberant journey

HTfE
DISNEY

B E 55
DOMINATIONTRAIN
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NISSINFOOD

KFEEREE RE &RE&T
ESCALATORCROWN EXHIBITION  0&0
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YOUKU

&R EBEAE &®REKT
FRAGRANCE INTERACTIVE  0&0
PROPS

e
TENCENT CLOUD

mAERT MENMBEN KEET
BRANDING  IBEACON 0&0
DISPLAY
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GIANT LIGHT BOX
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EVENTS OF THE YEAR

BEEZEA2016 BB T8 F S
BAEHHREAEERIE
T = 75 B B B R I 2 9 BBUMNEREESRIE -

MmN ESEBETLE

Appointed as the exclusive

& advertising agency of 2016
. . . FIA Formula E HKT Hong Kong
Obtained concession rights ePrix.

for media resources at Sanya
Phoenix International Airport
Terminal 2.

BRI E16RE T BHE

BR 15 [ P9 & IR BRI S 4 355 7 5% BERBREEE -
g T EREERBERE ained excluc .
E$%§%$E . Obtained exclusive concession

rights to operate mainstream

Obtained lusi ] media resources in Beijing
ained exclusive concession Metro Line No. 16.

rights to operate mainstream
media resources in Terminal 4 o
of Xiamen Gaoqi International

Airport.
o
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FALERFZEEFFREKR
J*EQ—T—?I%L,\/T ABTE
REARZEHIRE ©

Upgraded digital media resource
of CITIC Tower comprehensively
via cutting-edge technology, with
real-time content display and
other new functions.

B2 CattertonfZ 37 R BE & 1E
Wik MBEETERRAER
G BRTRERRR FREEBIRTS
RREISTRE ETE -

Entered into strategic alliance
with L Catterton, strengthening
OOH, 0&O0 advertising solutions
and in-airport cooperation with
key shareholder.

BB B R
ENESHIEREER -

ANEE NS SE PN

Renewed advertising agency
services contract with MTR for its
shopping malls and commercial
premises.

Asiaray Media Group Limited

HIVMHEEE S PireE
EAEESERNTE %K%ﬁ
ERBEMR -

Renewed exclusive advertising
concession contract with LVMH
Group for Wheelock House
Billboard in Central.

2016 Annual Report 13



BRIARRE
AWARDS & RECOGNITION

«" &5 (QUALIFICATIONS
FE—MEECE (REREE) (BREBRLE)

First-class Advertising Agency of China (Media Service) (Yunnan Airport Asiaray)

R —RESRE (HERBHR) (LEELHE)

First-class Advertising Agency of China (Media Service) (Shanghai Asiaray)
PETMESHeRBEEEN (LB TH)

Standing Member of the Outdoor Advertising Committee of Shanghai Advertising Association
(Shanghai Asiaray)

tamERRE (L8ETe)

Famous trademark in Shanghai (Shanghai Asiaray)

GB/T9001-2008/15S09001:2008:RFEEE (/G HEL4)
GB/T9001-2008/1S09001:2008 International Certificate of Registration (Shanghai Asiaray)

« £=[@ %452 GROUP RECOGNITIONS
016 FPINESEAES - RAKREBE TR INESE AT

2016 China Outdoor Advertising Industry Convention - Listed Outdoor Advertising Company with Most
Investment Value

Fheatt L EHEEER)ERER - RAEHFESE

The 9th 21st Century Marketing (Beijing) International Summit - Most Valuable Media Award
FETMEEHEN =T EAFRELERME (LakTE)

Shanghai Advertising Association 30th Anniversary Outstanding Contribution Award (Shanghai Asiaray)
2016FE FEMBESHEFERERY - ERIERARE (LEMRTH)

2016 Shanghai Advertising Association Advanced Recognition - Corporate Category - Contribution Award
(Shanghai Asiaray)

2015 F )\JEROIG IR EFE HIFKE
2015 The 8th ROI Festival - Best Media of the Year

20155 F AL
2015 Shanghai Renowned Brand

B 1 R o e
Top Five Brands in China

WOEEEEEEBERAT  2016F® 14



«" /4218 CAMPAIGN AWARDS

HEY | BREBEEEHLEDRIERS
Mcdonald’s | LED Animated Building Wrap at Russell Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

F3EHEBERESHPRES RN - PIME - R1E

The 23rd China Advertising Great-wall Awards - Out Of Home Category - Silver Award
The Spark Awards for Media Excellence 2016 - &x{ERIFT B fER - $R42

The Spark Awards for Media Excellence 2016 - Most Innovative Technology - Silver Award
The Spark Awards for Media Excellence 2016 - S {EFSNEIIFT 4% - §R 1%

The Spark Awards for Media Excellence 2016 - Best Outdoor Innovation - Silver Award
FENESKE - #EBARMAPIMNER - tHEE

The 9th ROI Festival - Out Of Home Category - Bronze Award

FEZE | RIIELEH RS

Aliyun | Shenzhen Baoan International Airport

FENERAEEBBIRALE - R

The 8th Jinding Creative Communication International Awards - Silver Award
FeEILRBIRES (BIR) & - BEESEFIMNE - IR

The 8th Beijing International Festival of Advertising Awards - Commercial Out Of Home Category - Silver Award
F3EFRABERESSRBRESRIRE - PME - 52

The 23rd China Advertising Great-wall Awards - Out Of Home Category - Bronze Award

BAXE | BERES

Chow Tai Fook | East Rail Line, MTR

The Spark Awards for Media Excellence 2016 - Sx{£#HFERZ - &

The Spark Awards for Media Excellence 2016 - Best Media Campaign - Bronze Award
FeEILRERES (818) & - BEESFINA-BFER

The 8th Beijing International Festival of Advertising Awards - Commercial Out Of Home Category - Merit Award
ik | L RE—RABRIEES

UBS | Building Solution of One Peking

FeEILRERES (818) & - BXESFINE - 2%
The 8th Beijing International Festival of Advertising Awards - Commercial Out Of Home Category - Gold Award

RGBT | FUMNER L BB 5

Tmall International | Hangzhou Xiaoshan International Airport

FBETEBERESHTEESRME - PIMA - RE

The 23rd China Advertising Great-wall Awards - Out Of Home Category - Silver Award
FETMEBEEFESIEMmERNE - EHED - 5582

The 23rd Shanghai Excellent Advertising Festival - Marketing Campaign - Special Award

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2016 Annual Report



f' MERE
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

REUWA
COMBINED REVENUE
BEET
HKD million 2,033.4 2,137.7
627.1 — —— 666.9
1,406.3 1,470.8 SEEHBA
Group’s consolidated revenue
B AR A
20 1 5 20 1 6 Associate companies’ revenue

KReHRE - HIE - FERBEIANEF
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAX,
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

BEBT

HKD million 88.9

24.0

2015 2016

REEDIAEI T WA
REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY OPERATING SEGMENT
BEBT
HKD million 1,406.3 1,470.8
—— 169.7

160.9 - [ | e

457.8
424.8
{ B35 Airports
oy )
629.0 685.4 { b 8842 % Metro Lines
| (’ EEERAERIZES
Billboards and Building Solutions

20 1 5 20 1 B H b Others

HAEREREEERDE  2016FH 16
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

RAARARERARBLENBAR (A A
E£EDEHZE2016F12A31HIEFENEF

2016 FHAEEMEREMTIALN—F
REMFERMIBNEZELERE MRER
Mo FALR W FENHES - wEH P
SNEEIEER  BEERAMPAEER - F
i BBmRSERIERmE 165548 - BRI
—TEHREEANAH  RMESHNERS
N MERSTHRMANKERAES  TEAT
BRI RE - BEEEBKRIEHREE
EFHTEANTE - TERMANBHTEMHE
BBERGAHNTE -

BEZE 2R EHRERE) - BB E A
MEREMER KAPEMENES S KIDE
e EHRERERIEERTERIR LR
BEEENE—STE - PINIPIN) R
B REBEHSHMERAEIEES -
2016 FEBREESHAZ((BEERAZ &R
TERBIFTAB RIPEDR - Ki@E A 12% (B
HIR + admanGo) - BE T EEFEER
MEERZBMRYD  BERPINESHESH
TETH1.4% - RIBECTRENEMHOER -
2016 FRE A B ES RSB RERE
s o BEEEMIEKO0.6% B 2015F
BRERD31%  RFEBEREMN -

P RBBREERMS

AMEERSERREEMFREIHFE
BRED - BR L BEEERAMNEES
R—5EE  HHERTREKNAEFXE -8B
AR UR R E M E T TR EBER -
BEAMVEERERREN T A EEHEE -
BREZRTILREERS  AMBITORERS
- Fit - BEERBEANEE  BE
EEBEMBEEREE MRLEBEHE
FHEPIMEBAERE - M E AR IXE
HITHEEEE - BEERRRRTHBEES
BVBE PINERUARBEERPRES
REEEE IR

It is my pleasure to present to you the annual results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2016.

2016 was a remarkable year for the Group as we returned to
profit amidst the challenging macroeconomic environment. We
continued to achieve organic top-line growth with our
unrelenting focus on airport, metro and outdoor billboard
businesses. Meanwhile, we attained new growth drivers
through contract wins including Beijing Metro No.16, Xiamen
and Sanya Airports which have not only strengthened our
media portfolio but also enabled us to expand geographically.
The winning of the competitive bidding of Formula E, the first-
ever international auto racing tournament in Hong Kong, has
also extended our footprint to platforms which are beyond
traditional venues.

While the staggering global economy continued its volatility
and China slowed down to the new normal economy,
advertising demand in Greater China remained weak.
Traditional media were further impacted by the advertising
expenditure shift to online and mobile media. Out-of-home
("OOH") media have once again demonstrated its relative
resilience when compared with the other media. Overall
advertising spending (“adspend”) in Hong Kong in 2016 was
significantly down by 12%, an unprecedented drop in recent
years (source: admanGo). While adspend across all traditional
media formats dropped, adspend in out-of-home advertising
merely dropped by 1.4%. In Mainland China, the slowdown in
overall adspend improved in 2016 according to CTR Market
Research. Overall adspend was slightly down by 0.6%,
demonstrating an improved year-on-year decrease when
compared with the year-on-year decrease of 3.1% in 2015.

CONVERGENCE OF OOH AND MOBILE
ADVERTISING

It is commonly misperceived that there is a rigid dichotomy
between traditional media and digital media. In fact, the
Internet is revolutionizing people’s lives resulting in profound
impact on consumption behavior. This Internet disruption has
subsequently changed the business models across different
media. While the ways people consume news and
entertainment are changing, people continue to spend more
time out of home as urbanization increases. Hence, while
advertisers are reaching consumers online as their consumption
patterns evolve, online and mobile advertising are increasingly
converged with OOH media for reaching on-the-go consumers
more effectively. After all, advertising is all about connecting
with the consumers. OOH media provides a physical touch
point for advertisers to connect with consumers in the real
world.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2016 Annual Report 17



FEEHRE  CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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This explains why OOH media has not been adversely affected
by the Internet but on the other hand, benefitted from the
emergence of the Internet. Internet companies are, in fact, the
biggest OOH advertising spenders in Mainland China.
According to CTR Market Research, the Internet sector
accounted for 6 out of the 10 largest OOH advertisers in
Mainland China last year. While the local Internet powerhouses
have access to billions of online users, they are increasingly
using OOH media to build their brand in the physical world.
We also witnessed the spike in the Group’s revenue
contribution from Internet advertisers in recent years.

ASIARAY’S OUTPERFORMANCE IN OOH
ADVERTISING

Against the backdrop of weakening advertising demand, we
continued to outperform the overall OOH advertising market in
Mainland China and Hong Kong. In 2016, the overall OOH
adspend in Mainland China decreased by 3.1% year-on-year
according to CTR Market Research. We managed to achieve
5.4% revenue growth on same project basis (excluding currency
impact) for our OOH advertising business in Mainland China.
Taking into consideration of our new OOH projects, we
achieved to record 11.5% revenue growth (excluding currency
impact) for our OOH advertising business in Mainland China.
As for Hong Kong, the overall OOH adspend decreased by
1.4% year-on-year in 2016 according to admanGo. We
managed to achieve 4.2% organic revenue growth for our OOH
advertising business in Hong Kong last year.

Bolstered by our sustained revenue growth, Asiaray has
maintained our leadership in airport and metro advertising in
Greater China and continued to rank first in airport advertising
and second in metro advertising*. As of end of 31 December
2016, our nationwide OOH media network span across 37 cities
in China. These include the first-tier cities such as Beijing, Hong
Kong and Shenzhen, as well as the tourism and transportation
hubs such as Kunming, Hangzhou and Zhengzhou.
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Our OOH media portfolio remains strategically focused in
airport and metro lines, covering 27 airports and 12 metro lines
on exclusive basis. Airport advertising is a captive medium
which effectively reaches high-end consumers including the
business travelers and tourists with high consumption
propensity. Metro advertising represents another captive
medium which effectively reaches millions of commuters every
single day in immersive ways. At Asiaray, we combine the best
OOH traffic from both worlds, the best quality and the mass
reach, making us the ideal partner for advertisers looking for
access to the most premium quality and mass OOH traffic. In
addition, the transportation infrastructure boom in China
including airports and metro lines, have further expanded the
audience reach of these kinds of OOH media. In terms of
clientele, the balanced mix of branding advertisers and
performance advertisers from airport and metro lines also
enables us to achieve stable revenue growth throughout the
years.

EVOLVING OOH MEDIA INDUSTRY LANDSCAPE
While the current OOH media industry landscape is highly
fragmented, we believe it will change over time and ultimately
characterized by an oligopoly market as in the case of
developed economies. As advertisers are growingly
sophisticated, we believe companies which are primarily
engaged in media trading as characterized by some operators
can no longer survive. Only OOH media companies with full-
fledged media portfolio and media capability can sustain in the
long run.

PROVEN “SPACE MANAGEMENT"” MODEL

With our proven track record and professionalism, Asiaray is
well-poised in capturing the consolidation opportunities in the
market. Our proven “Space Management” model has enabled
us to outperform our peers which are selling the OOH media
inventory as commodity products. Compared with their “buy
wholesale, sell retail” approach, we offer added value to our
advertisers through creative use of available space, stimulating
the five senses of consumers, exploring uniqueness of the
advertising space, and integrating advanced technology and
digital media with our OOH media. Successful showcases will
be replicated and adapted locally in other cities. In recent
years, we have been increasingly utilized mobile technology to
enhance consumer engagement for our advertisers and
encourage consumer sharing via social media.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2016 Annual Report 19
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OOH MEDIA PLANNING CAPABILITY

On top of offering OOH advertising services, Asiaray is the only
OOH media company which provides OOH media planning
services in Mainland China. Based on our OOH advertising
experience and understanding of the OOH audience, our
media planning team helps our clients in identifying the optimal
locations, sizes and formats of OOH media inside and outside
the airports and metro stations. We recommend the most
feasible layout, retail and advertising mix, and other advertising
related design and architecture, with a clear focus on solving
the media owners’ commercial needs and maximizing the
advertising value of the OOH media resources. Our media
planning team has accumulated over 10 years of experience
serving close to a hundred of airports and metro lines owners
in Mainland China.

NATIONWIDE OPERATIONS NETWORK

Our nationwide operations network is also central to our
outperformance in the OOH media industry. We have
established a proven track record of running such a diverse and
widely distributed network of operations (including staff and
media), which forms a unique foundation to further expand into
other cities in Mainland China. Our self-developed Internet-
based operating system has supported the management of
such a large and diverse operations network throughout the
country. While we possess international expertise in the OOH
advertising industry, we serve our international and domestic
advertisers by combining the knowledge of our local staff
together with our international experience to better serve their
advertising needs.

PROMISING INDUSTRY OUTLOOK

China is currently the world’s third-largest OOH advertising
market and the fastest growing of the world’s major OOH
markets, with revenue of US$5.83 billion in 2015 alone,
according to the China entertainment and media outlook
2016-2020 report published by PricewaterhouseCooppers. As
the firm has pointed out that China is almost certain to become
the world’s largest OOH market at some point in the next
decade if it continues with the current growth trend. The
remarkable growth has largely been driven by the growth of
the consumption-led economy and infrastructure boom of the
transportation network. With over 80 new airports planned or
under construction, China is set to increase the number of
airports by almost 50% and total passenger capacity by more
than double. Metro lines will also increase by more than double
while existing metro lines will be renewed to cope with the
passenger traffic demand.
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2017 looks set to be characterized by geopolitical and
economic uncertainty while sustained recovery is yet to be
clear. Despite the recent slowdown, it is worth noting that
Asiaray has been weathering the economic changes in good or
bad times for more than two decades. We have emerged from
a small Hong-Kong based OOH company and developed into
the top OOH company in the Greater China region. We are
determined to do even better to enhance the value for our
shareholders. To that end, we will continue to maximize the
yields and occupancy of our existing media resources,
strengthen our “Four Pillars” new business building model and
corporate culture, strategically expand our OOH media
portfolio for long-term sustainable growth both top-line and
bottom line.

ASIARAY'’S STRATEGIES AND PLANS

We will continue to seek expansion opportunities in the rapidly
growing OOH market of China, with focus in transportation and
tourist hubs. Long-term exclusive concession rights remain our
preferred business model which enables us to offer coordinated
design and planning of media resources. It is also our priority in
setting up joint ventures with media owners so we can better
align our interests and maximize revenues for media owners
and ourselves, achieving win-win situation.

Airports and metro lines remain our strategic focus. We are
committed to enhance our operating performance through
Space Management model to better serve our media owners
and advertisers. These include the online and offline advertising
solutions at airports which provide experiential advertising for
our advertisers.

OOH advertising is a low CPM and high ROl medium. It has
been undervalued primarily due to the lack of metrics on
effectiveness. To unlock the value of our OOH media, we have
made initiatives in developing data-driven OOH advertising
solutions which can offer targeted content based on audience,
weather and events. This digital OOH advertising solution will
offer measurable campaign results and potentially enable
Asiaray to tap into the digital and online advertising budgets.
We have chosen Hong Kong as the pilot testing site and will
roll out this digital out-of-home ("DOOH") solution to Mainland
China in long term. In addition, our OOH media resources will
be connected to online advertising platform, enabling media
planners and advertisers for more informed and effective
advertising transactions. We believe this is a great leap towards
our digital transformation, laying solid foundation for the Group
in embracing the challenges and opportunities brought forth
by Internet.
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R ZPEEEHPEA AL BESNNK Meanwhile, we believe reform of the public transportation
ERREFEE EZHRSIBEESEA sector in Mainland China will open up new opportunities where
HLEHEBAR2EARMBRER  HMABZE airport and metro advertising will be available for public tender
RULERESH#S  EMRBIEER R FINE by privately owned media operators. We will be benefited by
G such kind of consolidation opportunities with an aim of

strategically expanding our portfolio.

BRELRNEE - BomEEL - BPIB With these strategies and plans in place, | am confident that we
ZHEHBEEFPIINERBERNEB  FEDST will unleash the value of our OOH media resources, remain in
HER  BRARRAEESHEE - the profit growth track and ultimately create higher value for

our shareholders.

* ARAOR R FICRE L&A * Source: Frost & Sullivan Report and the latest market information.
MHEMN - ZHR 1) ARELEEEQR: This ranking: 1) includes only privately-owned media companies; 2) in
D)HEEETZERERBREFEERNK terms of revenue and number of airports and metro lines with
5 HERERHEERKAME  23)R2016F exclusive concession rights to mainstream media resources; and 3) as
12831 B#EE2016F12A31BILFE - at 31 December 2016 or for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Despite the tough advertising market conditions, the Group
achieved a total reported revenue of HKD1,470.8 million in
2016, representing an increase of 4.6% as compared with that
in 2015. Total revenue would have recorded a year-on-year
growth of 9.9% in 2016, excluding the adverse impact of
currency movements where RMB depreciated 6.5% against the
Hong Kong dollar as compared to that in 2015. To give a
better view of the total business scale of the Group, we would
also like to report our combined revenue, which included the
consolidated revenue of the Group and the total revenue of all
associated companies of the Group engaged in media
advertising business. For the year ended 31 December 2016,
the combined revenue of the Group increased by 5.1% to
HKD2,137.7 million.

During the year, the Group maintained our leadership position
in the airport and metro advertising markets and continued to
rank first in airport advertising and second in metro advertising
in Greater China region among the privately-owned media
companies. New projects incepted during the year by the
Group included the exclusive concession rights for the
advertising space at Xiamen Gaoqi International Airport
Terminal 4, Sanya Phoenix International Airport Terminal 2,
Hainan, and Beijing Metro Line No.16 which has just opened
for passenger service since December 2016. As at 31
December 2016, our media portfolio covered 37 cities in the
Greater China region. We successfully secured the exclusive
concession rights of the mainstream media resources of 27
airports and 12 metro lines as of 31 December 2016 in the
Greater China region. The annual aggregate passenger traffic
of all the airports exclusively covered by the Group amounted
to 248.2 million as at 31 December 2016, capturing
approximately one-fourth of the aggregate passenger traffic of
all airports across Mainland China. Three of which were the top
10 airports in terms of the annual passenger traffic, namely
Kunming Changshui International Airport, Shenzhen Baoan
International Airport and Hangzhou Xiaoshan International
Airport.
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In 2016, global macro economy remained volatile. The GDP
growth of Mainland China leveled at 6.7% under the normal
economy mode while Hong Kong merely recorded a 1.9% GDP
growth. The advertising demand in Mainland China and Hong
Kong were inevitably weakened under the challenging retail
sales environment. The emergence of advertising demand from
new economy industries has mitigated the adverse impact of
the dwindling demand from traditional industries. Statistics
showed that the overall advertising spending (“adspend”) in
Mainland China went down slightly by 0.6% on a year-on-year
basis, of which the adspend of out-of-home (“OOH") media
decreased by approximately 3.1% year-on-year, according to
CTR Market Research. Local adspend continued to be affected
by the weakened consumer sentiment. The overall adspend in
Hong Kong recorded an unprecedented decrease of
approximately 12.0%, among which the adspend of OOH
media decreased by approximately 1.4% year-on-year,
according to admanGo.

This year, we continued to outperform in the OOH industries in
both Mainland China and Hong Kong. We managed to record
an overall 11.5% year-on-year revenue growth (excluding
adverse impact of currency movements) for our OOH business
in Mainland China and an overall 4.2% year-on-year revenue
growth for our OOH business in Hong Kong. When we look at
the revenue breakdown by business segment in Hong Kong,
the Group’s metro lines business managed to deliver
approximately 5% growth amid a challenging business
environment where the overall adspend of metro (including the
adspend in all metro lines operated by MTR in Hong Kong and
Newsline Express) advertising in Hong Kong decreased by
approximately 8.5%, as compared with last year, according to
admanGo. The Group's billboard and building solutions
business in Hong Kong also outperformed the industry and
achieved over 5% growth in revenue while Hong Kong's overall
adspend on billboard and video wall advertising decreased by
approximately 7.7%, as compared with that in last year,
according to admanGo.
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While we strengthened our salesforce effectiveness, we have
tactfully secured advertising demand from the emerging
industries with growing adspend, offsetting the reduction of
adspend from traditional industries. By analysing the Group's
advertiser mix, the property and real estate, beauty and
fashion, and banking and insurance industries were the most
hard hit in terms of adspend in 2016. We set up designated
sales teams in strengthening advertising sales from new
economy industries. The decrease in adspend from the
traditional industries were more than offset by these rapidly
growing advertiser categories, including telecommunication
and 3C products (Computer, Communication and Consumer
Electronics), Internet and apps. The change in advertiser mix
reflects how the economic dynamics are evolving and therefore
we will continue to place a strategic focus on gaining up-and-
coming advertisers so as to expand the Group's advertiser
base. Meanwhile, FMCG, the largest advertiser category of our
metro lines business, remained resilient to the cyclical downturn
and contributed to strong growth of the Group’s revenue.

In 2016, our airport business segment achieved organic
revenue growth. Hangzhou Xiaoshan International Airport
recorded significant increase in advertising demand following
the eleventh G20 Summit held in the city in last September. It
was the first ever G20 Summit hosted in China. Terminal 2 of
Zhengzhou Airport, which was approximately four times bigger
than Terminal 1 in terms of floor area, started its full operation
in April 2016. In spite of its initial ramp up period, the
advertising performance exceeded expectation and recorded
encouraging growth in advertising revenue. On top of these,
the Group has obtained the concession rights for the
advertising space at the Terminal 4 of Xiamen Gaoqji
International Airport and Sanya Phoenix International Airport
Terminal 2, Hainan Island, China, which commenced since
January and May 2016 respectively. Both of which contributed
incremental revenue to the Group.

The revenue growth of our metro lines business largely came
from Beijing Metro Line No.4, Daxing Line, Hong Kong MTR
and Shenzhen Metro Lines. Located at the IT hub of the capital
city, Beijing Metro Line No.4 enabled us to capture the
advertising demands which aim at targeting the young and
thriving IT community. Hong Kong MTR and Shenzhen Metro
Line 3 & 4 continued to be our key revenue contributors. As the
Shenzhen city is gaining more prominence due to its economic
and technological advancement, we continued to generate
more advertising revenue from Shenzhen Metro Lines 3 & 4.
Our associate for operating the exclusive concession rights of
the media resources of the Shenzhen Airport was also
benefitted from the strong advertising demand and contributed
more share of profit of associate to the Group.
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While we were committed to achieving organic growth and
new growth drivers, we continued to control our operating
costs including concession fee and utilities fee. During the year,
we successfully managed to lower the minimum guaranteed
concession fee for Wuxi Metro Line and lower the utilities fee
for our metro lines projects. The gross profit of the Group
remained stable in 2016 as compared to that of 2015. It was
attributable to the better margins of existing metro projects on
same project basis, which partly offset the adverse impact of
the concession fee of Zhengzhou Airport which increased at a
faster rate than revenue during its ramp-up stage upon contract
renewal. The renewed concession fee for the brand new
Terminal 2 of Zhengzhou Airport increased due to the growth
in air traffic and larger floor area. Moreover, due to the straight-
line recognition basis of the total concession fee payable
during the entire contract period as required under the Hong
Kong Accounting Standards, the higher concession fee
chargeable in initial years has inevitably impacted the Group's
profit margin. Having said that, Zhengzhou Airport
outperformed during this ramp-up period and recorded profit
in its first year of renewed contract from cash accounting basis.
We believe the increase in concession fee and narrow-down of
profit margin is mainly a cyclical phenomenon and are positive
about the growth potential of those primely located projects.

Our well-developed “Space Management” model and the new
digital-out-of-home solutions have differentiated us from other
market players and achieved outperformance in the industry.
During the year, we have upgraded some of our OOH media in
order to enhance the value of our portfolio. Citic Tower, the
first digital wrap in Hong Kong, was equipped with realignment
technique, where the resolution was enhanced by 20% and
brightness was enhanced by 50%. Real-time information feeds
can now be displayed at this iconic office building along the
harbour front, enabling advertisers to create impactful
advertising campaign at the Victoria Harbour. We have also
installed a floor mounted giant panel, the largest of its kind in
Hong Kong MTR stations, as well as two 95-inch digital panels
at the arrival hall of Lo Wu Station, which enabled advertisers
to effectively reach millions of passengers every week.
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In addition to providing exclusive media resources at airports
and metro lines through joint-ventures or direct contracts, we
also extended our business models through working closely
with brand owners in negotiating desirable third party media
resources. During the year, we successfully renewed the
exclusive concession rights to operate Wheelock House
Billboard in Central, the central business district in Hong Kong,
with LVMH Group, one of our cornerstone investors since
listing. Besides that, we further strengthened our relationship
with L Catterton, a private equity firm formed by LVMH,
Catterton Holdings, L.L.C. and Groupe Arnault SAS, through a
strategic alliance signed last October, which is expected to
bring additional revenue streams for the company.

Our initiative with Lagardére, the global leader in the travel
retail industry, started contributing profit to the Group in less
than two years since its rollout. We introduced 20
internationally renowned and luxury brands and domestic
brands at the Kunming Changshui International Airport, where
we have operated the exclusive concession rights through our
joint venture with the airport for nearly a decade. The
introduction of these premium advertisers has enhanced the
commercial value of the airport for the media owners and the
airport ambience has also been upgraded. Meanwhile, we
utilized our advertising inventories to support the retail sales of
these anchor tenants. We believe this cooperation is an all-win
situation, which creates added value for the airport owner,
tenants, passengers and the Group as a whole.

Last year also marked our success of the appointment as the
exclusive advertising agency of 2016 FIA Formula E HKT Hong
Kong ePrix following a competitive tender. The winning of the
exclusive concession rights for this first-ever international car
racing tournament in Hong Kong has demonstrated our
outdoor advertising capability which is matched with
international standards. We will continue to strive for OOH
advertising opportunities in such kind of mega events in future.

OUTLOOK

The Board anticipates that the challenging market conditions
will continue in 2017, as the uncertainties in the global
economy as well as those in Mainland China and Hong Kong
remain. While the transitioning into the digital economy
presents both challenges and opportunities, we are well-poised
in embracing the challenges and capturing the opportunities
with our digital transformation strategies in place.
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First of all, we will accelerate our digital transformation
strategies to better monetise our OOH media resources. We
have developed data-driven OOH advertising solutions which
can offer targeted contents based on various parameters
including audience demographics, weather and other events.
Campaign effectiveness can be monitored during and after the
launch. This digital out-of-home ("DOOH") advertising
solutions will not only facilitate the purchase decision by
advertising planners and buyers but also enable advertisers to
have more targeted advertising with measurable results. This
will ultimately increase the monetization of our OOH media
portfolio. Initially, we will launch this DOOH advertising
solutions at selected venue in Hong Kong and gradually roll it
out in Mainland China. Meanwhile, we will offer more O&O
advertising campaigns utilizing mobile and digital technologies.
Examples include our latest partnership with Tencent Cloud for
an online and offline advertising campaign at Shenzhen airport
this January. Besides the traditional Chinese New Year display
in the airport, we arranged a parade by Beijing opera artists,
distribution of Tencent Cloud premiums and electronic red
packets of Wechat via iBeacon technology. The campaign has
successfully taken the spotlight of both the airport and the
online world as airport passengers shared the campaign photos
via social media.

To achieve sustainable long-term growth, we are committed to
exploring development opportunities in airports and metro
lines. In addition to the aforesaid Xiamen and Sanya Airports,
the Group also won the exclusive concession rights contract for
the mainstream advertising spaces of Beijing Metro Line 16.
We are glad that the advertising performance has been
encouraging immediately after its opening for passenger
service in late December 2016. The Group has now obtained
the exclusive concession rights of the media resources of three
out of the four Beijing Metro Lines operated by Beijing MTR,
with the other two being Beijing Metro Line 4 and Daxing Line.
This has further cemented our cooperative relationship with
Beijing MTR and consolidate the Group’s leadership in the
metro advertising market in the Greater China region.

We will continue to strategically attain new projects in prime
locations with growth potential in OOH advertising with an aim
of balancing between near-term profitability and long-term
sustainable growth for the benefit of the shareholders.
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Since 2008, we have been cooperating closely and continuously
with Hong Kong MTR for the exclusive concession rights of 4
metro lines in Hong Kong. We are proud to have successfully
renewed our advertising sales agency services contract with
MTR for its shopping malls and commercial premises situated
at central business districts and high-traffic areas along the
metro lines in Hong Kong. This includes the iconic LED wall at
the Worldwide House, Central, the high-traffic cross-junction
which covers tens of millions of pedestrians each year, and the
award-winning T-shaped billboards at Hung Hom Station Car
Park, adjacent to the Cross Harbour Tunnel. With this renewed
contract which commenced on 1 January 2017, our cooperation
with MTR is going to last over 10 years.

We will focus our initiatives in the OOH media industry and
utilize our core competencies including the well-developed
‘Space Management’ model, along with our commitment to
invest in people, technology and innovation for our products
and business models which will enable the Group to succeed in
digital transformation in the long run. With these strategies and
plans in place, we are confident that we can unleash the value
of our OOH media resources, thus delivering sustainable
growth and ultimately creating high value for our shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2016 increased from approximately HKD1,406.3 million to
approximately HKD1,470.8 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 4.6%. The increase was mainly attributable to the
increase in revenue in the airports media and metro media
segments and partially offset by the decrease in revenue in
others business segments. The combined revenue of the
Group, which includes the consolidated revenue of the Group
and the total revenue of the Group’s associated companies
engaged in the media business as an operating information,
reached HKD2,137.7 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 5.1%.

The airports media segment increased by 9.0% from
approximately HKD629.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2015 to approximately HKD685.4 million in 2016.
Despite the sluggish advertising demand in the Haikou Airport,
our Group has still benefited from the upswinging demand in
Hangzhou Xiaoshan International Airport following the G20
Summit and additional revenue contributed from new projects
including Xiamen Gaogqji International Airport Terminal 4 and
Sanya Phoenix International Airport Terminal 2. The Zhengzhou
Airport also posted a significant revenue growth after its
complete transition to a new terminal building in April 2016.
Together with the satisfactory results delivered by Shenzhen
Airport, the combined revenue in airports media segment
increased by 7.7%.
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Our revenue from metro media segment for the year increased
by approximately HKD33.0 million or 7.8%, from approximately
HKD424.8 million in 2015 to approximately HKD457.8 million
in 2016. This was primarily attributable to the additional
revenue from two metro lines in Beijing which have commenced
operation since June 2015. Our metro lines in Shenzhen
delivered a high single-digit growth if excluding the exchange
rate impact during the year, but such increase was partially
offset by the decrease in revenue from Ningbo Metro Line No.
1 and Wuxi Metro Lines, where the former one was early
terminated in 2015 and the latter one was facing a weak
advertising demand.

Our revenue in billboards and building solutions segment
slightly dropped by HKD3.0 million or 1.9%, from
approximately HKD160.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2015 to approximately HKD157.9 million in 2016.
Our Hong Kong billboard business in 2016 out-performed our
peers with over 5% growth in revenue. Such increase was offset
by a decrease in billboards revenue in Mainland China primarily
from the site demolition in Shanghai due to regulation policy in
reducing number of billboards in certain areas.

Other revenue decreased by HKD21.9 million or 11.5%, from
approximately HKD191.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2015 to approximately HKD169.7 million in 2016
which was primarily attributable to the decrease in our agency
business in respect of sales of advertising spaces in media
resources operated by certain associated companies and other
companies.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the growth rate
of our airport and metro media segment and our consolidated
group revenue for the year:
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Same project
growth rate*
(Excluding
currency
impact)
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Airport media 11.3%
Metro media 2.3%
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Same project
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-0.5%
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Growth rate
(Excluding
currency
impact)

16.0%
11.6%

Reported
growth rate

9.0%
7.8%
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impact) growth rate

Consolidated group revenue 9.9% 4.6%

# defined as revenue generated from the same projects which both

contributed revenue for the year and the corresponding period in
2015 respectively

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue increased by approximately HKD64.4
million, or 5.8%, from HKD1,115.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2015 to HKD1,180.3 million in 2016. The increase
was primarily due to (a) the concession rights obtained to
operate the advertising spaces at Xiamen Gaogi International
Airport Terminal 4 which was newly incepted in January 2016,
and the Beijing Metro Lines No. 4 and Daxing Line, the
concession rights contract of which just started in June 2015
(both of which have begun contributing additional concession
cost to the Group); (b) the increase of concession fee payable
under the concession rights contract of Zhengzhou Airport
which was renewed in the first half of 2016; and (c) off-set by
the cost savings from Ningbo Metro Line due to the early
termination of the project in 2015 and reduction in concession
fee in Wuxi Metro Lines in the second half of 2016.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2016 slightly increased from approximately HKD290.4 million
to approximately HKD290.5 million and the Group's gross
profit margin dropped slightly from 20.6% in 2015 to 19.8% in
2016. The drop in gross profit margin was due to: (1) a
decrease in gross profit from the airports media segment
primarily due to the increase of concession fee payable under
the concession rights contract of Zhengzhou Airport and other
two airports, being Xiamen Gaoqi International Airport and
Sanya Phoenix International Airport Terminal 2 which were still
in their ramp-up stage; and (2) the adverse impact of currency
movements; partially offset by (1) an increase in gross profit
from Hangzhou Xiaoshan International Airport due to the
upswinging advertising demand following the G20 summit and
(2) an increase in gross profit contributed by metro media
segment primarily due to the better sales performance of
Shenzhen and Beijing Metro Lines and cost saving in Ningbo
and Wuxi Metro Lines.
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Selling and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses increased by
approximately HKD26.0 million, or 25.9%, from HKD100.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2015 to HKD126.6
million in 2016. This increase was primarily attributable to
increased marketing research expenses and employee benefit
expenses as a result of the growth of our business operations.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses decreased by approximately
HKD16.7 million, or 10.0%, from HKD166.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2015 to HKD150.0 million in 2016. The
decrease was primarily attributable to decrease in impairment
provision of trade and other receivables as no material doubtful
debt was identified in this year.

Finance Income/Costs — Net

Net finance income was HKDO.3 million for the year, compared
with net finance income of HKD2.4 million in 2015. This was
primarily attributable to the decrease in average bank deposits
during the year.

Share of Result of Investments in Associates

Our share of results of investments in associates for the year
ended 31 December 2016 decreased 35.7% from
approximately HKD8.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2015 to approximately HKD5.3 million in 2016 due to the
unsatisfactory performance in an associate, Fuijian Zhaoxiang
Advertising Company Limited (the associate company which is
responsible for operating our outdoor advertising business for
the Fujian Province airports), during the year.

Income Tax Expenses

Our income tax expense was HKD14.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2016, compared with income tax credit of
HKD3.8 million in 2015. This increase in expense was primarily
attributable to the increase in profit before income tax.

Profit/(Loss) Attributable to Owners of the Company

Profit attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HKD15.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2016,
compared to a loss of approximately HKD39.6 million in 2015.
The increase in profit was the net effect of (i) the increase in
revenue; (i) a write-back of the compensation provision for the
early termination of the concession rights contract of Ningbo
Metro Line No. 1; (iii) the increased cost in concession cost due
to inception of new projects, such as Xiamen Airport and Sanya
Airport, and increase of concession fee payable under the
concession rights contract of Zhengzhou Airport commenced in
the first half of 2016.
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND TREASURY POLICY
The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash
management and investment on funds. The net proceeds from
the listing have mainly been placed on short-term deposits with
reputable banks in Hong Kong and the PRC.

As the Group carries out business in the Mainland China and
Hong Kong, most of our receipts and payments were
denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. As the
conversion of Renminbi into foreign currencies is subject to the
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated
by the PRC government, the directors of the Company consider
no significant exposure on the foreign exchange risk. The
Group will closely monitor foreign exchange exposure and
consider hedging significant exposure should the need arises.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits
and restricted cash was approximately HKD327.6 million as at
31 December 2016, representing a decrease of approximately
HKD110.9 million compared with that as at 31 December 2015.
As at 31 December 2016, the financial ratios of the Group were
as follows:

R 2016 F #2015 4F

12A31H 128318

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2016 2015

mEN L EO Current ratio 1.61 1.75
BEXRBELREO Gearing ratio? FES FIRE
Net cash Net cash

o mBLEENFETABERBEER AR R

&

@ ARBRELEENFED AR FAERIASE

o

Notes:

M Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current
liabilities.

@ Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing net debt by total equity.
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Borrowings

The Group had bank borrowings as at 31 December 2016 in
the sum of approximately HKD66.9 million. Out of the total
borrowings, HKD61.6 million was repayable within one year,
while approximately HKD5.3 million was repayable after one
year. The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. No financial
instruments were used for hedging purposes, nor were there
any foreign currency net investments hedged by current
borrowings and/or other hedging instruments. The weighted
average interest rate (per annum) was 5.88% for non-current
borrowings and 4.22% for current borrowings as at 31
December 2016.

Exposure to Interest Rate Risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing short-
term deposits and bank borrowings. Short-term deposits and
bank borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. Bank borrowings at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Other than interest-bearing short-term deposits, the Group has
no other significant interest bearing assets. The directors of the
Company do not anticipate any significant impact on interest-
bearing assets resulted from the changes in interest rates,
because the interest rates of short-term deposit are not
expected to change significantly.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2016, the Group pledged its buildings, land
use rights, short-term deposits and available-for-sale financial
assets with carrying amount of HKD34.1 million (31 December
2015: HKD33.7 million), respectively to secure borrowings of
the Group. The total secured borrowings as at 31 December
2016 amounted to HKD14.5 million (31 December 2015:
HKD23.6 million).

Use of Proceeds

The Company was listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 15 January 2015 and raised net proceeds from the
Listing of approximately HKD586.6 million. These proceeds are
intended to be applied in accordance with the business plan
set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 31 December
2014 (the "Prospectus”). The business plan and schedule of use
of proceeds disclosed in the Prospectus were based on the
best estimation of future market conditions made by the Group
at the time of preparing the Prospectus, while the proceeds
were applied in accordance with the actual development of the
market. During the period between the listing date and 31
December 2016, the net proceeds from the Listing were
applied as follows:

(i) HKD227.6 million on expanding our media resources at
airports, including Hangzhou Xiaoshan International
Airport and Zhengzhou Xinzheng International Airport;
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(i)  HKD188.8 million on expanding our media resources for
metro lines in Wuxi, Ningbo, Beijing and Shenzhen;

(i)  HKD30.0 million on expanding our media resources for
our billboard and building solutions; and

(iv)  HKD34.3 million on our working capital and other general
corporate purposes.

The Directors had evaluated the business plan and considered
that no modification of the business plan and future plans
regarding the use of proceeds as described in the Prospectus
was required. The unused proceeds were deposited in
reputable banks in Hong Kong and Mainland China.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures primarily comprise cash expenditures
for property, plant and equipment, such as advertising facilities
and furniture and office equipment. Our capital expenditures
for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 were HKD69.8
million and HKD24.7 million, respectively. Such expenditure
was primarily attributable to the addition of advertising fixtures
in Zhengzhou Xinzheng International Airport Terminal 2.

Commitments
(1) As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Group did not
have any material capital commitments.

(2) Operating leases commitments

The Group leases certain office buildings and certain
media resources under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements. The lease terms for office buildings are
negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 10 years, and
those for media resources are negotiated for terms
ranging from 1 to 10 years, and majority of lease
agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period
at market rate.
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The Group's future aggregate minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
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RREE Contingent liabilities

MN20165E12 A31H - AREEW & K (E
BEAHREE -

BFERERS

AEB/P 20165 11 A 26 B BRI 35 T
THEEEER AR (RIS ]) 5
FIEZR B - R E RIS H T ER A
EERENES RS EAEE RIS
A EREOESRE - B2017F1 71
HZE2019F12A31H A =4 - A&£HE
RH2017F1 A6 HEREMBHEREER
RAFIEREERZ  AREERRES
RIS 255 & 3SR AR B MR B IR
REMNBE+F H2017F1A18 %
2026 12 A31H » Ll 18 T 4
EITHRSBE EMBRAE 14AZEBRA
NAEIEZE2017F 1283 B LFEZHEE
HERSBEBEFESSRZHEANES
2017 F12A3MBILFEETEH - B
IR SHEFIED BIER B EA2017F3
A27BK2017F3A31BARBZ A% »

HEEEREEERAR 20165/ 36

The Group had no material contingent liabilities outstanding as
at 31 December 2016.

Continuing connected transactions

The Group entered into a framework agreement with Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray Media Company Limited (“Shenzhen Airport
Asiaray”) on 26 November 2016 to regulate the advertising
services provided by Shenzhen Airport Asiaray to the Group
and the advertising services provided by the Group to
Shenzhen Airport Asiaray for a term of three years from 1
January 2017 to 31 December 2019. The Group also entered
into a cooperation agreement with Tianjin Metro Resources
Investment Company Limited on 6 January 2017 in respect of
granting the exclusive rights to use and operate the advertising
and media resources in Tianjin metro lines 2 & 3 for a term of
ten years from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2026. The
transactions contemplated under the two aforesaid agreements
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
for the year ending 31 December 2017 under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules and are subject to the Board’s and auditor’s
review during the year ending 31 December 2017. Details of
the two transactions were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 27 March 2017 and 31 March 2017,
respectively.
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ECTOR'S PROFILE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lam Tak Hing, Vincent Lam, aged 57

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (“Mr. Lam”) was appointed as the
Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the executive
Director and Chairman on 12 June 2014 and serves as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Lam is the founder
of the Group and is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and development of the Group. He is also a director
of certain members of the Group.

Mr. Lam graduated from the University of Sydney with a
Bachelor of Science Honours degree in March 1984 and
subsequently obtained a Master’'s degree in Commerce from
the University of New South Wales (“UNSW") in Australia in
April 1987. Mr. Lam is also member of Director of the UNSW
Hong Kong Foundation Board. He has been a fellow of the
CPA Australia since July 2014.

So Chi Man, aged 47

Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and

Company Secretary

Mr. So Chi Man ("Mr. So"”) was appointed as the Director on 20
May 2014 and designated as the executive Director on 12 June
2014. Mr. So is the Chief Financial Officer and the Company
Secretary of the Company. He joined the Company in March
2011 and is responsible for financial management, treasury,
company secretarial and internal control matters of the Group.
He is also a director of certain members of the Group.

Mr. So worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers, an international
accounting firm, as a manager in the audit and business
advisory service in its Hong Kong office from 1992 to 2000. He
then worked for Hong Kong Economic Times, a local financial
newspaper in Hong Kong, as a financial controller from 2000 to
2004. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. So acted as the senior
vice president of BOE Optoelectronics Company Limited, a
state-owned company specialising in high-tech electronics
display products in the PRC, from 2004 to 2011.

Mr. So has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since January 1996 and was a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants from February 2002 to December 2005. Mr. So
has over 20 years of accounting and finance experience. Mr. So
graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (later retitled as the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Accountancy in October 1992. He subsequently
obtained a Master of Business Administration degree from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in November
2003.
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Lam Ka Po, aged 43

Executive Director and Chief Marketing Officer

Mr. Lam Ka Po (“Mr. K. P. Lam”) was appointed as the Director
on 20 May 2014 and designated as the executive Director of
the Company on 12 June 2014. Mr. K. P. Lam is also the Chief
Marketing Officer of the Company. He joined the Company in
December 2007 and is responsible for the overall operations in
Hong Kong and marketing management of the Group. He is
also a director of certain members of the Group.

Mr. K. P. Lam worked for Euro RSCG Partnership Ltd, an
advertising agency under the Association of Accredited
Advertising Agencies of Hong Kong ("HK4As"), as the senior
media planner from 1996 to 1998. He then worked as the
media supervisor and media manager of Motivator, a HK4As
advertising agency, from 1999 to 2002. He was the media
manager of Zenith, a HK4As advertising agency from 2003 to
2004. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. K. P. Lam acted as the
associate business director of OMD, a HK4As advertising
agency from 2004 to 2007.

Mr. K. P. Lam graduated from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong with a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in
Integrated BBA (Marketing concentration) in April 1996.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Yung Chung Man, aged 45

Mr. Yung Chung Man (“Mr. Yung”) was appointed as the
Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the executive
Director of the Company on 12 June 2014. He joined the
Company in July 2008 and is responsible for the Group's
overall sales management and operations in the PRC. Mr. Yung
was further re-designed as non-executive Director and resigned
as the Chief Operations Officer of the Company on 1 August
2016.

Mr. Yung worked for SILA Media Group (HK), a media
company, as the manager and media director in the eastern
region in China from 1995 to 1998. He then worked as the
manager, business director and general manager of MPI Group
(HK), an advertising and media company in its Chengdu,
Shanghai and Wuhan offices, from 1998 to 2003. He was the
chief executive officer of Key Media Group (HK), an associated
media company in the PRC from 2003 to 2007. Prior to joining
the Company, he acted as the chief operations officer of NCN
Media Services Ltd., an advertising media company in the PRC
in 2008.

Mr. Yung graduated from the York University in Canada with a
Bachelor of Arts degree in June 1994.
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Wong Chi Kin, aged 43
Mr. Wong Chi Kin ("Mr. Wong"”) was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company on 24 March 2017.

Mr. Wong has been acting as the chief financial officer of Orient
Victory China Holdings Limited (“Orient Victory"”) (Stock Code:
265), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, since October 2014.
Prior to joining Orient Victory, Mr. Wong held various positions
at China Qinfa Group Limited (Stock Code: 866), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, including deputy chief financial officer
(from April 2011 to September 2011), and chief financial officer
(from September 2011 to October 2014), company secretary
and authorised representative (from July 2011 to August 2014).
Further, Mr. Wong was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited (“Tsui Wah")
(Stock Code: 1314), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, on 5
November 2012 and was re-designated from an independent
non-executive director to a non-executive director of Tsui Wah
on 1 November 2016.

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree in
Finance from the City University of Hong Kong in December
1996, a Master's degree in Practising Accounting from Monash
University, Australia in November 2001 and a Master of
Business Administration degree (Executive MBA Programme)
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2010.
Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, an associate member of CPA
Australia and an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung, aged 75

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung (“Mr. A. Ma") was appointed as
the Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 12
June 2014.

Mr. A. Ma is a founder and former director of AMA CPA Limited
(formerly known as Andrew Ma DFK (CPA) Limited) in Hong
Kong. He is presently a director of Mayee Management
Limited. He has more than 30 years of experience in the fields
of accounting, auditing and finance.

Mr. A. Ma is currently also an independent non-executive
director of Asia Financial Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 662), C.
P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. (Stock Code: 43), China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 836) and Chong Hing
Bank Ltd. (Stock Code: 1111). He was an independent non-
executive director of Asian Citrus Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 73; London Stock Exchange AIM: ACHL) from August
2004 to November 2013; Beijing Properties (Holdings) Limited
(Stock Code: 925) from September 2004 to December 2014;
and Tanrich Financial Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 812) from
January 2002 to September 2004 and reappointed from April
2005 to January 2015.

Mr. A. Ma received his Bachelor’s degree in Economics from
the London School of Economics and Political Science
(University of London) in England in 1966. He is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
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Ma Ho Fai sBs JP, aged 65

Mr. Ma Ho Fai (“Mr. Ma") was appointed as the Director on 20
May 2014 and designated as the independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 12 June 2014.

Mr. Ma is a senior partner of Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo, a local law
firm in Hong Kong, and was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in 1984, and in England and Wales in 1987, as a solicitor
and barrister in Australian Capital Territory in 1988 and as a
solicitor and advocate in the Republic of Singapore in 1990. He
has also been a China-Appointed Attesting Officer in Hong
Kong since 2000 and a civil celebrant of marriages in Hong
Kong since 2006. In addition, he is a Deputy to the 11th and
12th National People’s Congress of China and a member of the
9th, 10th and 11th Yunnan Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People Political Consultative Conference. In recognition of his
distinguished public and community service, Mr. Ma was
appointed as a Non-Official Justice of the Peace in 2005 by the
Hong Kong SAR Government and was awarded the Silver
Bauhinia Star in 2007. Mr. Ma was also appointed as a non-
executive director of the Independent Insurance Authority in
2015. He is currently an independent non-executive director of
Goldbond Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 172).

Chan Chi Fai Andrew, sBS JP, aged 63

Professor Chan Chi Fai Andrew (“Professor Andrew Chan”) was
appointed as the Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as
the independent non-executive Director of the Company on 12
June 2014.

Professor Andrew Chan graduated with a Master’'s degree of
Business Administration from the University of California,
Berkeley, the U.S. in December 1979, a Bachelor degree of
Business Administration and a Doctorate degree of Philosophy
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong (“CUHK") in
November 1977 and December 1993 respectively. Professor
Andrew Chan has been teaching in the Department of
Marketing of the CUHK and has been the director of the EMBA
Program of the CUHK since July 1986 and 2003 respectively.
He was awarded the Vice-Chancellor's Exemplary Teaching
Award in the CUHK in 2001 and 2009. Professor Andrew Chan
has been the Chairman of the Chinese Medicine Council since
September 2011. He has also been an advisor to the Governing
Council of the Quality Tourism Services Association of Hong
Kong from 2007. Professor Andrew Chan has approximately 30
years of experience in the education industry. In recognition of
his distinguished public and community service, he was
appointed as a Justice of Peace in 2005 by the Hong Kong SAR
Government and was awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star in 2007.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of Tao
Heung Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 573). He was an
independent non-executive director of Bamboos Health Care
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8216) from June 2014 to
February 2016.
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) is committed
to uphold a high standard of corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth in its business in
accordance with all applicable rules and regulations. The Board
believes that good corporate governance is important in
balancing the interests of shareholders, customers and
employees and the success of business.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”). Throughout the year, the Company has
complied with the CG Code except for deviations from code
provision A.2.1 is explained in the paragraph headed
“Chairman and chief executive” of this annual report.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is mainly responsible for formulating of the Group's
long term strategy and development plan, deciding major
financial and capital project and reviewing internal control and
risks.

The Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management for implementing
day-to-day operation. It has given clear directions to the
management as to its powers, in particular, with respect to
different circumstances. While allowing management to enjoy
substantial autonomy to run and develop the Company’s
business, the Board also plays a key role in structuring and
monitoring the reporting systems and internal controls. The
final decision still rests with the Board unless otherwise provide
for in the terms of reference of the relevant committees.
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Composition
The Board currently comprises eight directors (“Directors”), the
composition is set out as follow:

Executive Directors:

Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman)
So Chi Man

Lam Ka Po

Non-Executive Directors:
Yung Chung Man
Wong Chi Kin (appointed on 24 March 2017)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Ma Ho Fai SBS JP

Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP

The biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 37 to
41 of this annual report. There is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s)) among the Directors.

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has had three independent non-executive Directors,
representing more than one-third of the Board, with one
independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Company has received annual
confirmation in writing of independence from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and considers them to be
independent according to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointment and re-election of directors

Under the Company's articles of association, the Board may
from time to time appoint a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any such new Director
shall hold office until the next following general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and shall then be eligible
for re-election at the same meeting.

All non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) are appointed for a specific term of three
years and all directors (including independent non-executive
directors) are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and are subject to re-election in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
officer should be clearly established.

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent currently assumes the role of both
Chairman and chief executive officer (the “"CEQ") of the
Company. The Board considers that this structure could
enhance efficiency in formulation and implementation of the
Company'’s strategies. The Board will review the need of
appointing suitable candidate to assume the role of CEO when
necessary.

Board Diversity

The Company adopted a board diversity policy which set out
its approach to achieve diversity on the Board with a view to
achieving a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills knowledge and length of service.
The Company will also take into account factors based on its
own business model and specific needs from time to time. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Company
has considered board diversity policy in designing composition
of the Board.
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Name of Directors

HTEE Executive Directors

hEE Lam Tak Hing, Vincent

BEX So Chi Man

HRE Lam Ka Po

FHITES Non-Executive Director

SEX Yung Chung Man

BUEHTES Independent Non-
Executive Directors

it Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

FRIE ssp Ma Ho Fai $8sJp

[REE sBsJp Chan Chi Fai Andrew $BS JP

Board Meetings

During the year under review, the Board held four meetings to
review Group’s overall strategies and policies, to approve
interim/final results, to discuss significant issues and operation
of the Group. The attendance (either in person or through
other electronic means of communication) record of each
director at the meetings of the Board, the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
general meetings during the year ended 31 December 2016 is
set out below:

LR/ BIERZAY
Number of meetings attended/held
FHZEE REZBE HHZEE RRAFAE RREAAS

Annual Extraordinary
Audit  Nomination Remuneration General General
Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting Meeting

4/4 o 22 212 11 1n
N/A
4/4 TER TR @yl 1" 1n
N/A N/A N/A
4/4 TR TEm TEm 11 1n
N/A N/A N/A
4/4 TR TR TR 0N n
N/A N/A N/A
4/4 22 TEA 2/2 n 1n
N/A
4/4 2/2 2/2 212 11 1n
4/4 2/2 2/2 TEA on 1n
N/A
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EECRHESXERE Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

BREZENHES (WA HeRRERE - A comprehensive, formal and tailored induction training will be
EARDEEHBENABIE - EFGER given to every newly appointed Director, if any. Directors will
HEBRARIEBURESHBRETINE be provided with materials relevant to the Company’s business
Breolthh RTREZTTHREERAREE and director’s duties and responsibilities. In addition, in order
MRFER  RETSERERTISHEERE to allow the Directors to understand the latest development of
EER - BEARNEE2016F12A318LEF regulatory and compliance issues, they are also provided with
[ BEREERSINCEBZEHIET market news and regulatory updates. A summary of their

records of continuous development training during the year
ended 31 December 2016 is as follows:

I

LR =0 V8 Ve
RIEESEER
BRZERER
Attending trainings/

briefings/seminars/
conference/
reading regulatory
updates relevant to

Name of Directors corporate governance
HITES Executive Directors
R Lam Tak Hing, Vincent N
BEX So Chi Man N
MKE Lam Ka Po Vv
FHITES Non-Executive Director
HEX Yung Chung Man N
BUFHITES Independent Non-Executive Directors
SRR Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung V
FS 5% sBS up Ma Ho Fai $8S JP V
PRI sBS P Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP V
EEefEE BOARD COMMITTEES
EEeORY ToAZ8e  AENESE - The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
BLrEEeRMESe  TRIEMEEE Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
EHEEESBEIRENEE - Committee. The table below provides membership information

of these committees on which each Director serves.

EEgeZeg
Board Committees
EItEEE BEZEE FHEEE
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Name of Directors Committee Committee Committee
iR Lam Tak Hing, Vincent C M
BB Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung C M
F5 51 sBs UP Ma Ho Fai sBS JP M M C
PR 18 sBS JP Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP M M
HaE - Notes:
C HAEEEZESER C Chairman of the relevant Board Committees
M EHEEEEeZEgNE M Member of the relevant Board Committees
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 6 December 2014
and currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung, Ma Ho Fai SBS JP,
and Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include (1) to
review the Company’s financial statements and reports, the
changes in accounting policies and practices, and the
compliance with applicable accounting standards, the Listing
Rules and legal requirements; (2) to oversee the Group's
financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems; and (3) to review the services and appointment
of the Company’s external auditor, the nature and scope of
auditing, and the related audit fees. The terms of reference of
Audit Committee are available on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee met twice during the year under review.
During the meetings, the Audit Committee (i) reviewed the
interim and annual financial statements and reports; (ii)
discussed and reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems; (iii) reviewed the corporate governance issues;
and (iv) made recommendation to the Board on the re-
appointment of the external auditor.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 6 December
2014 and currently comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ma Ho Fai $8S JP and Chan Chi Fai Andrew
SBS JP and one executive Director, namely, Lam Tak Hing,
Vincent.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include (1)
to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company'’s
corporate strategy; (2) to report to the Board the composition
of the Board members and monitor the implementation of the
policy on board diversity; (3) to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships; (4) to assess the independence of
independent non-executive Director; and (5) to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive of the
Company. The terms of reference of Nomination Committee
are available on the Company’s website.

Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
under review. During the meeting, Nomination Committee (i)
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii)
reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
directors; (iii) made recommendations to the Board on the
proposed re-election of the retiring Directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting; and (iv) reviewed and
recommended for Board's approval on the re-designation of
Executive Director to the Non-Executive Director.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 6 December
2014 and currently comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung and Ma Ho Fai s8S
JP and one executive Director, namely, Lam Tak Hing, Vincent.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include (1)
to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management's
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (2)
to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and
objectives; (3) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management; and (4) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The
terms of reference of Remuneration Committee are available
on the Company’s website.

Remuneration Committee met twice during the year under
review. During the meetings, Remuneration Committee (1)
reviewed and made recommendations on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management; and (2)
reviewed and recommended the remuneration package for re-
designation of Executive Director to the Non-Executive Director
for the Board's approval.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Company in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards. The Directors confirm that suitable
accounting policies have been used and applied consistently,
and reasonable and prudent judgment and estimates have
been made in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. The Board is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may affect
the business of the Company or cast doubts on its ability to
continue as a going concern.

The external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the independent
auditors’ report on pages 69 and 76.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

Responsibility of the Board

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish,
maintain, and review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, where management
is responsible for the design and implementation of the risk
management and internal control systems to manage risk.

A sound and effective system of risk management and internal
control is designed to achieve the Group’s strategic objectives
and safeguard shareholder investments and the Group's assets.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve strategic objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The Board has the overall responsibilities of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. With
the support from the Audit Committee, the Board monitors the
Group's risk exposures, oversees the actions of management
and monitors the overall effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems on an ongoing basis. Management
is responsible for setting the appropriate tone from the top,
performing risk assessments, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control. Policies
and procedures form the basis and set forth the control
standards required for functioning of the Group's business
entities. These policies and procedures covered various
aspects, including operations, finance & accounting, human
resources, regulatory & compliance, delegation of authority,
etc.

Risk Management and Enterprise-wide Risk Assessment

[« sRmEnmEamEy
% REEE - BBEME
MEDBHD HEEmE Y
B o

e Identify the Group's key
risks in each of the
following categories:
business & strategic,
operational, and
regulatory compliance.

1. B B

2. MPREF(E

Risk Assessment

o STEIEBAER - TR

FHERRIZE KRS
* VARHE S R A2

RERH -

® Design risk assessment
questionnaire to understand
and assess the risk level of
each key risk and whether
the Group's existing
procedures and controls
are adequate.

Risk Identification

\ J

7
o HERBINRERS TR

2 MBEBBESE
HEE AEHESHREL -
® Propose and recommend
mitigating controls for each
identified key risk and
assist process owners or
business units to implement
relevant remedial measures.

3. MY

Risk Response

4. RIEHRE

Risk Report

cMEFTRSREERE
RRMEITHMENR -

 Report to the Board and
senior management on the
implementation of the
remedial measures.

o ROEBMITAMEER -

* Follow-up on the
implementation status of
these remedial measures.

\ S
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An annual enterprise-wide risk assessment has been performed
to evaluate the nature and extent of the risks to which the
Group is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives.
During the risk assessment process, the Group has identified a
number of key risks that may impact the Group's strategic
objectives in responding to the changes in the business and
external environment. These risks are prioritized according to
the likelihood of their occurrence and the significance of their
impact on the business of the Group. Moreover, remedial
measures and mitigating controls are developed to manage
these risks to an acceptable level.

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Department is led by the Internal Audit
Manager, who reports directly to the Audit Committee. The
Internal Audit Department is primarily responsible for
conducting internal audit reviews on operational, financial and
compliance controls of the operating entities to ensure their
compliance with the Group's risk management and internal
control policies and procedures.

Internal Audit Department is independent from operation
management and has full access to data required in performing
internal audit reviews. Audits are conducted according to the
three year internal audit plan approved by the Audit
Committee.

During the process of the internal audits, the Internal Audit
Department identified internal control deficiencies and
weaknesses, proposed recommendations for improvements,
and followed up the status of the agreed remedial actions with
management and process owners.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard
shareholder investments and Group assets and with the support
of the Audit Committee, reviewing the effectiveness of such
systems on an annual basis.

Key or major business units are required to perform an annual
control self-assessment to assess the effectiveness of their
internal control system within its key business processes. The
control self-assessment performed is in the form of a
questionnaire that sets out the key risks and corresponding
controls for each of key business process. The Internal Audit
Department reviews the completed control self-assessment
questionnaires and provide comments and recommendations
for management of the business units’ consideration.
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During the year, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and considered the risk management and
internal control systems effective and adequate. In addition,
the Board has reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, and
their training programmes and budget.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination
of Inside Information

The Company is aware of its obligation under relevant sections
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and Listing Rules. An
Inside Information Disclosure Policy has been established to lay
down practical guidelines on definition and the scope of inside
information; disclosure and management framework;
exemptions for disclosure; receiving, reporting and disclosing
of inside information; confidentiality and records of such
information. Pursuant to the Inside Information Disclosure
Policy, staff who have access to inside information are required
to follow the Inside Information Disclosure Policy to keep the
unpublished inside information strictly confidential until such
inside information has been officially announced to the public
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Board will review and approve the inside information to be
disclosed and the Company Secretary has the responsibility to
monitor and communicate with professional parties such as our
external lawyer and auditor during the process of inside
information discussion and announcement preparation.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the fee payable to the
external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, in
respect of audit and non-audit services is set out below:

2016 &

2016

FHT

HKD’'000

ZHART Audit Services: 2,800
IEZE RS (RIEERM Non-Audit Services (including review of

R HEARRBA TS 3R 3R ) : interim financial statement): 1,342

EFETESFRS DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
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The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code") as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and that all
the Directors confirmed their compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary reports to the Board on corporate
governance matters and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable law, rules and regulations are
followed. All Board members have access to the advice and
services of Company Secretary. During the year, the Company
Secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company actively promotes effective communications with
shareholders and investors through the publication of notices,
announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports on a
timely manner via the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Board encourages shareholders to attend general meetings
to communicate any concerns they might have with the Board
or management directly. The Company has also maintained a
shareholders’ communication policy, details of which are
available on the Company’s website under Corporate
Governance section.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Company’s articles of
association, general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more members of the Company
deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event that the Company ceases to have
such a principal place of business, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionists themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may
be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s articles of association
or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for shareholders to
move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who
wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of the
Company, please refer to the procedures posted on the
Company'’s website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For put forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company,
details are as follow:

Address: Unit 01-03, 17/F, Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower,
1 Kornhill Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Email: ir@asiaray.com

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year, the Company has not made any changes to its
articles of association.
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) have pleasure
in presenting their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in the financial statements on page 83.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016
are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on page 79.

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HKDO.10 per
share for the year ended 31 December 2016 payable on or
around Friday, 28 July 2017 to the shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”) whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Friday, 14 July 2017.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016 is set out in the “Chairman’s Statement”, and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 17 to 22 and
pages 23 to 36 respectively of this annual report.

The Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations
that have significant impact of the Group, which are provided
in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 42 to 53 of
this annual report. A discussion on the Company's
environmental policies and performance is set out in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” which is
published separately on the websites of the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on
28 April 2017.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in note
19 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 198 of this
annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2016, the Company'’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately HKD682.8 million
(2015: HKD798.2 million).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group's top
five largest customers accounted for 9.6% (2015: 11.8%) of our
revenues and the single largest customer accounted for 2.7%
(2015: 5.1%) of our revenues. The Group's top five suppliers,
who were the media resources owners, accounted for 54.8%
(2015: 53.3%) of our cost of revenue and the single largest
supplier accounted for 17.3% (2015: 17.2%) of our cost of
revenue.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
has any interest in the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
So Chi Man

Lam Ka Po

Non-Executive Directors:
Yung Chung Man
Wong Chi Kin (appointed on 24 March 2017)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Ma Ho Fai SBS JP

Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP

Pursuant to Article 16 of the Company’s articles of association,
So Chi Man, Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung, Ma Ho Fai SBS JP, and
Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP shall retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting ("AGM"). Wong Chi Kin
(being the non-executive Director appointed on 24 March
2017) shall hold office until the AGM and shall then eligible for
re-election at the AGM. So Chi Man and Chan Chi Fai Andrew
SBS JP will not offer themselves for re-election at AGM and Ma
Andrew Chiu Cheung, Ma Ho Fai SBS JP and Wong Chi Kin who
are being eligible and offer themselves for re-election at AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set on the basis of the
employees' merit, qualifications and competence. The
emoluments of the Directors and senior management are
reviewed by the remuneration committee, with consideration
to the Group's operation results and individual performance.
The Company has adopted a share option scheme to the
eligible persons as an incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group, details of which are set out in the
paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of this annual
report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company's articles of association, every
Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share Option Scheme

The fair values of share options issued are measured on the
grant date based on the fair value of the underlying shares. The
valuation of the fair values of share options issued mainly
involves management judgments and estimates about
significant inputs subject to volatility, dividend yield, annual
risk-free interest rate etc. Changes in these estimates and
assumptions could have a material effect on the determination
of the fair value of the share options, which may in turn impact
the determination of the share options expenses. Details of the
share option scheme have been set out on pages 58 of this
annual report.
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Non-listed Warrants

On 10 October 2016, the Company entered into a strategic
alliance agreement (the “Strategic Alliance Agreement”) with
Great World HK Media Pte. Ltd. (“Great World HK") to enhance
the business collaboration between the Company and L
Catterton Management Limited, a private equity firm formed
by LVMH Moét Hennessy Louis Vuitton S.A., Catterton
Holdings, L.L.C. and Groupe Arnault SAS. On the same day,
the Company and Great World HK entered into a subscription
agreement (as amended and supplemented by a supplemental
agreement dated 13 October 2016) in relation to the allotment
of 10,000,000 warrants at an issue price of HKDO.3 per warrants
to Great World HK for an initial warrant exercise price of
HKD4.10 per warrant share for a subscription period of 3 years
commencing from 29 December 2016. The aggregate warrant
issue price in the amount of HKD3,000,000 was regarded as
the consideration in the amount of HKD3,000,000 payable by
the Company to Great World HK under the Strategic Alliance
Agreement. The subscription agreement and the creation and
issue of 10,000,000 warrants were approved by the
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 22 December 2016. As at 31 December
2016, the outstanding non-listed warrants were 10,000,000
warrants and in which the subscription rights had not been
exercised.

The then Directors were of the view that the said issuance of
non-listed warrants represented a good opportunity to raise
additional funding for the Company while broadening the
capital of the Company. In addition to the business
opportunities contemplated under the Strategic Alliance
Agreement, equity capital will be raised upon the exercise of
the subscription rights attaching to the non-listed warrants by
the holder(s) thereof during the subscription period of the non-
listed warrants.

Assuming the non-listed warrants are exercised in full by the
subscriber, the net proceeds of the issuance of non-listed
warrants will be approximately HK$40,700,000, which will be
used as general working capital of the Company.

Details of above warrant issue are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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R2016F12A31H  ARAIEZEREETT
BABREBE ARARG SKETMEEE

B(ERERESFLBMERD(

E R K

I EXVER) 2 AR BB (Bt 1) ~ 18-
iy R EEEPHBELAREZESME
GRBIF3S2HEMERAFEN B LM - HRE

B A AR AT E R AL

B8+ FrEl b

MR NE B TESR D2 BT (1B
PR ) MR E R R AR SAR

W -

Name of Directors

R (Lt

Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
(“Mr. Lam")

HEX
So Chi Man

MRE
Lam Ka Po

FBX
Yung Chung Man

BRE
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

B 508 ssup
Ma Ho Fai sBsJp

W5 sps P
Chan Chi Fai Andrew $Bs Jp

HEHEEREEFGRAR  2016F#H

5t/ BENE

Capacity/
Nature of interest

2RETOAMAL
REEH LB S
Founder of a discretionary
trust and interest in
a controlled corporation
EEBAA

Beneficial owner

#3478 A

Beneficial owner

EafAA

Beneficial owner

EaEAA

Beneficial owner

EaEAA

Beneficial owner

ExBAA

Beneficial owner

ExBAA

Beneficial owner
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES OF THE
COMPANY, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company and their
associate in the shares of the Company (“Shares”), underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers ("Model Code"”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”), were as follows:

12016 %
12A31H
APRE T
RE 2B
BOE®
Approximate
percentage of
issued share

RATEIR
(B

Total capital of
number of the Company
Equity Shares and as at
Number of derivative underlying 31 December
Shares  (share options) Shares 2016?
330,000,000 (L) & 330,000,000 (L)" 75.00%
NIL
i 4,400,000 (L) 4,400,000 (L) 1.00%
NIL
i 1,300,000 (L) 1,300,000 (L) 0.30%
NIL
i 1,278,000 (L) 1,278,000 (L) 0.29%
NIL
i 2,000,000 (L) 2,000,000 (L) 0.45%
NIL
i 100,000 (L) 100,000 (L) 0.02%
NIL
i 100,000 (L) 100,000 (L) 0.02%
NIL
i 100,000 (L) 100,000 (L) 0.02%
NIL
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1. M5 4 R ¥F 588,000,000 8% A% 1 #Space
Management Limited ([ Space Management])
HIME—RRER o EHN - MRIEAE /R Shalom Trust (7
—HBENEEUMERTASHRINBIERE
+t © &% A B UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited *© 2§
ABIRMEERAN - EEFREKE RAITE
AR E A A L) BRI A - Shalom Trust @ #
# 7 Media Cornerstone Limited ([ Media
Cornerstone|) & # 2 % 17 ik 74X » i1 Media
Cornerstone 1 /& 242,000,000 f& % 17 © 1R & &
KB E &P AR &R B R R 1 Space
Management } Media Cornerstone # A & # £
fRipPHEA R -

2. 2016512 A31 8 » BT A 440,000,000
RRARS o

EERE
(LI REFA

BrUA EFTHERE - 20165128318 0
BANREERFEBITHRABRAQRSHE
FHEEEE (FERFESHS RHEGE XV
) 2Bt - ARG REEEFHEEEILA
RIBES R E KRN EIS2EREBFTED
it SRBIZESTRIEMNS ARNA R KB
RATRIRERR SRR ©

B AEST &

RARIK B ER S ([&5 8] HiIRER
201412 A6 AmBMRER 2 EEARREK
W EBEEMARZTEMATHNEERA
THASEMELHSKATEELNERAES
IR AEE) B3R - ;ZAT &I 2015F 1 A15H
R WG 202551 B14BER °

RiEZAE - B2 RNBRASEIMAR
BRHBRAE - ARIBZE 8T R E 2 IR
NAGRHFRB AR B

(a) =ETEIZEH
ZETEMBENAREEGERGERA
THAKEEL S ATREEH R ERA
W E IR AR T 5 -

Notes:

1. Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management Limited
("Space Management”) which holds 88,000,000 Shares. In addition,
Mr. Lam is the founder of the Shalom Trust (a discretionary trust
established by Mr. Lam as settlor of which UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited
acts as the trustee and beneficiaries of which are Mr. Lam, certain of
his family members and other persons who may be added from time
to time) which indirectly holds the entire issued share capital of
Media Cornerstone Limited (“Media Cornerstone”) which holds
242,000,000 Shares. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Space Management and Media
Cornerstone are interested.

2. As at 31 December 2016, the issued share capital was 440,000,000
Shares.

Abbreviation:
“L" stands for long position

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had any
interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
which are required to be notified to the Company and Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company's share option scheme was adopted pursuant to
a Shareholders’ resolution in writing passed on 6 December
2014 (the “Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible persons as defined in the
Scheme for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Group. The Scheme took effect on 15 January 2015 and will
expire on 14 January 2025.

Under the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer to any
employee of the Group, options to subscribe for shares of the
Company subject to the terms and conditions stipulated in the
Scheme.

(a) Purpose of the Scheme
The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Board to
provide incentives or rewards to the eligible persons for
their contribution or potential contribution to the Group.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Participants of the Scheme

Pursuant to the Scheme, the board of the Company may
at its absolute discretion grant options to any eligible
employee, a supplier of goods or services to any member
of the Group or any director or employee of such
supplier, customer, any advisory, consultancy or
professional services to any member of the Group or any
director or employee of such entity (including any
director, whether executive or non-executive and whether
independent or not, of the Company or its subsidiaries)
who is in full-time or part-time employment with the
Company or its subsidiaries at the time when an option is
granted to such employee, or any person who, in the sole
discretion of the Board, have contributed or may
contribute to the Group.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme

As at 31 December 2016, a total of 15,934,875 share
options were granted by the Company, of which
15,446,625 share options have not been exercised and
309,000 share options were lapsed. An ordinary resolution
was passed at the annual general meeting on 1 June
2016 relating to the refreshment of scheme mandate limit
of the share option to 44,000,000 shares, representing
10% of the total issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this annual report.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and
any other schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30%
of the total number of shares of the Company in issue
from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant
(including those exercised, outstanding and cancelled
options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue,
unless approved by the shareholders of the Company in
the manner as stipulated in the Scheme.

Time of exercise of options

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on the date on which the
offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in any
event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof. No minimum period for which the option must
be held before it can be exercised as specified in the
Scheme.
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) BRIABE (f)  The subscription price per share

REZ RO 2 BRE SRREE The subscription price per share in respect of an option

MARREZEN R HBRERETE - granted under the Scheme is such price as determined by

ERMERIBR T - ZREBENSERT the Board of the Company at the time of the grant of the

SR options, but in any case the subscription price shall not

be lower than the higher of:

o REHEABMIMEARERMN e the closing price of the shares of the Company as
FIARR R ety 2 W (& - Tz A stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
WIBREHER Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

J EEFNEAMAEEEBABR e the price being the average closing price of the
e RBERMAINARRRNZ shares of the Company as stated in the daily
FHWTHE: & quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for

the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and

o RARFMMZEE - e the nominal value of a share of the Company.

(9) HEMBRERZNZSH (g) Payment on acceptance of option

ERMBRER  SEARAERESN A non-refundable sum of HKD10 or other amount as

R BREZ N AR ERIE 108 determined by the board of the Company by way of

TEARBEETGEENEMSBIES consideration for the grant of an option is required to be

HE - paid by each of the grantee upon acceptance of the

option.
(h) FHEIRERERE (h) Remaining life of the Scheme

ZET B 2025F 1 A14H Ewm - E
B E] B L BEARE - MERZET B2 RS
EMBEMAEE —EERARER - m
REZTE BRI RFR L 2 B A
R E R TIERITE -

The Scheme will expire on 14 January 2025 and no further
options may be granted but the provisions of the Scheme
shall in all other respects remain in force and effect and
options which are granted during the life of the Scheme
may continue to exercise in accordance with their
respective terms of grant.

The following table discloses movements in the share options
during the period:

THABAR ARG 2 BRE

Option to subscribe for shares of the Company

12016 F 12016
1818 A 12A31H i@
ERABRIZSE g BARE AREE  BRTE i S BRET
Balance Lapsed/ Balance Exercise
as at Granted  cancelled  Exercised as at price per
Category or Name 1January duringthe during the during the 31 December share
of Grantees Date of grant 2016 period period period 2016  Exercise period HKD
THABBRE &
Executive Share Option Plan
v 20155421 H 4,400,000 - - - 4,400,000 201651 A18Z 6.95
2020F6A9R M
Mr. Lam 21 May 2015 1 Jan 2016~
9 Jun 2020
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ERARRI DA

Category or Name
of Grantees

EEREMERRES D

Employee and Contributor
Share Option Plan

HEX

So Chi Man

HRE

Lam Ka Po

S/X

Yung Chung Man

SRH

Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

S5IE spsp

Ma Ho Fai SBS JP

[RF18 spsp

Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP

EERERE

Employees and contributors

iz -

Date of grant

201565A21H
21 May 2015
201565A21H
21 May 2015
2015658210
21 May 2015
201565A21H
21 May 2015
201565/21H
21 May 2015
2015658210
21 May 2015
201565A21H

21 May 2015

R2016 F
1R1A8
5]
Balance
asat

1 January
2016

1,300,000

1,278,000

2,000,000

100,000

100,000

100,000

6,477,625

THABAR ARG 2 BRE

Option to subscribe for shares of the Company

BAR

Granted
during the
period

H2016 5
12A31H
o

Balance

as at

31 December
2016

MR
Lapsed/
cancelled
during the
period

e
SRET
Exercise
price per

share
HKD

il Eacd

Exercised
during the

period Exercise period

1,300,000 2016F1A1HE

2020F6 A9
1 Jan 2016~

9 Jun 20207
2016F1A182

2020F6F980
1 Jan 2016~

9 Jun 2020"
2016F181BE

202056980
1 Jan 2016-

9 Jun 20207
2016F1A18Z

2020F6 A9
1 Jan 2016~

9 Jun 20207
2016F1A182

2020F6F980
1 Jan 2016~

9 Jun 2020"
2016F181BE

202056980
1 Jan 2016~

9 Jun 20207
2016F1A18Z

2020F6 A9
1 Jan 2016~

9 Jun 20207

6.95

1,278,000 6.95

2,000,000 6.95

100,000 6.95

100,000 6.95

100,000 6.95

309,000 - 6,168,625 6.95

15,755,625

309,000 - 15,446,625

1. LB E N2 AR AT BRI A FATEE

(@)  30%H BB B ] R2016F1 AR =
2020F 6 A9B(REERMA)ITE

P53

(b) BTH70%EREN2017F1 /1R
Z2020F6 A9 (BIEERMA)TTE -

SERHARN KT ERER6.93E T £
MR B 2 EEF BN A G S EmRHT

i34

2. FRBRERETTIEAAEEER ZER

AFFE -

M HEEREBEFRAF

2016 62

Notes:

All the above share
following periods:

options granted are exercisable during the

(a) 30% of the share options shall be exercisable from 1 January
2016 to 9 June 2020 (both days inclusive); and

(b) the remaining 70% of the share options shall be exercisable
from 1 January 2017 to 9 June 2020 (both days inclusive).

The closing price per share immediately before the date of grant was
HKD6.93. Details of the value of options granted as above is set out
in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statement.

The share options were held by certain grantees who ceased to be
the employees of the Group during the year.
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FERRRBROREERS 2B @ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES

5879} AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

H2016F 12 A318 MR ALTRER A’ As at 31 December 2016, the following persons had an interest

M BN BEEREZES LB EIEAE or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the

336 IEBNCERFE 2 Bt b 2 S F0K Company recorded in the register required to be kept under

B Section 336 of the SFO:

REBROREBRGZHFR Long positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares

RAELQF
ERITRAZ
B EEMtE OB L®

Approximate

percentage of
issued share

Number of capital in
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Shares the Company®
ML EREFENAIRA R 330,000,000 (L) 75%
R HE B R
Mr. Lam Founder of a discretionary trust

and interest in a controlled

corporation
EmER A 4,400,000 (L)™ 1%
Beneficial owner

Media Cornerstone Limited BEDREA A 242,000,000 (L)@ 55%
Media Cornerstone Limited Beneficial owner

Shalom Family Holding Limited 5242 #II 5% @y #E 25 242,000,000 (L)@ 55%
Shalom Family Holding Limited  Interest in a controlled corporation

UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited Shalom Trust X 7EA 242,000,000 (L)® 55%
UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited Trustee of Shalom Trust

Space Management Limited BEREAA 88,000,000 (L)® 20%
Space Management Limited Beneficial owner

Great World HK Media Pte. Ltd. BB A 33,609,000¥ 7.64%

Great World HK Media Pte. Ltd. Beneficial owner

L Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd. REEHEE R 33,609,000% 7.64%
L Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation
L Capital Asia 2 LP REEHER R 33,609,000¥ 7.64%
L Capital Asia 2 LP Interest in a controlled corporation
L Capital Asia 2 GP REEHIER R 33,609,000¥ 7.64%
L Capital Asia 2 GP Interest in a controlled corporation
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5 A7 20154 5 A 21 H % # T 4,400,000 1%
ERE - FEFHE  MARATRIBEREE

—ffe

2. Media Cornerstone #5 A& 242,000,000 A% & 17 <
Media Cornerstone i1 Shalom Family Holding
Limited ([ Shalom Familyl) & & # A- m
Shalom Family I f Shalom Trust® & # A °
Shalom Trust i #% %5 4 1 /5 B % T A 2 UBS
Trustees (BVI) Limited {fF A5 AL © Family
Trust B EZ A AMEE - EETREKE
RO MAMEMA LT - BREBEFHFRAE
&+ 25 AR B Media Cornerstone # A
AR P A o

3. M5 4 R ¥F % 88,000,000 8% % 17 #Space
Management FE — %58 o

4. Great World HK Media Pte Ltd. ([ Great
World ) #1 L Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd. ([LC Pte])
2 & % A °LC PteH L Capital Asia 2 LP([L
Capl) 2 & %% ° L CapHL Capital Asia 2 GP
(TLCap Asia ) 2 & B - REFFRHE K
] * Great World * LC Pte * L Cap & L Cap Asia
R ARG R A ° Great World A E &
A A 51957 33,609,000 AL B 47 A - H
110,000,000 % A% f7 ( 73 1201612 A 29 A
BT LETOIATRE) BUREEE -

5. MR2016F12/8318H B % 17 K X A
440,000,000 &A% 15

LRSI
LI REFA

M EXXATiE T EI - R2016F12A31H -
b 4 H Ath A £ 7 RB% {9 sk AR B AR 10 P R B IR I
BERBEGOEIBIEBETRARTLZ
Bz EmSAR

EENRG  THIENzER

RAMBFE AN BFREERGREDE
BrREAEEEBERAMARASEMER
FIREPITIHNT BARRESIHBEE
BRETPEEXFEARFAEARBZIEAR
5 RHFEREK -
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Notes:

1. Mr. Lam was granted 4,400,000 share options on 21 May 2015. For
further details, please refer to the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” of this annual report.

2. The 242,000,000 Shares held by Media Cornerstone. Media
Cornerstone is wholly owned by Shalom Family Holding Limited
(“Shalom Family”), which is in turn wholly owned by the Shalom Trust,
discretionary trust. The Shalom Trust established by Mr. Lam as
settlor and UBS Trustees (BVI) Limited as trustee. The discretionary
beneficiaries of the Family Trust are Mr. Lam, certain of his family
members and other persons who may be added from time to time.
By virtue of the SFO, the Trustee is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Media Cornerstone is interested in.

3. Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management which holds
88,000,000 Shares.

4. Great World HK Media Pte Ltd. (“Great World") is wholly owned by L
Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd. (“"LC Pte"”). LC Pte is wholly owned by L
Capital 2 LP ("L Cap"). L Cap is wholly owned by L Capital Asia 2 GP
("L Cap Asia”). By virtue of the SFO, Great World, LC Pte, L Cap, and
L Cap Asia are deemed to be interested in the shares. Great World
held long position in 33,609,000 shares in capacity as beneficial
owner of these shares. 10,000,000 shares of which are non-listed
derivatives issued on 29 December 2016, which will be cash settled.

5. As at 31 December 2016, the issued share capital was 440,000,000
Shares.

Abbreviations:
“L" stands for long position

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, there were
no other persons who had an interest or short position in the
Shares, or underlying Shares which recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company or its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company
or his or her connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the
financial year.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Mr. Lam, Media Cornerstone, Space Management and Shalom
Family (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) entered
into a deed of non-competition dated 22 December 2014 with
the Company (the “"Deed of Non-competition”). Pursuant to
the Deed of Non-competition, each of the Controlling
Shareholders has undertaken that, among other things, he/it
shall not and shall procure his/its associates not to, either alone
or jointly with any other person or entity, or for any other
person, firm or company, or as principal, partner, director,
employee, consultant or agent through any body corporate,
partnership, joint venture or other contractual arrangement,
beengaged, invested, or otherwise involved, whether as a
shareholder, director, employee, partner, agent or
otherwise,directly or indirectly, in the carrying on of any
business in any form or manner in Hong Kong or the PRC in
competition or likely to be in competition, directly or indirectly,
with the business operated by the Group in Hong Kong or the
PRC. Mr. Lam has further undertaken that he shall procure Main
Element Profits Limited to exercise all its voting power in
Taiwan Asiaray Advertising Holdings Company Limited* (& /&
WA EEID AR AR (“Taiwan Asiaray”) to ensure that the
business of Taiwan Asiaray will not expand outside Taiwan.
Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders —
Non-Competition Undertakings” of the prospectus of the
Company dated 31 December 2014.

The Company has received confirmations from the Controlling
Shareholders of their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition for the year ended 31 December 2016 (the
“Confirmations”). The independent non-executive directors of
the Company have been provided with all necessary
information and have reviewed the Confirmations and are
satisfied that the Deed of Non-competition was complied with
and was effectively enforced during the year ended 31
December 2016.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group did not
have any significant investments.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

During the year ended 31 December 2016, there was no
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures by the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties
regarded as “Related Parties” under applicable accounting
principles. These mainly relate to contracts entered into by the
Group in the ordinary course of business, which contracts were
negotiated on normal commercial terms and on an arm’s length
basis. Further details are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Some of these transactions also constituted “Continuing
Connected Transactions” under the Listing Rules, as identified
below.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed herein, during the year ended 31 December
2016, the Group entered into a number of transactions with
entities which will be regarded as connected parties of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the announcements dated 15 June 2015 and 30

December 2016, the annual cap of the concession fee for the
year ended 31 December 2016 include:

i. the framework agreement with Yunnan Airport Group
Limited Liability Company and its associates is RMB121.3
million. The concession fee payable for the year ended 31
December 2016 was RMB97.5 million; and

i.  the agreement with Henan Zhengzhou Xinzheng Airport
Management Company Limited and its associates is
RMB141.0 million and the concession fee payable for the
year ended 31 December 2016 was RMB87.6 million.
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The Group has established internal controls and procedures to
ensure the compliance of the continuing connected
transactions with the requirement of the Listing Rules. Finance
department has prepared monthly transaction reports to ensure
the annual caps not to be exceeded. The Board, including the
independent non-executive Directors, has reviewed and
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions have
been entered into and the fees paid were:

i. in the ordinary course of business of the Group;

ii.  either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third party; and

iii. in accordance with the terms of the Contract that are fair
and reasonable and in the interest of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed
upon procedures in respect of the continuing connected
transactions and the auditor has reported the factual findings
on these procedures to the Board committee.

The auditor of the Company has confirmed to the Board in
writing that the continuing connected transactions have been
entered into and the fees:

(@) was approved by the Board;
(b)  was in accordance with the pricing policy of the Group;

(c) was entered into in accordance with the terms of the
agreements, governing the transactions; and

(d) did not exceed the relevant cap amount for the year
ended 31 December 2016 as set out on the
announcements dated 15 June 2015 and 30 December
2016.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change in
information on Director is as follow:

Mr. Yung Chung Man, previously the chief operations officer
and an executive Director of the Company, was re-designated
as a non-executive Director of the Company and resigned as
the chief operations officer with effect from 1 August 2016.

Mr. Wong Chi Kin was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company with effect from 24 March 2017.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s articles of association or the laws of Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the
date of this annual report, there was sufficient public float of
not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HKD90,000 (2015: HKD107,000).

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2016 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution will be
submitted to the forthcoming AGM for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCooper as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2017
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To the Shareholders of Asiaray Media Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Asiaray Media Group
Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 77 to 197, which comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2016;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

J the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

J the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2016, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

L EBRBATAEN 2
A +852 2289 8888 {HE: +852 2810 9888

22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888  Fax: +852 2810 9888
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

. Provision for impairment of trade receivables

J The recognition of deferred income tax assets
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Key Audit Matter

—  ERERFRERE

— Provision for impairment of trade receivables

BLEA P R R 4) RFIEE16 -
Refer to note 4(a) and note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

2016512 4318  EUER R4 #4245 354,610,000 87T
BB ER31% ° IR FUR B R #IE 23,494,000 8 7T °
As at 31 December 2016, the balance of trade
receivables was HKD354,610,000, representing 31% of
total assets. The provision for impairment of trade
receivables amounted to HKD23,494,000.

EIREF RS R S IR MR E R B TR E R
ERBAEXHULE  BEFPBR BERPUBINAEEANN R
EEREERBRDT

Management reviewed the ageing report regularly and
provided particular bad debt allowance for impairment,
taking into consideration of specific individual credit
risk analysis including the nature of transaction,
relationship with customers, the financial position of
customers etc.

JE M5 AR FORL (B TD AR B FE MR AR 3R < BT B O ME AT A VR H o UK
RIORERES R EREN AR EREREE THEL -
A RE N RN & YMbET ©

Impairment of trade receivables was made based on
an assessment of the recoverability of trade
receivables. Provision for impairment of trade
receivables involved management’s judgement and
uncertainty of the actual outcome which may be
different from original estimates.

BB IR ZEE RN ESE MU HRER REE RUER
HE ] B RS MR EE R AETEERX -

We focused on this area because of its significance to
the consolidated financial statements and the
estimation and judgement involved in the
determination of the recoverable amounts of trade
receivables.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HEAREZER  RMBTUTRER
In responding to the key audit matter, we performed the
following procedures:

. BT B ATk R R OB E B B AR T 2 A BB IR IR
it BREEERES  BBRKERSN  RERBLIET
RAEES - FATHS T B8 MR H REUS 2 58
BTSRRI R BB o

e  We understood and evaluated the design of
internal controls over the provision for impairment
of trade receivables process including credit
control, data collection and analysis, determination
and approval for impairment provision etc. We
validated key internal controls on a sample basis
and obtained audit evidence over the operating
effectiveness of these key controls.

. B EBERF A RERIEN - XY AR BB
REREREROKRE - MM ZERTREBRE
WA MERERRE  BREAEEXHEREFRER
BHRE -

o We analysed the aging profile on trade receivables,
focusing on those long aged outstanding balances
for which no provision had been made. We
challenged management as to the recoverability of
these unprovided amounts, corroborated
explanations with underlying documentation and
correspondence with the customers.

o HMTEMBE  HERERMNEIEAREE - K&
HERRMEREZ#E  DRHMEZERENES I -

e  We also interviewed supervisors in finance
department, sales department and legal
department to corroborate their explanations on
the doubtful account on a sample basis to evaluate
the appropriateness of these provisions.

. BB BRECRERIMETZLLE  FFHERER
128 Rl 5 18 5 110 1 T e Ak R O T S 1R R SRR 1

o We compared the subsequent collection with the
original estimation to evaluate the reliability and
accuracy of management judgement and estimates
on provision of impairment.

BRI BB - BFIIR - B IR E PR A I R A A B A
FTERAS B RE#8 P S H%

Based on the procedures above, we found that the
judgment and estimates applied by management was
supported by the evidence we obtained.
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Key Audit Matter

— WBRELEREHEE

—  The recognition of deferred income tax assets

B2 A HY S IREM T 4b) KHIEES -
Refer to note 4(b) and note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

R2016F12A3MBWMBELEMEREENE KRR
80,566,000 7T * (HAEEEH 7% °

The balance of deferred income tax assets as at 31
December 2016 was HKD80,566,000, representing 7%
of the total assets.
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Management recognised deferred income tax assets
based on estimates that it is probable to generate
sufficient taxable profits in the foreseeable future
against which the unutilised tax losses and the
deductible temporary differences would be utilised.
The recognition of deferred income tax assets mainly
involved management’s judgments and estimations
about the timing and the amount of taxable profits of
the companies which had tax losses.
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Management prepared 5-year profit forecast to assess
the probability of generating sufficient taxable profits
in the foreseeable future involving complex
assumptions of revenue growth rate, profit margin and
significant input of concession fee charges with
inherent uncertainties of forecasting and sensitivity due
to the uncertainty of macroeconomic, out-of-home
media industry and the profitability of the Group’s
business. Management also involved judgement over
the temporary difference between accounting and tax
bases due to the complex and various deferred income
tax categories.

BMEINZEB N EY A P BHRR R ERRLEM
SHEES KOG RAEBBERX

We focused on this area because of its significance to
the consolidated financial statements and the
estimation and judgement involved in recognition of
deferred income tax assets.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HEBREZER  HMBTUATRER
In responding to the key audit matter, we performed
the following procedures:

J BT AR N ATk A B B LA R X R R R SE P
1508 B 2 TRORI FE SR 0 ) 2 BB ) 2 3R AT © FAF
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J We understood and evaluated the design of
internal controls over the preparation and approval
of the forecast taxable profits used to support the
recognition of the deferred income tax asset. We
validated key internal controls on a sample basis
and obtained audit evidence over the operating
effectiveness of these key controls.

. BMBEAFEERAREBEFERBMENTER
JERTBUR 2 LEB - FHAETRRIM S IBIE -

J We compared the current year actual results with
the forecast taxable figures included in the prior
year forecast to assess the reasonableness of
forecasts.

. HA iR B U I f R R MR R B AN ER AR o AT TR
ZHE - ERERENE BRESKE RGNS
IS B N E R AR

o We challenged management’s assumptions of
revenue growth rate and profit margin by
comparing them against external economy and
industry forecasts and corroborated the significant
input of concession fee charges to underlying
agreements.

. BMBEBEFAEEEENRLEMETEER KM
WA RER ARG ERENERE

o We tested the accuracy of temporary differences by
recalculating management'’s deferred income tax
assets schedules and reviewed the underlying
documents and contracts on a sample basis.

. BATINE N A 17 A 9 (R RR FEOBI FE RR T s M) 2 BURE
DM IRHEAREE B EE DR AIERE

o We also considered and performed the sensitivity
analysis of the forecast taxable profits to key
assumptions such as the revenue growth rate to
evaluate the profitability of the Group.

HEPRAERRFF - FAMI3IR - B IR E P A0 2B B 5t d 3P
PRERIS RORE IR P S 55 -

Based on the above, we found that the judgment and
estimates applied by management was supported by the
evidence we obtained.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

J Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.



BT EIEMERES  INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

s HEERAKELESHEMNRBEN
L &R o IRIZFTERNERIRE - i
ERAFERZERYBEABHANENS
MR - EMA R g BRENR
BIKERENEEBRERE - IREMR
REEEATEEN - ABLEEZH
B hiRBEAE LB A I HmER
TRMERE TR - REAMNBETR -
ARMEEERIFEFRERR - BN
fEREENZEE®RE B LTRSS
OB - AT - RAFHEKIFTRAES
B BEEETEFELYE -

o  FHEAHIMEHmMROERIIFHAIN &
BNAR  BRERE - UREHIBR
REBTERMRIZHMER -

e B EEEARERIXFIBNNTE
FERT R @S NEREE  NEYH
BHPBHRRERER - HMEE &
SEBEZOTE - BEEMAT - HMA
BERERAERIEE -

PR =R BAIEIRIEEIEA T A8
ERHE KEZH EXERERS 8
ERMESZHER HAZES N EMER
RFG o

BPEMAEERRENR  SHARMETE
BRABM MBS RERENR - WHEMF
AEATRAEMKARSFERIBILME
MABRENEMEE  UREERNER
™ HERE T E A i o

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Lam Sung Wan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 March 2017
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ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Construction-in-progress
Land use rights
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Investments in associates
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

Available-for-sale financial assets

Deferred income tax assets
Non-current portion of other
receivables

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Short-term deposits
Restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Share capital
Share premium
Reserves
Retained earnings

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

O 00 N O

—_
w O

11
15

16

16
17
18
18

19

20

Asiaray Media Group Limited

2016 &

2016
TR

HKD’000

20154
2015
FAETT
HKD’000

100,118 63,984
- 16,776
22,931 15,583
528 652
1,842 1,187
26,997 37,938
4,537 3,877
8,346 56,926
80,566 80,054
13,697 18,248
259,562 295,225
1,326 1,343
543,621 525,616
46,737 114,757
63,552 81,807
217,336 241,946
872,572 965,469
1,132,134 1,260,694
44,000 44,000
461,013 557,813
(25,800) (9,516)
71,553 55,727
550,766 648,024
31,739 52,645
582,505 700,669
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BHEEEBES  CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

MW12A31H
As at 31 December
2016 F 20154
2016 2015
FH&xT T
HKD'000 HKD’'000
8E& Liabilities
FEREBEME Non-current liabilities
& Borrowings 21 5,310 6,863
RIEFTEHHAE Deferred income tax liabilities 15 770 160
6,080 7,023
REBE Current liabilities
FE ST BR 3R N2 B th e~ FR IR Trade and other payables 22 471,909 477,327
BEAFTIS TR A& Current income tax liabilities 10,002 10,669
& Borrowings 21 61,638 16,694
B8 B e Provision for compensation loss 28(a) - 48,312
543,549 553,002
BaeF Total liabilities 549,629 560,025
BEZREE Total equity and liabilities 1,132,134 1,260,694
£83E 197 EMME RZEA MM BRKRE The notes on pages 83 to 197 are integral parts of these
— &k e consolidated financial statements.
FITE 197 ENEHUBHRRELESTS RN The consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 197 were
2017 F3 H24 RAL/ETIZE - WARMA TESEK approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2017
REE o and were signed on its behalf.
MEE BREX
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent So Chi Man
FE HITEF
Chairman Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

WA
WA A

E7

HE LM SEREMX
TR

H At A

Hpieas /(B518) - F8
RENE(BR)

BEWA
B E R

BEWA -

DIERBEE R A

BRFT8BLATRIE, (&18)

PRSE(FIs) %

FENE(BE)

Revenue

Cost of revenue

Gross profit
Selling and marketing expenses
Administrative expenses

Other income

Other gains/(losses), net

Operating profit/(loss)

Finance income

Finance costs

Finance income, net

Share of results of investments
in associates

Profit/(loss) before income tax

Income tax (expense)/credit

Profit/(loss) for the year

BZE12A31HILEEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 F 2015

2016 2015

THxT FHIT

HKD’000 HKD'000

5 1,470,795 1,406,293
23 (1,180,312) (1,115,897)
290,483 290,396

24 (126,638) (100,553)
25 (149,995) (166,744)
27 12,257 12,758
28 22,992 (52,393)
49,099 (16,536)

29 2,869 5,576
29 (2,545) (3,222)
29 324 2,354
13 5,255 8,177
54,678 (6,005)

30 (14,573) 3,809
40,105 (2,196)

Asiaray Media Group Limited
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St EWrEs3<  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Hitir s Wz (B8)

TREHSEE
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—HEAHRNESREE
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— BRI E R

FEFaWE(BR)
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FEFBE(BE)

LT & T ELGRE RS
IR
ZA/NCIEZE PN
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FEFEWE(FHE)
i

LS PN 1
rEESR
B (BE)
(AFBELZIR)

—EXR#E

FBIE17 AN ERZFAFH BRI

— %5 -

HAREREBERARF 2016 F#H

BZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December
2016 £

2016
FET
HKD’000

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Items that may be reclassified
to profit or loss
— Net gains/(losses) from changes in
fair value of available-for-sale

20154
2015
FHIT
HKD'000

financial assets, net of tax 343 (1,545)
— Disposal of available-for-sale 835
financial assets, net of tax -
— Currency translation differences (34,613) (25,330)
(33,435) (26,875)
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year 6,670 (29,071)
Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company 15,826 (39,616)
Non-controlling interests 24,279 37,420
Profit/(loss) for the year 40,105 (2,196)
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
attributable to:
Owners of the Company (14,888) (61,802)
Non-controlling interests 21,558 32,731
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year 6,670 (29,071)
Earnings/(loss) per share
attributable to owners of the
Company for the year
(expressed in HK cents per share)
— Basic and diluted 31 3.60 (9.09)

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

R201561 51 R&H

&4 (BR) /b

FE(BR)/MAE

ek

— I HESREAE
(E4B)

—ERHEEE

&4 (BB)/KEaE

BT (A2t 19)
EEERETE
—EERBERHZ4)
FEERERTE

(B3t 2068)
RE (H#32)

EEREREIRAFA
HR5 88

R2015512 831 AL

R201651 71048
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RN

Efha (BR) /b

— A ESREAE
AFHERESNE
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—HENHLESRAE
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—EXHEEE

&4 (B8)/ ka4

ERRERETE

—BBRBEEMEM)

FHERER A

R8 (Hrz232)
BATRRMRAER (M7 35)

ERNMERRRREAAN
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12016 F12 A 31 B&#R

FEBIE 197 AN ERZE A HFUEIRERM

—#5 -

Balance 1 January 2015

Comprehensive (loss)/income

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive loss

— Losses from changes in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets,
net of tax

— Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive (loss)/income

Issuance of new shares (Note 19)

Employee share option scheme

— Value of employee services (Note 34)

Capital injection by non-controlling
interests (Note 20(a))

Dividends (Note 32)

Total transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity

Balance at 31 December 2015

Balance 1 January 2016

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

— Gains from changes in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets,
net of tax

— Disposal of available-for-sale financial
assets, net of tax

— Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive (loss)/income

Employee share option scheme

— Value of employee services (Note 34)

Capital injection by non-controlling
interests

Dividends (Note 32)

Issuance of warrants (Note 35)

Total transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity

Balance at 31 December 2016

AREHEAEE
Attributable to owners of the Company
BEx  ROEE i REBRF B FRRER 48R
Non-

Share  Share Retained controlling Total
capital premium Reserves earnings Total interests  equity
TEr TEr TExr TExr TEr  TExr  TEn

HKD'000  HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

33,000 - (4269 95343 124074 84,697 208,771

- - - (39.616) (39616 37420 (2,196)
- - (1,545 - (1,545 - (1,545
- - (20,641) - (20641) (4,689 (25330)
- - (22186)  (39.616) (61,802 32731  (29,071)
1000 610,613 - - 621613 - 621613
- - 148%4 - 1485 - 148%4
- - 2,085 - 2,085 (1,369) 716
- (52,800) - - (528000 (63.414) (116,214)

11,000 557,813 16,939 - 585752  (64,783) 520,969
44,000 557,813 (9516) 55727 648,024 52,645 700,669
44,000 557,813  (9,516) 55727 648,024 52,645 700,669

- - - 15826 15826 24279 40,105
- - 343 - 343 - 343
- - 835 - 835 - 835
- - (31,892) - (31,892 (2721) (34,613)
- - (30,714) 15826 (14,888) 21558 6,670
- - 11,355 - 11,355 - 11,35
- - = - - 539 5309
- (96,800 - - (96,800) (47,773) (144,573)
- - 3,075 - 3,075 - 3,075
- (96,8000 14,430 - (82,370) (42,464) (124,834)
44,000 461,013 (258000 71,553 550,766 31,739 582,505

consolidated financial statements.

Asiaray Media Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

LETHAMENRSRE
LEMS(FTA)
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EETEHE(FTA)
REFHE

REFHRENRERE

AxX
BBE i A
BAFES A BER
ERBEENK
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HETHEESREE
1S 50R
HEDE - WER&RE
1S 50R
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BRI ES R
BERE

[RE S NCIFESY
REEFEFRD

REZHRERE
FH

BMEZHAENRERE
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£ ARRER SR
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) FE 42 AR A 2 IR A<F
Prdsy
REES (FrA),Fig
RERE
RERRESEEY
(RA), /T
FYREERRES

BE MREFEYH
B i S

FERNRERAS

ZEY

FBIEI17 BT AZESHMEHREN
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HAREREBERARF 2016 F#H

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from/(used in)
operations

Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and
equipment

Purchases of land use rights

Payments for financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Purchases of available-for-sale
financial assets

Purchases of intangible assets

Payments for construction-in-progress

Proceeds from disposal of available
for-sale financial assets

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Interest received

Dividends on available-for-sale
financial assets received

Dividends received from an associate

Decrease in short-term deposits

Net cash generated from
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Proceeds from issuance of new shares

Capital injection by non-controlling
interests

Payment for listing-related expenses

Dividend paid to owners of the
Company

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Exchange losses on cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end
of the year

BZE12A31BLFE

Year ended 31 December
2016 &

2016
TET
HKD’000

20154
2015
FAT

HKD’000

33 41,990 (138,579)
(2,545) (3,222)
(19,724) (29,402)
19,721 (171,203)
(37,493) (14,098)

(9,113) =
(588) (587)
= (50,000)
(1,172) (496)
(22,017) (10,086)

47,849 =

33 541 749
3,553 8,703

2,536 1,202

13,745 =

68,020 79,379

65,861 14,766

53,833 34,783
(8,567) (129,362)

= 660,000

= 716
= (27,403)
(96,800) (200,980)
(47,773) (64,796)

(99,307) 272,958

(13,725) 116,521

241,946 135,630
(10,885) (10,205)

18 217,336 241,946

consolidated financial statements.
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B AR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

—RER
HAREHEEBBER QA ARREF ]
2014520 B ER S HFSIRIEH
S E R AE (2013 FEFTA) Mk
SR EEREBRAR o AAFFM
P F B b 1k & PO Box 309, Ugland
House Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman lIslands ° & % & f% {3 7 2015
FIASEEEEBMARSMAERRA
AIEMRET -

ART A TREERAT - KRAR
HWBAR(AEE]) ZERFEA
RAME (5 H ) RE S F I
ERBEERCE - OERS bR
& BERRABAIEES -

BREERBEIN L EFERIREAET
([Bx]) 2% WER201743 A24
AlRARaEEg((E5g ) #ET
g;eo

TESHBRME

TXHIREZ ST AU B RERAER
ZEBREFBR - BRABEBIN - A
ERFEHEBEAZZTERER

RS EL
ARBNE M BRRIRIBEABER
FEVBREEN(FEYHREE
Bl REBEGIE 6228 A REHIZ R
TEFTRE © A IR TR L A
S WREAIH N ESREERIZ
REFEINABSEFENEREENER
(MEHARFEFE)ER °

RENTE BB BRE EANMBERE
AEBRETERG bR MEEAR
ERAAKBN G RRE IFAEL
B o FRORBHEREREN - IR
REFTHEHYBREEEATENS
B WER T XMES -

2.1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Asiaray Media Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2014 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman Islands.
The address of the Company'’s registered office is PO Box
309, Ugland House Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands. The Company'’s shares have been listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
on 15 January 2015.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the development and operations of out-of-
home advertising media, including advertising in airports,
metro lines, billboards and building solutions in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and Hong Kong.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKD"), unless otherwise stated, and have been
approved for issue by the Company’s board of directors
(the “Board”) on 24 March 2017.

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"”) and
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622). The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgment in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 FEETBERBE®R)

21 REBEEE(E)

(a) AEEBFRARIFETRAISETES
INTAREER2016F1 A1 B 2%
FAtA < BB B B R R 2 ERERT ¢

ERUBHREENE 145

HKFRS 14
BAMBHSENE 115
(ERTA)

Amendment to HKFRS 11

ARG ENF 16 R REBGT
AERIZE 38 5% (18R] A)
Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38
BRMBRELERE 105
BAMBHREENFE 125K R
ARG ERE 2898 (BF]AN)
Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28
BEGRTERIE 275 (BT A)
2014 FFEBuE
Amendments to HKAS 27
Annual improvements 2014
— BB BHREERNESTHR
({&5T4)
— Amendment to HKFRS 5

— BB HREERNET R
({&5T4)
— Amendment to HKFRS 7
— BB GEERE 195 (BFT &)
— Amendment to HKAS 19
— BAGERIE 3458 (IBFTA)
— Amendment to HKAS 34
ARG ERE 1R
HKAS 1

R ZSET T LY A AR RETA

EHRMELEATZE T TKRARERYE
RIRHAR e

HAEEREBERAR 20165#H 84

2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@) New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The following amendments to standards have been
adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial
year beginning on or after 1 January 2016:

AUTHEHSE 2%
BB SR LR
Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

EERLRA 201651 A1H

Regulatory deferral accounts 1 January 2016

WiEE & XEm 2z @5t iRIE 20161 A1 H

Accounting for acquisitions of interests in 1 January 2016
joint operation

BBYTE R 2 AR TTA 20161 A1 H

Clarification of acceptable methods of 1 January 2016
depreciation and amortisation

RARRE 20161 A1H

Investment entities 1 January 2016

BN B 2 A 20161 A1H

Equity method in separate 1 January 2016
financial statements

FIEHENIERBDEEMERILEE XK 201651 H1H

Non-current assets held for sale and 1 January 2016

discontinued operations
SEBMIE: BT

Financial instruments: Disclosures

BERA

Employee benefits

R S S

Interim financial reporting

EETE 20161 A1H
Disclosure initiative 1 January 2016

The adoption of these amendments did not have any
impact on the current period or any prior period and is
not likely to affect future periods.



S OtEAFEERFTMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1
(b)
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2.1
(b)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

The following new standards, amendments and
interpretations have been issued but are not effective for
the financial year beginning on 1 January 2016, and have
not been early adopted by the Group.

o Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 on sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture were originally intended
to be effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016, but the effective date has now
not been determined.

. Amendments to HKAS 12 on income taxes is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2017. This change in accounting standards
is expected to have no significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

o Amendments to HKAS 7 on statement of cash flows
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017. This change in accounting
standards is expected to have no significant effect
on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

o HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018. The new standard addresses the classification,
measurement and derecognition of financial assets
and financial liabilities, introduces new rules for
hedge accounting and a new impairment model for
financial assets.

While the Group has yet to undertake a detailed
assessment of the classification and measurement of
financial assets, equity instruments currently
classified as available-for-sale investment, for which
a fair value through profit or loss election is
available.
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S OtEAFEHRFRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 IFTEESTBEHEESR) 2 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 FHREEE) 2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)  HRERANE (b) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

(Continued)
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There will be no impact on the Group's accounting
for financial liabilities, as the new requirements only
affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are
designated at fair value through profit or loss and
the group does not have any such liabilities.

The new hedge accounting rules will align the
accounting for hedging instruments more closely
with risk management practices. As a general rule,
more hedge relationships might be eligible for
hedge accounting, as the standard introduces a
more principles-based approach.

The new impairment model requires the recognition
of impairment provisions based on expected credit
losses rather than only incurred credit losses as is
the case under HKAS 39. It applies to financial
assets classified at amortised cost, contract assets
under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, lease receivables, loan commitments
and certain financial guarantee contracts. While the
Group has not yet undertaken a detailed assessment
of how its impairment provisions would be affected
by the new model, it may result in an earlier
recognition of credit losses.

The new standard also introduces expanded
disclosure requirements and changes in
presentation. These are expected to change the
nature and extent of the Group's disclosures about
its financial instruments particularly in the year of the
adoption of the new standard.

At this stage, the new standard is not expected to
apply until the financial year of 2018.
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2.1
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2.1
(b)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018. This will replace HKAS 18 which
covers contracts for goods and services and HKAS
11 which covers construction contracts. The new
standard is based on the principle that revenue is
recognised when control of a good or service
transfers to a customer. The standard permits either
a full retrospective or a modified retrospective
approach for the adoption.

Management is currently assessing the effects of
applying the new standard on the Group’s financial
statements and has estimated the following area
that is likely to be affected:

J revenue from service — the application of
HKFRS 15 may result in the identification of
separate performance obligations which could
affect the timing of the recognition of revenue;
and

J accounting for certain costs incurred in
fulfilling a contract — certain costs which are
currently expensed may need to be
recognised as an asset under HKFRS 15.

At this stage, the Group is not able to estimate the
impact of the new rules on the Group's financial
statements. The Group will make more detailed
assessments of the impact over the next twelve
months. The new standard is not expected to apply
until the financial year of 2018.
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2.1
(b)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The new standard will result in almost all leases
being recognised on the balance sheet, as the
distinction between operating and finance leases is
removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the
right to use the leased item) and a financial liability
to pay rentals are recognised. The only exceptions
are short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly
change.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for
Group's operating leases. As at the reporting date,
the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of HKD3,217,390,000 (Note 37).
However, the Group has not yet determined to what
extent these commitments will result in the
recognition of an asset and a liability for future
payments and how this will affect the Group's profit
and classification of cash flows.

Some of the commitments may be covered by the
exception for short-term and low value leases and
some commitments may relate to arrangements that
will not qualify as leases under the new standard.

At this stage, the new standard is not expected to
apply until the financial year of 2019.
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2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)

over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and

has the ability to affect those returns through its power

over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the

date on which control is transferred to the Group. They

are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(a)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to
account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in
the event of liquidation are measured at either fair
value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement
are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 39 in profit. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired
in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform with the group's
accounting policies.
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2.

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(b)  Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries

without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with
the owners in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

(c) Disposals of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequent accounting for the
retained interest as an associate or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. It means
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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2.3

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the group has
significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50%
of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.
The group’s investments in associates include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference
between the cost of the associate and the group’s share
of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in profit or loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that investments in
associates are impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to
“share of results of investments in associates” in profit or
loss.
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2.3

(a)

(b)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and its
associate are recognised in the Group’s financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates
are recognised in profit or loss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company
("Executive Directors”).

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKD, which is the
Company’s functional currency and the Group’s
presentation currency. The Company’s Hong Kong and
PRC subsidiaries regard HKD and Renminbi (“RMB”) as
their respective functional currencies.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.
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25
(b)

(c)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented
in profit or loss within ‘finance income or cost’. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in profit
or loss within ‘other gains/(losses), net'.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-
monetary financial assets, such as equities classified as
available for sale, are included in other comprehensive
income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all Group's entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that balance sheet;

(i)  Income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) All resulting exchange differences are recognised as
a separate component of other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign
operations are taken to other comprehensive
income.
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(d)

2.6

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation), all of
the currency translation differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the
Group losing control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, the proportionate share of
accumulated currency translation differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
costs less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment charge. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:
Leasehold improvements ~ Shorter of remaining

lease term or useful lives

Motor vehicles 5 years

Furniture and office 3-5 years
equipment

Advertising fixtures 3-10 years

Buildings 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.
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2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.11).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within ‘other gains/(losses), net’ in profit or
loss.

Construction-in-progress

Construction-in-progress represents advertising fixtures
under construction and is stated at cost. This includes the
costs of construction, and interest charges arising from
borrowings used to finance these assets during the period
of construction or installation and testing. When the
assets concerned are available for use, the costs are
transferred to property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policies as stated
above.

Land use rights

Land use rights represents payment of land use rights to
the PRC’s land bureau. Land use rights is carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impaired losses.
Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of land use
rights on a straight-line basis over the periods of right
which is 40 years.

Investment properties

Properties that are held for long-term rental yields, and
that are not occupied by the Group, are classified as
investment properties.

Investment properties are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment charge, if any.
They are depreciated using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful life of 20 years. Subsequent
expenditure is charged to the carrying amount of the
asset only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group
and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. All
other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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2.

2.10

2.1

2.12
(a)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use
the specific software, and are amortised over their
estimated useful lives of five years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet
available for use are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets. The
classification depends on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired, management'’s intentions
and whether the assets are quoted in an active market.
Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are those designated at fair value through profit or
loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in this
category if so designated by the directors of the
Company. Assets in this category are classified as
current assets if expected to be settled within 12
months; otherwise, they are classified as non-
current.
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2.

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Classification (Continued)

(i)  Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They are included in
current assets, except for the amounts that are
settled or expected to be settled more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period. The
Group's loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and
other receivables excluding prepayments’, ‘short-
term deposits’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in
the consolidated balance sheet.

(i) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated in this category or not
classified in any other category. They are included
in non-current assets unless investment matures or
management intends to dispose of the investment
within 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of investments are
recognised on trade-date — the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are
initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for
all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit
or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit
or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction
costs are expensed in the statement of comprehensive
income. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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212
(b)

2.13

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and measurement (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’
category are presented in the statement of
comprehensive income within ‘other gains/(losses), net’ in
the period in which they arise. Dividend income from
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as
part of other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary
securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale financial
assets are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in other comprehensive income
are included in profit or loss as net losses from available-
for-sale financial assets.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using
the effective interest method is recognised in profit or
loss as part of other income. Dividends on available-for-
sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss as
part of other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis or realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.
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2.

2.14
(a)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment
losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss
event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where
observable data indicate that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying
amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. If a loan
has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical
expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the
basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable
market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.14
(b)

2.15

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assets classified as available-for-sale financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired.

For debt securities, if any such evidence exists the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in profit or loss — is removed from equity and
recognised in profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the
fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-
sale financial assets increases and the increase can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

For equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the security below its cost is also
evidence that the assets are impaired. If any such
evidence exists the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit or loss — is removed from
equity and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognised in profit or loss on equity instruments are not
reversed through profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers or
agents for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and
other receivables is expected in one year or less, they are
classified as current assets. Otherwise, they are presented
as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.
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2.

2.16

2.17

2.18

2.19

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less. Bank deposits with original maturities over three
months but less than one year are classified as short-term
deposits.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or share
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost. Any difference between
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in profit or loss over their period using
the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
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2.

2.20

2.21

(a)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

For a borrowing that is specifically for the purpose of
obtaining a qualifying asset, the amounts of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation are the actual borrowing
costs incurred on that borrowing during the year less any
investment income on the temporary investment of these
borrowings.

For the other borrowings related to acquisition,
construction and production of a qualifying asset, the
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation shall
be the lower of the actual borrowing costs incurred and
the amount of qualifying asset not financed by specific
borrowings multiplying capitalisation rate. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average interest rate of
these borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company'’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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2.21
(b)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if
it arises from initial recognition of goodwill or the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss is
affected. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except for deferred income
tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable to
control the reversal of the temporary difference for
associates. Only when there is an agreement in place that
gives the group the ability to control the reversal of the
temporary difference in the foreseeable future, deferred
tax liability in relation to taxable temporary differences
arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is not
recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries and associates only to the extent that it is
probable the temporary difference will reverse in the
future and there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can be utilised.



S OtEAFEERFTMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.21
(c)

2.22
(a)

(b)

ERETBRBE @)

[0

EVEREEF G BL (42)

HiH
EEEEARVMITEOBERHEAE
EREHMHRARELRE - BRTHMEN
BERBESRFA—HEHENERY
BN TRERAERBBURHAER
BAERBRFRENER R SELEH
BREENABEGREH -

l
wf

. Q
A BR—TERASEE - A
B S AS B E MY R T — B L A
B - WEZESNE N BEHRREY
BERANEERNINMEREREF

AEEY ERERMEEREMNE—F

B R o

L

AN
/1

= o

v\

8%
th
##

&l

%HFF FI}

‘—H»

AEENTEMBERRLBBHNER
DRl AHZHE ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ&%%m
S8 B RTE R AT BIEH HK - R H
i& AEEBEEMNREL - #H3R

U%%ﬁ?ﬁﬁéﬁﬂ%i o B Ff

R AFHEE E B B A BB AR P
HFE&%EE - EEH R R G S
MEERBTBEBNGEREEESH
B RERFGTEMEERAKRENE
EDR -

1E 8 JE= RE
Eé\gﬁﬁfﬁxm%ﬂﬁﬁéﬁﬁgﬁzﬁ%

R AEBREBEEREHRRILEREE
RERBMEE 2 FR AR EED
BE - BB 2R RERNME S XHUE
HARE 5 TR

2.21
(c)

2.22
(a)

(b)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is
an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Employee benefits

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity.
The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group's PRC subsidiaries and Hong Kong subsidiaries
contribute on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution plans and the mandatory provident fund plan
in Hong Kong, respectively. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due. Assets of the plans of
the PRC subsidiaries are held and managed by the
relevant PRC government authorities; while assets of the
plans of the Hong Kong subsidiaries are held in separate
trustee-administrated funds in Hong Kong. The assets of
the plans are separated from those of the Group.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick and
matemity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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2.

2.23
(a)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-
based compensation plans, under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments of the Group. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant of
the options is recognised as an expense. The total
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to
the fair value of the options granted:

o including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified time period);

and

o including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(for example, the requirement for employees to
save or holding shares for a specified period of
time).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
vest based on the non-marketing performance and
service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision
to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with
a corresponding adjustment to equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may
provide services in advance of the grant date and
therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for the
purposes of recognising the expense during the period
between service commencement period and grant date.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new
shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital
and share premium.
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2.23
(a)

(b)

2.24

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

If an equity award is cancelled by forfeiture, when the
vesting conditions (other than market conditions) have
not been met, any expense not yet recognised for that
award, as at the date of forfeiture, is treated as if it had
never been recognised. At the same time, any expense
previously recognised on such cancelled equity awards
are reversed from the accounts effective as at the date of
forfeiture.

Share-based payment transactions among group entities
The grant by the company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings
in the group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair
value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over
the vesting period as an increase to investment in
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the parent entity accounts.

Warrant Reserve

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by a
fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of the Company's
own equity instruments are equity instruments. The
consideration from the issue of warrants are recognised in
equity (warrant reserve). The warrant reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share premium accounts
upon the exercise of the warrants. When the warrants are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the warrant reserve will be
transferred to accumulated profits.
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2.

2.25

2.26

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow of resources will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if
the likelihood of an outflow of resources with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Revenue recognition

The Group’s revenue is primarily derived from rendering
advertising display and production, installation and
dismantling services on the Group’s media networks,
primarily in airports, metro lines and billboards and
buildings solutions. Revenue is measured at the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable, and
represents amounts receivable for services rendered,
stated net of discounts and value-added taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities as described
below. The Group bases its estimates on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customer, the type
of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
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2.26
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(b)

(c)

(d)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Advertising display services

Revenue from advertising display services is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the performance period for
which the advertisements are displayed.

Advertising production, installation and dismantling
services

Revenue from advertising production, installation and
dismantling services is recognised when the related
services are rendered.

Multiple element arrangements

The Group offers certain arrangements whereby a
customer can purchase advertising display services
together with the related advertising production,
installation and dismantling services. Where such multiple
element arrangements exist, the total arrangement
consideration is allocated to each element based on their
relative fair values, as determined based on the current
market price of each of the elements when sold
separately.

When the Group is unable to determine the fair value of
each of the elements in an arrangement, it uses the
residual value method. Under this method, the Group
determines the fair value of the delivered element by
deducting the fair value of the undelivered element from
the contract consideration.

To the extent that there is a discount on the arrangement,
such discount is allocated between the elements of the
contract in such a manner as to reflect the fair value of the
elements.

Rental income

Rental income from operating lease of properties is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.
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2.

2.26
(e)

2.27

2.28

2.29

2.30

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Principal versus agent consideration

The Group derives certain revenue from advertising
display and production, installation and dismantling
services through agents, and pays fixed percentages of
revenue as commissions to these agents. The Group has
evaluated the roles and responsibilities of the Group and
the agents in rendering the relevant services and
concluded that the Group takes the primary
responsibilities in rendering services and has the sole
latitude in establishing prices. Accordingly, the Group
records the revenue derived through the agents on a
gross basis, and the commissions paid to the agents are
recorded as sales commissions included in selling and
marketing expenses.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method. When a loan and receivable is impaired, the
Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable
amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted
at the original effective interest rate of the instrument,
and continues unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired loans and receivables is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

Government grants

Grants from government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grants will
be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Advertising consulting service
Revenue from rendering consulting service is recognised
when the services are rendered.
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2.31

2.32

2.33

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Concession fee charges for advertising spaces

The Group enters into concession right agreements with
media resources owners such as metro lines and airports,
under which the Group obtains the right to use the media
resources owners’ spaces for the display of the
advertisements. The concession rights agreements under
which significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by media resources owners are
treated as operating lease arrangements.

The concession fees payable to media resources owners
were typically comprised of a minimum guaranteed
amount with yearly escalation and/or a percentage share
of the revenue earned from the operations (the
commission fees). The minimum guaranteed concession
fees with yearly escalation are charged to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the agreement periods and the
commission fees were recognised in the period in which
they are actually incurred.

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by lessors are classified
as operating leases. Payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.

Dividends distribution

Dividends distribution to the shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the consolidated financial statement in the
period in which the dividend is approved by the
shareholders or the Board, where appropriate.
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(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risk factors: market risk (including foreign exchange risk,
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk
management is carried out by the senior management of
the Group and approved by the Board.

Market risk

0]

Foreign exchange risk

The Group's PRC subsidiaries carried out their
operations activities in the PRC with all of the
transactions denominated in RMB. As the
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject
to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government, the
directors of the Company consider no significant
exposure on the foreign exchange risk. The
exchange differences arising upon translation of net
assets of subsidiaries with functional currencies in
RMB to HKD are recognised as currency translation
differences and recorded as part of other
comprehensive income.

As less than 10% of the Group's foreign currency
transactions are denominated in other foreign
currencies, the directors are of the view that foreign
exchange risk in relation to transactions
denominated in other foreign currencies is low.
Therefore, no sensitivity analysis for these currencies
is presented.
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3.1
(a)

Borrowings at fixed rate
Borrowings at floating rate

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group's interest rate risk arises from interest-
bearing short-term deposits and bank borrowings.
Short-term deposits and bank borrowings issued at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. Bank borrowings at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Other than interest-bearing short-term deposits, the
Group has no other significant interest-bearing
assets. The directors of the Company do not
anticipate there is any significant impact to interest-
bearing assets resulted from the changes in interest
rates, because the interest rates of short-term
deposits are not expected to change significantly.

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Group's
interest-bearing borrowings at variable rates and
fixed rates were as follows:

M®12H31H

As at 31 December
2016 F 20154
2016 2015
F#&T FHT
HKD'000 HKD'000
32,420 -
34,528 23,557
66,948 23,557
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3. UHEREBREE@) 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 HXERBREZEE) 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) TEER &) (@)  Market risk (Continued)
iy BERERAFEFRRERE) (i)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (Continued)

H Z= 20165 K% 201512 A31 H
IEFE - MERNZEFE L
Ft/ TERS0EES - mATAHM
SERHBTE  BREEABES
23 TEHNFBFERERD
MEFZ EFTRRATE - &1k
BT

For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015,
if the floating interest rate on borrowings had been
higher/lower by 50 basis points with all other
variables held constant, the post-tax profit would
have changed mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expenses on floating rate borrowings.
Details of changes are as follows:

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
2016 &

2015
2015
T 7T
HKD’000

2016
FTExT
HKD’000

CRid),/#hn (Decrease)/increase
— EFASOEES — 50 basis points higher (141) (95)
— T P& 50 B Z 25 — 50 basis points lower 141 95

H Z= 20165 K% 201512 A31 H
IFFE - MERNEEREE
Ft/ TERS0EES - mATAHM
BERBTE  BRNAFER
2EE) FEARTEEBROF
BN EFTERRATE - #1b5t
EmT

For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015,
if the fixed interest rate on borrowings had been
higher/lower by 50 basis points with all other
variables held constant, the fair value of the
borrowings would have changed mainly as a result
of higher/lower interest expenses on fixed rate
borrowings. Details of changes are as follows:

M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2016 &

2015
2015
T
HKD'000

2016
FHT
HKD’000

CRid),/#hn (Decrease)/increase
— EFASOEEE — 50 basis points higher (24) -
— T B& 50 A2, — 50 basis points lower 24 -
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3.1
(a)

(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii)  Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk because of
investments held by the Group, which are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and available-for-sale financial assets. The Group is
not exposed to commodity price risk.

The sensitivity analysis is determined based on the
exposure to price risk of the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and available-for-sale
financial assets at the end of each reporting period.
If the fair values of the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss held by the Group had been
5% higher/lower, post-tax profit would be
approximately, HKD189,000 and HKD 162,000
higher/lower, for the years ended 31 December
2016 and 2015, respectively. If the fair values of the
available-for-sale financial assets held by the Group
had been 5% higher/lower, the other
comprehensive income would be approximately
HKD348,000 and HKD2,377,000 higher/lower, for
the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015,
respectively.

Credlit risk

Credit risk mainly arises from short-term deposits,
restricted cash, bank balances, trade and other
receivables excluding prepayments, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial
assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial
asset in the consolidated balance sheets.

The credit risk of short-term deposits, restricted cash and
bank balances is limited because the counterparties are
state-owned or reputable commercial banks which are
high-credit-quality financial institutions in the PRC and
Hong Kong.
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3.1
(b)

(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customers’ past history of making payment when due
and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer. The Group does not
obtain collateral from customers. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the default risk is considered
to be low.

For other receivables excluding prepayments,
management makes periodic collective assessments as
well as individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables based on historical settlement records
and past experience. The directors of the Company
believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in the
Group's outstanding balance of other receivables.

The credit risk on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets is
limited because the counterparties are reputable and
creditworthy banks.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group’s finance department maintains
flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate cash and
cash equivalents.
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Borrowings
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Total
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3.1
(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet date to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

SME

Less than

122F
Between 1
and 2 years
TAT
HKD'000

2E5F SELE @zt
Between 2 Over
and 5 years 5 years Total
TR THET TET
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

1 year
TAL
HKD'000

63,103 1,329 3,594 858 68,884
334,077 - - - 334,077
397,180 1,329 3,594 858 402,961

17,666 1,564 4,164 2,111 25,505
366,507 - - - 366,507
384,173 1,564 4,164 2,111 392,012

3.2 Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns to the shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to the
shareholders, return capital to the shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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3.3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Capital management (Continued)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and
non-current borrowings’ as shown in the consolidated
balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents.

As the Group's cash and cash equivalents balances
exceeded its borrowings balances at the end of each
reporting period, the directors of the Company consider
the Group's capital risk is low.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at
fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have
been defined as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).
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Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group's assets that are
measured at fair value at 31 December 2016:

F1R

Level 1

FE28R
Level 2
THER
HKD'000

E3M
Level 3
THER
HKD'000

gt
Total
THER
HKD’000

TER
HKD'000

— Non-quoted investment in

key-man life insurance
policies
Available-for-sale financial
assets
— Non-quoted investments
in certain bond funds

AEEFE T

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
— Non-quoted investment
in key-man life
insurance policies
Available-for-sale financial
assets
— Quoted investments
in certain bond funds
— Non-quoted investments
in certain bond funds

= - 4,537 4,537
= - 8,346 8,346
- - 12,883 12,883

The following table presents the Group's assets that are
measured at fair value at 31 December 2015:

F1H
Level 1

E2
Level 2
FHET
HKD'000

F3IM
Level 3
FAT
HKD'000

Fy
Total
FHT
HKD’000

TAT
HKD'000

- - 3,877 3877
49,027 - - 49,027

- - 7,899 7,899
49,027 - 11,776 60,803
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3. UHEREBREE@) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 AFEREE#E) 3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
it —IE 5% %% T8 & A B A BRI SEEL A A] If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
BRmMGEE - BIZTEBASEIH - observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.
FBIRREIRATFEERD A 2HEIL There were no significant transfers of financial assets
BERNCREESER o between level 1 and level 3 fair value hierarchy
classifications.
T 5 2 % & £ 20164 %2015 12 A The following table presents the changes in level 3
BMBLIEFEMNEIRTANEL instruments for the year ended 31 December 2016 and
2015:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2016 F 2015 4

2016 2015
TR TAT
HKD’000 HKD’000

FAEAEASRENKRE . Investment in key-man life insurance policies:

®1B1H At 1 January 3,877 3,735
NE Additions 588 587
AEEW S (EE) Fair value gains/(losses) 72 (445)
M12A31H At 31 December 4,537 3,877

REREFR [Eblz~ Total gains/(losses) included in profit or loss
(BE) T8I BT for assets held at the end of the reporting
EEFFABRNNE year, under ‘other gains/(losses), net’
(E8B) B 72 (445)

BZ12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December

2016 F 2015 4F
2016 2015
TFHExT FATT
HKD'000 HKD'000
ETEHFEEHNRE . Investment in certain bond funds:
m1B1H8 At 1 January 7,899 8,734
NEFz(EB1E) Fair value gains/(losses) 447 (835)
MN12831H At 31 December 8,346 7,899
MNREERTIFEE Total gains/(losses) included in the other
FTARfbER S WY comprehensive income for assets held
W/ (B1E) B at the end of the reporting year 447 (835)
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(a)

BEREREE )
AFERE(E
JFEWCRIE R E S IR R ENH A A FE
AR ERERREBERRERSE - AR
WENTEEENATEIZRES R
T A DA 535 e A B0 T 35 1 2R AL 3R
RRELVRSTEMFT S - BRIEALR
RFEITERXN - ANETEAFES
AEZENEREERJHEESHE
EZATENGBEREREANREFE
BRPTEE1T ©

BAR S 5w & I

REEF A G RHE - WA
RakEMAR(BRERREHNE
IRTRHER) (R T S I -

W B o e L At P LK SR TR R (B B A

JRE L2 AR R e L At JRE LS SR TE R (B T R A
JRE L2 AR R % L At JRE LS 3K T T 75 U B 14 1
o BAIRRR - HEREEENHE
Ki&Er - B RBHRBETRAEE T
BB EIETE - BIMEL B - MERER
i — M TEBA IR R LG - BlE
B = B S AR A R R R E R
EE - RORF X B0E8 sk % B FE ISR IE R
EREEMTE - REANSEHERER
R R EL A W R B AT U B M B R A - A
20164 22015412 A 31 B & Bl 5t &
e AR 3R R E At FE U T R R B R T 4
24,584,000 7T } 24,939,000 7T °

(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

The carrying values less impairment provision of the
current portion of receivables and payables are a
reasonable approximation of their fair values. The fair
value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows
at the current market interest rate that is available to the
Company for similar financial instruments, unless the
effect of discounting is immaterial. Details of the valuation
technique and significant assumptions utilised in
determining the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial
assets are set out in Note 11.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

Impairment of trade and other receivables is made based
on an assessment of the recoverability of trade and other
receivables. The identification of doubtful debts requires
management’s judgment and estimates. Provision is
made when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect the debts. Where the actual
outcome or further expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying
value of the receivables and the amount of doubtful debt
expenses or write-back of provision for impairment of
receivables in the period in which such estimate has been
changed. Based on the Group’s assessment on the
collectability of trade and other receivables, impairment
provision of approximately HKD24,584,000 and
HKD24,939,000 was provided against them as at 31
December 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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(b)

KA HEEREBERAF

BARESH AT R H M (&)

ENHA AR FE A 15 Bt
REBAES T AVEAEREMFAEH -
ERRXBBRETERSZRXHRENHT
RERKHEERE - EEE R ERDEER
PISHBER  AEERZELEEH
B - I F M REV B R E KL
ABRNEBETR - R EER B EE
B B TE 2 HIR B0 AT S Bt SRR IR
B -

AKBRETERTALAREETR
ERBRIBR Rt (bR BRBURE
BRTHAERELEGEDA) B
BEFEBAR - WRBLEHEHAE
T ESREEEHSAHASRNAT
) RBLFRI 5 7 I 2 e YRR I
Bt -

R20165F12 A31 8 - REBEFBEWE
A A KR B & F 4980,374,0007% JT
(2015 4F : 36,250,000/ 7T ) i& & & F
AR SEANEM AR S 2 AR A R) » B R
ELIRERTE B EEE - Bt - BHI
LR EHTEKNBARRBIEREE
2 MEREEREHFINE S BRA
et - ZEBFRITRERIFTSET
H R R BIRINE MRS Z SRR A R o

20168 122

(b)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are many transactions and events for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Significant judgment is
required from the Group in determining the provision for
income taxes in each of these jurisdictions. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

The Group recognises deferred income tax assets based
on estimates that it is probable to generate sufficient
taxable profits in the foreseeable future against which the
unutilised tax losses and the deductible temporary
differences would be utilised. The recognition of deferred
income tax assets mainly involved management'’s
judgments and estimations about the timing and the
amount of taxable profits of the companies which had tax
losses.

As at 31 December 2016, the retained earnings of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries not yet remitted to the holding
companies incorporated outside PRC, for which no
deferred tax liability had been provided, were
approximately HKD80,374,000 (2015: HKD36,250,000).
Such earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC
subsidiaries for reinvestment purposes and would not be
remitted to their holding companies incorporated outside
PRC in the foreseeable future based on management’s
estimation of overseas funding requirements.



S OtEAFEERFTMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEHER

BREBEARERIITES - ITES
EFAEBA NI RE AT HERE LD
BEER ERECREZSHEETE
B

ﬁﬁ%%%é&%ﬁf%f%%'ﬁ%
EREEER THEEDE

— BEEDT — KERSESIRG

— MEEER — KenmEERES
R R

— EERRXERIZEES — &%
EEEERAEAEESNESR
1% e

HITESIERBEZEDHNRAR
EMFELEDRORER - RFER > K
Elﬁﬁiﬁﬂm¢ﬁﬁﬁ&§%@

o HE RN SRR ANTRAX S
XML%%%% SELHHKFKA - E
HIWARRAEBELERREDEERK
AP RERIAT A D SRR ER
% o Hp A - Efpdeas (BHR) - %
B BMEBEEA FERMESH(HA
X))/ BRI AAETEREED -

BEANTEFRUSBEERARE
%o

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Executive Directors. The Executive Directors review
the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on these
reports.

The Executive Directors considered the business from
product perspective, and determined that the Group has
the following operating segments:

— Airports business — operation of advertising
services in airports;

— Metro lines business — operation of advertising
services in metro lines; and

— Billboards and building solutions — operation of
advertising services on billboards and building
solutions.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the
operating segments mainly based on revenue and gross
profit of each operating segment. All of the businesses of
the Group are carried out in Mainland China and Hong
Kong during the year. Selling and marketing expenses
and administrative expenses are common costs incurred
for the operating segments as a whole and therefore they
are not included in the measure of the segments’
performance which is used by the chief operating
decision-maker as a basis for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.
Other income, other gains/(losses), net, finance income,
net and income tax (expense)/credit are also not allocated
to individual operating segment.

There is no segment assets and liabilities information
provided to the Executive Directors.
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5. Z2EERE 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
EBAEES TN HERET ¢ The segment information for the operating segments is as
follows:

EEER

HEE KERIE

BIZ 3T E 3 BE
Billboards

Metro and

Airports lines building

business business  solutions (0],1-133 Total
THET FExT THER THET FTERT

HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD'000

HZE 2016 F Year ended

12A31ALEE 31 December 2016
N Revenue 685,434 457,843 157,867 169,651 1,470,795
NI TN Cost of revenue (541,974) (353,131) (138,312) (146,895) (1,180,312)
ES ] Gross profit 143,460 104,712 19,555 22,756 290,483

HE RTIHHE Selling and marketing

53 expenses (126,638)
THAX Administrative expenses (149,995)
HagA Other income 12,257
Hihlas - F8 Other gains, net 22,992
REFH Operating profit 49,099
BE WA Finance income 2,869
BhERCA Finance costs (2,545)
BEWA - FEE Finance income, net 324
DIEREEEAFIA  Share of results of

HEEE investments in

associates 5,255 - - - 5,255
B Fr 18 % 51 A8 Profit before income tax 54,678
FTE A= Income tax expense (14,573)
FEFHE Profit for the year 40,105

HOEEEEERRAG  2016FH 124



S{HEAFEIRFZHIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. 2EERE) 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

BEEER

g  KERE

HeI5 375 ) BE
Billboards

Metro and

Airports lines building
business business solutions Others Total
AT FAxT AT FHET AT
HKD’000 HKD’'000  HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD’000

HZE20155F Year ended

12A3MBLLEE 31 December 2015
WA Revenue 628,957 424,829 160,888 191,619 1,406,293
NP EN Cost of revenue (438,332) (359,883) (146,199) (171,483) (1,115,897)
EF Gross profit 190,625 64,946 14,689 20,136 290,396

HE RS E Selling and marketing

A expenses (100,553)
TR X Administrative expenses (166,744)
HaagA Other income 12,758
HbEE - F5 Other losses, net (52,393)
REEE Operating loss (16,536)
B WA Finance income 5,576
BE AR Finance costs (3,222)
BMEWRA - FE Finance income, net 2,354
DIEREE N EIH)  Share of results of

BEFEE investments in

associates 8,177 - - - 8,177
MRS HRATEE Loss before income tax (6,005)
SRR E Income tax credit 3,809
FEEE Loss for the year (2,196)
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5. 7HE&ERE) 5.

WABIEATEIE :

EEEMABA
BEERE - ZERIFEHRA

REBWARMEDMHEAT -

Mainland China
Hong Kong

B ARE
&

AEBBRAERERR HEBREIMNEFE
BAASKER AR 10% A £ ©

AREBMOERHEE (SR T A RIEL
FIBHEERINMLRARREKRERSE
7 BB

Mainland China

EEN S
) Hong Kong

aE
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Advertising display revenue
Advertising production, installation and
dismantling revenue

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue consisted of the following:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 2015 €
2016 2015
FHBxT FHIT
HKD’000 HKD'000
1,333,390 1,277,497
137,405 128,796
1,470,795 1,406,293

The geographical distribution of the Group's revenue was
as follows:

BZ12831HLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 F 2015 €
2016 2015
THxT THEIT
HKD'000 HKD'000
1,150,118 1,098,405
320,677 307,888
1,470,795 1,406,293

The Group has a large number of customers, none of
which contributed 10% or more of the Group's total
revenue.

The Group’s non-current assets other than financial
instruments and deferred income tax assets were located
in Mainland China and Hong Kong as follows:

M12H31H

As at 31 December
2016 2015 4
2016 2015
F#&T T
HKD'000 HKD'000
158,434 151,633
7,679 2,735
166,113 154,368
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6.

M - BEKRE

HZ2015%12831A
LEE
HEEEFE

RE

bk

e

ERME R

HREEFE

R2015%12A31H
RA
ZitinE

REFE

HZ2016512831H
LEE

HREEE

RE

BERIIRER

ik
&
REREER
HREE#E

R2016%12A31H
A
ZitinE

REFE

At 1 January 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended

31 December 2015
Opening net book amount
Additions
Depreciation
Disposals
Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended
31 December 2016
Opening net book amount
Additions
Transfer from
construction-in-progress
Depreciation
Disposals
Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2016
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BEN

Buildings
TEL
HKD'000

RERE

Advertising
fixtures
TEL
HKD'000

i
ES

Leasehold
improvements
TEL
HKD'000

-

Motor
vehicles
T
HKD'000

BRR
WARE
Furniture
and office
equipment
THT
HKD'000

ast

Total
THT
HKD'000

19129 145,648 4,925 10,930 26,702 207,334
(464) (99,843) (3,200) (8,256) (12,053) (123,816)
18,665 45,805 1,125 2,674 14,649 83,518
18,665 45,805 1,725 2,674 14,649 83,518
42 11,79 2452 921 1,675 16,886
(894) (23,34¢) (1,077) (1.352) (4,896) (31,565)

- (115) (22) (189) (426) (752)
(1,057) (2.217) (100) (97) (632) (4,103)
16,756 31,923 2,978 1,957 10,370 63,984
18,052 148,369 7,083 11,008 25997 210,509
(1,296) (116,44¢) (4,105) (9,051) (15,627) (146,525)
16,756 31,923 2,978 1,957 10,370 63,984
16,756 31,923 2,978 1,957 10,370 63,984
11,386 21,636 1,056 1,659 1,756 37,493
- 38,415 - - - 38,415

(838) (25,526) (1,843) (806) (4,568) (33,581)
- - (169) (407) (151) (727)
(1,503) (3,263) (118) (106) (476) (5,466)
25,801 63,185 1,904 2,297 6,931 100,118
27,818 196,712 7,606 10,428 25,660 268,224
(2,017)  (133,527) (5,702) (8,131) (18,729)  (168,106)
25,801 63,185 1,904 2,297 6,931 100,118

Asiaray Media Group Limited

2016 Annual Report 127



ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. M- BMERRE® 6.
FEHNAHEAKERTE TR
RIBIER :

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Depreciation charges were expensed in the following
categories in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 20154

2016 2015

FET TAET

HKD’000 HKD'000

WA B A Cost of revenue 25,976 24,702
TR 2 Administrative expenses 7,583 6,833
HE R isH ERZ Selling and marketing expenses 22 30
33,581 31,565

R2016412 A31 8 » 24 11,377,000
7 7T (20154F : 12,802,000 7T ) Ky 2 48
¥ {E 56,428,000/ JT(20154 :
8,057,000/ 7T ) HYIR1T & SR AV K18 (B 5%
21) e

As at 31 December 2016, buildings of net book value of
HKD11,377,000 (2015: HKD12,802,000) was pledged as
security for bank borrowings of HKD6,428,000 (2015:
HKD8,057,000) (Note 21).

7. HRIRE 7. CONSTRUCTION-IN-PROGRESS
BZ12A31ALFE
Year ended 31 December

2016 fF 20154
2016 2015
FHET T
HKD'000 HKD'000
REHD At beginning of the year 16,776 =
INE Additions 22,017 17,460
BRI - B KEE Transfer to property, plant and equipment (38,415) =
Bl E Currency translation differences (378) (684)
NER At end of the year - 16,776

R 20164 » 7K 52 (B E 1 3 50 B R 44 35
“HMMBNESREE T TYEES
E QN VENE
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The construction of advertising facilities in Zhengzhou
Xinzheng International Airport Terminal 2 of the Group
completed and transferred to property, plant and
equipment in 2016.
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8.

T b fE AR

LAND USE RIGHTS

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 F 2015 4F
2016 2015
FET TR
HKD’'000 HKD'000
AR EFE Opening net book amount 15,583 16,935
NE Additions 9,113 -
5 Amortisation (414) (421)
EBBREEE Currency translation differences (1,351) (931)
HAREREF A Closing net book amount 22,931 15,583
R12A31R

As at 31 December
2016 20154F
2016 2015
TFE T FAT
HKD’000 HKD’000
(BN Cost 23,863 16,155
BT Accumulated amortisation (932) (572)
BREFE Net book amount 22,931 15,583

H E2016%F M 2015412 A318 1L F
B BHEBTRITERAYRIIERS -

+ b 5 PR P R B R BE - SIEE A o
M2016512 4318 » 214,217,000
7 7T (20154 : 15,583,000 7T ) Hy £ 3
& F # 1F 56,428,000 7T(20154F :
8,057,0008 7T) KIERTTIE R AU (P 5%
21) °

Amortisation charges were expensed in administrative
expenses during the years ended 31 December 2016 and
2015.

Land use rights are located in Mainland China and for
self-use. As at 31 December 2016, land use rights of
HKD14,217,000 (2015: HKD15,583,000) was pledged as
security for bank borrowings of HKD6,428,000 (2015:
HKD8,057,000) (Note 21).
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9. BREWEHE 9. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

WMAOEN

Office units

TAT
HKD’000

At 1 January 2015

D% Cost 1,973
REHINE Accumulated depreciation (1,187)
REFE Net book amount 786
HZ2015F12831HILEE Year ended 31 December 2015

9 AR HE Opening net book amount 786
e Depreciation (92)
BEmEEE Currency translation differences (42)
EARAREDFE Closing net book amount 652
M2015F12A318 At 31 December 2015

DEN Cost 1,857
2EE Accumulated depreciation (1,205)
BRHEFE Net book amount 652
BZ2016F12A31HLFE Year ended 31 December 2016

BIYIEREFE Opening net book amount 652
e Depreciation (86)
BERBmEEE Currency translation differences (38)
HAREREDFE Closing net book amount 528
M®2016512831H At 31 December 2016

DN Cost 1,740
R E Accumulated depreciation (1,212)
BRTEFE Net book amount 528

H E2016F M 2015412 A318 1L F
B ETHRITRAZHIIERY -

Depreciation charges were expensed in administrative
expenses during the year ended 31 December 2016 and
2015.
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9.
(a)

BEWE &) 9. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
REZPERNREYESE (a) Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment
properties

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 20154
2016 2015
THET THETT
HKD’000 HKD’000
KREMENHE WA Rental income from investment
(Kzt27) properties (Note 27) 213 169
EEESWARNIZEYH Direct operating expenses arising from
EANEELERX investment properties that generate
rental income (86) (92)
127 77
R20164F M 2015912 A31H A& As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Group had no un-
BB RL B R M B R T e R A Y provided contractual obligations for future repairs and
BREE- maintenance.
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9. REWHEW

(b) MHEE=ZH
BREMFRUNTEARE - 2 RIRESH
ANESFRKEENEETES - B
ERBAXN - REMET A BHEKE
HEBRTHERSRERSOT

(b)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Leasing arrangements

The investment properties are located in Mainland China
and leased to tenants under operating leases of
approximately 1 to 5 years with rental payable monthly.
Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases of investment properties are receivable
as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December
2016 F 20154F
2016 2015
FET THETT
HKD’'000 HKD’000
1R Within one year 268 100
HRiB 1 FERIBIBSF Later than one year but not
later than 5 years 461 =
729 100

() BREVENATE
2016 F K% 2015412 5318 » REE
W% E %N FE D B4 A&7,408,000
T (AR 6,626,8007T) K 6,557,000
T (ANR#5,493,0007T) © JhEAR
RIEE2BEIAERBEEGBEMLR
PREZETHAREEARETHE
BET - AERAEELEBIRETT I
B Z AR A AL S A T
AEBERTREHE  UER2BEHET
5 ERAE I L EE R 5 - REWER
AREEFERZERARFHEBEFTHE
3 -
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(c)

Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of the Group's investment properties was
approximately HKD7,408,000 (RMB6,626,800) and
HKD6,557,000 (RMB5,493,000) as at 31 December 2016
and 2015, respectively, as determined by the directors of
the Company with reference to the valuation performed
by Beijing Zhong Tian Hua Asset Appraisal Company
Limited St R P R EBEEFHBERE E 2 A, an
independent qualified professional valuer. Valuation was
performed using the direct comparison method on the
assumption that the property can be sold in its existing
state subjected to existing tenancies or otherwise with the
benefit of vacant possession and making references to
comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant
market. The fair value measurement of the investment
properties is categorised within level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy.
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10. B EE

M2015F181H
AR
RTS8

fREFE

BE2015512B831HLLEE
HAFBR T FME

RNE

B E =R

BRER M FE
2015128311

BN
RETHH

FREHE

HZE2016F12A31HLEE
BAYIEREFE

RNE

B =R

HIARREFE
R2016F12A31H
BN

Rt HiH

AR FE

H E2016F M 2015412 A318 1L F
B BT HRITEESRIIERS -

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 1 January 2015
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net book amount
Additions

Amortisation

Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2015
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2016
Opening net book amount
Additions

Amortisation

Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2016
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

BB
Computer
software

TAT
HKD’000

2,231
(1,170)

1,061

1,061
496
(312)
(58)

1,187

2,587
(1,400)

1,187

1,187

1,172
(462)
(55)

1,842

3,601
(1,759)

1,842

Amortisation charges were expensed in administrative
expenses during the year ended 31 December 2016 and

2015.
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ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BAoFEIAEBZRNERE 11. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
ERAHEELHEE PROFIT OR LOSS AND AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
FINANCIAL ASSETS
(a) BRAFEIANEBRENEHEE (a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 20154
2016 2015
FET T
HKD’000 HKD’000
REA At beginning of the year 3,877 3,735
NE Additions 588 587
RIBESHERA A FEUWS,(E518) Fair value gains/(losses) recognised in
(K17t 28) profit or loss (Note 28) 72 (445)
RELK  HHERE At end of the year, all non-current
E¥kEmm and unlisted 4,537 3,877
AT AIBXEN S REEBHRG The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
B AB ASRE - REBARENST represented two key-man life insurance policies. The
HA o B A B AS(RE MR ERYIIE Group is the beneficiary of the insurance policies. The
FARATEIABEENSREE o investments in key-man life insurance policies were
RATEHABRENSMEEATE designated as financial assets at fair value through profit
BB AL A W E g [ E or loss at inception. Changes in fair values of financial
% (E1R) - B - assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in

‘other gains/(losses), net’ in the statement of
comprehensive income.

ETRAERABASRENRENAD Discounted cash flow (“DCF"”) model was applied to
TEREAEEES S (BB R determine the fair value of the investments in key-man life
EDER - BEEA A EEREANSE insurance policies. The significant assumptions and inputs
KEEREAENT : used in the DCF model were as follows:

R12A31H

As at 31 December
2016 F 20154

2016 2015
A mp:s Mortality adjustment 90% 90%
B3R = Discount rate 4.13% 3.50%
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1. BAFEIAERZENEHE 1.
ERAHEESHREE @)
(b) ARHELREE (b)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS AND AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 F 20154

2016 2015

F#&T FHT

HKD'000 HKD'000

REA At beginning of the year 56,926 8,734

INE Additions - 50,000

HeE Disposals (48,976) -
REAMERE WS R AT E Fair value gains/(losses) recognised in

Wk (Ei8) other comprehensive income 396 (1,808)

REL > YRFERBR At end of the year, all non-current
LT and unlisted 8,346 56,926

AR ESREERE TIHREGSE
T RERXHUEREN R FETDERR
TAREMEHE - EHRESEEATR
TERAASBEREETRENER -
ARAREERR  ERRITREZHE
B ATEBSE  ARNEEER&
BENMLE -

BATEINABRRNO SR EE R A #
HESREESDAETTIIE °

RiRE A HPA RN R A EERRSIZ
RNFEIIABEROSHEERATHE
ELREENREE

The available-for-sale financial assets represented certain
unquoted bond funds. The fair values of these traded
investments are based on the statements provided by the
bank. The bond funds were pledged to the bank as
securities for certain facilities granted to the Group. The
directors of the Company believe that the estimated fair
values based on the statements provided by the bank are
reasonable, and that they are the most appropriate values
at the balance sheet date.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in
HKD.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying value of the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial
assets.
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12. RERHETHWEMTE 12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

BRATLEFIA
EMK B RN AHHE
FE W FRIE SREE ctREE
Financial
assets Available-

at fair value for-sale

Loans and through financial
receivables profit or loss assets Total
FET FET FET FHET
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

720165 12H31H At 31 December 2016
JFE Ui B R e LA L Trade and other receivables
FIE(TEEBMNFIE  excuding prepaid taxes and

AE M TER FRIE) other prepayments 447,853 = = 447,853
BAFESAIBZEERN  Financial assets at fair value
TREE through profit or loss - 4,537 = 4,537
At ESREE Available-for-sale financial
assets - - 8,346 8,346
XEHEE Restricted cash 63,552 - - 63,552
HHTR Short-term deposits 46,737 - - 46,737
BekBEeEEY Cash and cash equivalents 217,336 - - 217,336
775,478 4,537 8,346 788,361

M2015512H31H At 31 December 2015
JE U BR 3R % A i Uk Trade and other receivables
FB(TBIEBEMFIE  excluding prepaid taxes and

AR A TEN FRIH) other prepayments 477,902 - - 477,902
RAFEYAIEZEERA  Financial assets at fair value
TREE through profit or loss - 3,877 - 3,877
AHEESREE Available-for-sale financial
assets - - 56,926 56,926
SRR S Restricted cash 81,807 = = 81,807
(SRR Short-term deposits 114,757 - - 114,757
ReEMIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 241,946 = = 241,946
916,412 3,877 56,926 977,215
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12. RERHESHNEMIA®) 12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)
78 ) @i
ABRHERS
Liabilities at
amortised cost
FET
HKD'000
MH2016F12H831H At 31 December 2016
B Borrowings 66,948
JE A< BR R e LA B A< IR Trade and other payables excluding advance
(TMEREREFENRIER received from customers and
HAENFIIR) other taxes payable 334,077
401,025
720155128318 At 31 December 2015
EEN Borrowings 23,557
FEAST BR 3R I EL A FE A 3R IE Trade and other payables excluding advance
(TMEREREFENRER received from customers and
Hith BT FLIE) other taxes payable 366,507
390,064
13. REEEATINIRE 13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
BE12H831HLEE
M®12H31H
Year ended/As at 31 December
2016 20154
2016 2015
THET FET
HKD’000 HKD’'000
FH At beginning of the year 37,938 36,442
JEIL AR Share of results 5,255 8,177
% & Dividend (13,745) (4,068)
BmE =R Currency translation differences (2,451) (2,613)
FR At end of the year 26,997 37,938
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KA HEEREBERAF

13. REFEQRINRE (#)

LA AAREER 20164 12 A 31 B &9
ENaE e NMIBERARMAEBHEERS
A HaMKZBRIBEEZEEH
2 o

BEELR

Name of entity

BEIXPDEEFRAF
(ME2kAMESE D)

Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising
Company Limited
(BRAARSARAT)
(“Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising")

ERERERATERAR
(TEATER )

Guangxi Top Source Media
Company Limited
(REERBREEBRAR)
(“Guangxi Top Source”)

RIS R EFRER AT
(TRYI S R4 )

Shenzhen Airport Asiaray Media
Company Limited
(RS R RERARAR)
(“Shenzhen Airport Asiaray”)

=B L B

2006 4 A 29 H

29 April 2006

201256 H20H

20 June 2012

201349 A 29 H

29 September 2013

13.

Date of incorporation

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31
December 2016. The associates as listed below were held
directly by the Group, their country of incorporation is
also their principal place of business.

mens/

MR L E R FERERLA XBME

Place of business/ Percentage of

country of ownership  Nature of

incorporation interest  business

Y 30% RBERKLESI
s e

The PRC Development and

operations of out-of-
home advertising media

H 40% RBERKLEPIN
EEREE
The PRC Development and

operations of out-of-
home advertising media

H 49% RBERKLEPIN
EEREE
The PRC Development and

operations of out-of-
home advertising media

ZEBERARAEENRKEAIER
o REEEPETRBmHES LT
BHIHE

BERBRHMAR/LART » R EA
BmiE - BEAEAKERE 2 QA
BEMERSREE  BBEQAEE
BEXBNEASETEEKRH

EXREMBERAREEEAES
B HEXERWIBAARAREREERN
e XX A B EM K

ARBEERR  REIRARERS ORI
WEHTRESAKREMEBEKN  ME
AIRRHASBERIL B K -

2016 138

These associates are strategic partners of the Group,
providing access to new customers and markets in
different cities in PRC.

All of the associates are private companies and there are
no market values available for the associates. There are
no significant contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interests in the associates and there are no significant
restrictions on the transfer of assets or earnings from the
associates to the Group.

The English names of the above associates referred to
above represented the best efforts by management of
the Company in translating their Chinese names, as they
do not have official English names.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Fujian
Zhaoxiang Advertising and Shenzhen Airport Asiaray are
material to the Group, while Guangxi Top Source is
immaterial to the Group.



ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. RBEEQRNRE W)
(a) BEREAREHHEEHME

() BEREXHEE

13.

(a)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information for Fujian Zhaoxiang
Advertising:

(i) Summarised balance sheet

M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2016 £ 20154F
2016 2015
F#ET FHT
HKD'000 HKD’'000
B Current
BE Assets 65,526 88,496
afE Liabilities (98,460) (98,488)
REBAEFEAST Total net current liabilities (32,934) (9,992)
EFE Non-current
BE Assets 40,705 51,771
BfE Liabilities (7,006) (8,415)
FRBEEFELS Total net non-current assets 33,699 43,356
BEEFE Net assets 765 33,364

(i) AHEEREXEE

(i) Summarised statement of comprehensive loss

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 F 20154

2016 2015

FER FAT

HKD'000 HKD'000

KA Revenue 92,777 163,250
FEER Loss for the year (31,812) (14,595)
FELREBERSE Total comprehensive loss for the year (32,599) (16,962)
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13. REFEQRINRE (#) 13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
(a) FERIAEEHHBERME: (&) (a) Summarised financial information for Fujian Zhaoxiang
Advertising: (Continued)

(i) BIE R ES AR (iii)  Reconciliation of summarised financial information
2785 &R BEEAREBR Reconciliation of the summarised financial
BEIESNERFEEYR information presented to the carrying amount of the
mE Group's interest in Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising is

as follows:

HBZ128318LLEE

M12H831H
Year ended/As at 31 December
2016 £F 20154
2016 2015
FHET T
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FENEEFE Net assets at beginning of the year 33,364 50,326
FEEE Loss for the year (31,812) (14,595)
Bl =5E Currency translation differences (787) (2,367)
FREEFE Closing net assets 765 33,364
B X B AU REZS (30%) Interest in the associate (30%) 230 10,009
R Goodwill 3,989 4,259
ARMEE Carrying value 4,219 14,268
(b) FINEBHEAENITIEERE - (b) Summarised financial information for Shenzhen Airport
Asiaray:
() BEAEXEE ()  Summarised balance sheet
®12H31H
As at 31 December
2016 F 20154
2016 2015
FHET T
HKD'000 HKD'000
TRE Current
BE Assets 140,372 134,187
aE Liabilities (97,124) (93,242)
REEEFEE Total net current assets 43,248 40,945
IERE Non-current
BE Assets 18,285 15,970
FRBEEFREA Total net non-current assets 18,285 15,970
EEFE Net assets 61,533 56,915
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13.

(b)

REEQRNRE (#)
RY BB OB ERYE ()

(i) HENBREE
WA
FEMNE
FEHZRA KA
(i) FIFEEREEHER

25 B EREBAREER
RYISHEC S R EE S

BRAAT

FHNEEFE
F R
es)
BERMEEE

FREEZRE

AR & A B B 23 (49%)
HApFH% (%)

IREE

(*)  #HZE20165FKk2015F12A31H
IEFE - H b AR Z MR
R I35 A 4 R R I ok
BRDAN(HEAE ] H55%
i BRI R E B
B ERRXSHA -

13.
(b)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information for Shenzhen Airport
Asiaray: (Continued)

(ii)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 FF 20154

2016 2015

FET TET

HKD’'000 HKD'000

Revenue 514,771 408,344

Profit for the year 36,638 34,232
Total comprehensive

income for the year 32,670 31,226

Reconciliation of summarised financial information
Reconciliation of the summarised financial
information presented to the carrying amount of the
Group's interest in Shenzhen Airport Asiaray is as
follows:

(iii)

BZE128318LEE/

M®12H31H
Year ended/As at 31 December
2016 £ 20154F
2016 2015
F#&xT T
HKD'000 HKD’'000
Net assets at beginning of the year 56,915 34,329
Profit for the year 36,638 34,232
Dividend (28,052) (8,640)
Currency translation differences (3,968) (3,006)
Closing net assets 61,533 56,915
Interest in the associate (49%) 30,151 27,888
Other adjustments (*) (7,373) (4,218)
Carrying value 22,778 23,670

(&) Other adjustments mainly represented elimination of
upstream transaction between Shenzhen Airport Asiaray
and Shenzhen Yashi Metro Company Limited (“Yashi
Metro”) (7 I % £+ 4 8 5 [R 2 &), whose 55% equity
interest was directly held by Shenzhen Airport Asiaray
for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.
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13. RBEEQRINRE &) 13.
(€ EARRNHABENGEEMT : (c)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Summarised financial information for Guangxi Top
Source:

BZ12H8318LEE/

MW12A31H
Year ended/As at 31 December
2016 F 20154
2016 2015
F#ET T4
HKD'000 HKD’'000
AU BRET 2 REE Carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements - =
WA Revenue 59,341 55,463
FEfG ESIE R & s 18 B R Share of loss and total comprehensive
loss - =

R2016%F &2015F 128318 RN E
AERNEERAERLES  BAXR
SEEMEBBEBLENERTBRAE
7= o FE{HE18 6,311,000 7% 7T & FA &
201612 A31 B IEFE#R (2015
£ 1 7,654,000787T) °
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The carrying amount of the investment in Guangxi Top
Source was reduced to nil as at 31 December 2016 and
2015 as the Group's share of loss had exceeded its
interest in Guangxi Top Source. Share of loss
HKD6,311,000 was not recognised for the year ended 31
December 2016 (2015: HKD7,654,000).
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14. BT 14. SUBSIDIARIES
T5AR2016E 12 831 B2 = EKB The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31
NG December 2016.
847 FER
AR HE ERREN EEERAN REEEN AEEREN
RtRRREE BRIRAHE  EBREA%)  EERUAC  EBREACH  EERLA%)
Proportion of
Proportion of Proportion of ordinary Proportion of
Place of incorporation ordinary shares ordinary  shares held by preference
and kind of Principal activities and Particulars of issued directly held  sharesheldby  non-controlling shares held by
Company Name legal entity place of operation share capital by parent (%)  the Group (%) interests (%) the Group (%)
FRAEREE:
Directly held by the Company:
FtAERERERAR E5 BRELAA RERR RBRRHS 500007 100% - - -
Asiaray Media Holdings Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding, BVI HKD50,000
liability company
ARAEERE
Indirectly held by the Company:
Asiaray Metro Media Limited & BRERAR FONEEFRRE &8 &7 - 100% = =
Asiaray Metro Media Limited Hong Kong, limited Out-of-home advertising HKD1
liability company media services, Hong Kong
REESREARLA B ERAMLT POBRERERY &4 2,500,000 70 - 100% - -
Asiaray Advertising Media Limited Hong Kong, limited Out-of-home advertising HKD2,500,000
liability company media services, Hong Kong
Asiaray Qutdoor Media Limited £ BREMAR FOEEERRE &5 10,0007 - 100% = =
Asiaray Outdoor Media Limited Hong Kong, limited Out-of-home advertising HKD10,000
liability company media services, Hong Kong
Asiaray Megamedia Limited &k BRERAR &t BR - BIR 10,0007 - 100% - -
Y B
Asiaray Megamedia Limited Hong Kong, limited Design, consultancy, HKD10,000
liability company construction and
maintenance services,
Hong Kong
Genesis Printing And Production Limited ~ &7 + BREFA7 BE 5B TEN 10,0007 = 100% = =
IR Bk
Genesis Printing And Production Limited  Hong Kong, limited Advertising, production, HKD10,000
liability company installation and dismantling

services, Hong Kong

Rt REARAT &% ARELAA a2z Fk 10,0003 - 100% - -
Asiaray Advertising Limited Hong Kong, limited Inactive, Hong Kong HKD10,000

liability company
BERRRSRRAT B ERAMLT P 9900570 - 100% - -
Hong Kong Asiaray Advertising Limited  Hong Kong, limited Investment holding, HKD9,900

liability company Hong Kong
Tt RBARAR &% BRAMLR PAREHFRRH 24 1027 - 100% - -
Asiaray Media Limited Hong Kong, limited Out-of-home advertising HKD10

liability company media services, Hong Kong
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14. BT &) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
807 FER
AR EEREN AEEREN REFEN AEEREN
RtRRREE BRIRAHE  EBREA(%N)  EERUAC  EBRUEAC)  EERLA%)
Proportion of
Proportion of Proportion of ordinary Proportion of
Place of incorporation ordinary shares ordinary  shares held by preference
and kind of Principal activities and Particulars of issued directly held ~ sharesheldby  non-controlling shares held by
Company Name legal entity place of operation share capital by parent (%)  the Group (%) interests (%) the Group (%)
LERARESERAA( LERLE)) +B BRELAA FHEERRRE 6 AB#50,000,0007C - 100% - -
Shanghai Asiaray Advertising Company  The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB50,000,000
Limited ("Shanghai Asiaray") liability company media services, the PRC
(LERHBRERRAA)
LEXIERRERERLT HE ARALT POEERERS 8 AE%23655307 - 100% - -
Shanghai Meidlisi Advertising Media The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB2,365,530
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(HERKEREERARAR)
HIRtERRRRAA hE BRATAT FONEERERS =8 AEH10,000,0007 - 100% - -
Zhejiang Asiaray Advertising The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB10,000,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(FIRLREEERAA)
AR RRERAA HE ARAMELT POEERERS =8 ARH1,0000007C - 100% - -
Shenzhen Yatie Advertising The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(RHIEAREERAR)
LAkt RS ERERAT HE ARAMLT PONEERERS 8 AKE#%40,000,0007C - 100% - -
Shanghai Asiaray Advertising Media The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB40,000,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(LERRREERARAR)
ENEERRRRAA hE BRATAT FONEERERS 8 AEH1,030,0007C - 100% - -
Guangzhou Asiaray Advertising The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB1,030,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(BMELREEERAA)
SREREARESARERAA HE ARAMLT POEERERS =8 AR 500000007 - 51% 49% -
Yunnan Airport Asiaray Information The PRC, limited QOut-of-home advertising RMB50,000,000
Media Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
("Yunnan Airport Asiaray")
(EMTRRTEEEERARAR)
AEERERRAA HE - BRREAA FONEERERS =8 ARH1,0000007C - 100% - -
Shenzhen Asiaray Advertising The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(RIELREEERAA)
BERTERRERAA HE ARAMEAT FOEERERS =8 ARH2,0000007C - 100% - -
Hainan Asiaray Advertising The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB2,000,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(EMELRREERAA)
Tt HE BRALLF PONEERERS 8 AEH1,0000007T - 2% 2% -
Yashi Metro The PRC, limited liability QOut-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
company media services, the PRC
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14. BT &) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
AT FER
ARR I TEXBA EREEH FEERAN RESEN FEERAN
RteREEE EX BEIRAFHE  EBREA(%N  EERUAC  EEREAC)  EERLA®%)
Proportion of
Proportion of Proportion of ordinary Proportion of
Place of incorporation ordinary shares ordinary  shares held by preference
and kind of Principal activities and Particulars of issued directlyheld ~ sharesheldby  non-controlling  shares held by
Company Name legal entity place of operation share capital by parent (%) the Group (%) interests (%) the Group (%)
B ERERRAA HE BRALLE PONEERERY =8 ARH1,2000007 - 100% - -
Chengdu Asiaray Advertising The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB1,200,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(FARAEREZERAR)
IREERRRRAA hE BRATLR FONRERERS =8 AEH10500,0007 - 100% - -
Bejing Asiaray Advertising The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB10,500,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(EREHARERRAR)
BRRERRERAA HE ARALLE PEERERS =8 ARH1,0000007C - 100% - -
Xi'an Asiaray Advertising Company Limited The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
(ERREEEERAR) liability company media services, the PRC
AEREREERAR hE BRATAR FONRERERS =8 AEH10,000,0007 - 100% - -
Qingdao Asiaray Advertising The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB10,000,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(EBRLBELEERAA)
MEEERTEERARLT HE ARALLT PEERERY =8 AR5,0000007C - 51% 49% -
(TTazRkLA])
Henan Airport Asiaray Media The PRC, limited QOut-of-home advertising RMB5,000,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
("Henan Airport Asiaray")
(TAEAELEERERAR)
LBk RRERARLT HE ARAMLLT POEERERY =8 AR 10000007 - 100% - -
Shanghai Asiaray Medlia Communication  The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(LERLRREEFARAR)
AIERERRERAA HE BRALLE RERT T AE%1,0000007 - 100% - -
Shenzhen Baimoshi Advertising The PRC, limited Advertising services, the PRC RMB1,000,000
Company Limited liability company
(MR EEERAR)
ERRRIEERERAA(ESRE )TE  ARREAA PARERERS 78 ARH3,6000007C - 75% 2% -
Waxi Asiaray Metro Media Company The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB3,600,000
Limited ("Wuxi Asiaray") liability company media services, the PRC
(BEREEERARAR)
IREEERERARAA HE ARALLT FOESRERY =8 AR 10000007 - 100% - -
Beijing Yatie Media Communication The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB1,000,000
Company Limited liability company media services, the PRC
(EREHESERARAR)
EENRRLAREERAR([ERNR]) 78 ARALAA PHESRRRE 6 AR 1442000070 - 69% 31% -
Qingdao Chengtou Asiaray Advertising  The PRC, limited Out-of-home advertising RMB14,424,400
Company Limited ("Qingdao Chengtou”) liability company media services, the PRC
(ERIRELERERRAR)
IRALBEESERLA HE BRATAE RERHS - 8 ARH1,0000007C - 100% - -
Bejing Chuangshibowei Advertising The PRC, limited Advertising services, the PRC RMB1,000,000
Company Limited liability company
(EREtBEREARAR)

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2016 Annual Report 145



SHEAFEERIPIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. B AR (&)

(a)

Fﬁﬁﬂﬁ% NEIGMAA G o AEERHT
N RSB RO SRR L 1) B AT Y AR
F”‘J:Mﬁll—?ﬁl

MR2016F 12 A31 8 &) FF #2 I # =%
34,950,0007% 7T(2015%F : 52,177,000
5 TT) B A 22 g 22 8 T A 4 O SR R R A
AR - 12016412 A 31 B HYFEHER%
1753,186,000/8 7T (20154F : 8,564,000
P TT ) B AT R 22 S A 4 0 SRR AR A S
B -

NS B A 2 Lt mENE A R
MR EERR - RSN B ARRE
ERAEBEZHMBRRINE -

REBEMIEREMEB R BHIEERAE
BHAEELFBE -

EpNE]

M20164F K 2015412 A31H @ £ &
BAEZRENRSNEHEFERD BB
198,383,000/8 7T &% 274,319,000 7T
WASEHINEE FIERATRR « ZE
Tt NG B )5 AR PR 138 B IE H AR B A
SN AR EE S EHARE -

BERERFERERIME R RKE
BERBE
TR BT R 2

() BEARERHE

14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
All subsidiaries are included in the consolidation. The
proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiaries held by
the Group does not differ from the proportion of equity
interests held.

The non-controlling interest of HKD34,950,000 as at 31
December 2016 (2015: HKD52,177,000) was relating to
the non-controlling interest in Yunnan Airport Asiaray.
The non-controlling interest of HKD3,186,000 as at 31
December 2016 (2015: HKD8,564,000) was relating to the
non-controlling interest in Henan Airport Asiaray.

As the Group had the power to control the financial and
operating policies of the above two subsidiaries, they had
been accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group.

The non-controlling interests of the Group’s other non-
wholly owned subsidiaries are not material to the Group.

Significant restrictions

Cash and short-term deposits of HKD198,383,000 and
HKD274,319,000 were held in Mainland China as at 31
December 2016 and 2015, respectively, and are subject
to local exchange control regulations. These local
exchange control regulations provide for restrictions on
exporting capital from the country, other than through
normal dividends.

Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
material non-controlling interests

(@)  Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport
Asiaray:
(i)  Summarised balance sheet

E
afE

RBEEFEAST

FERE

FRBEEFEAT

EEFRE
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M®12H831H
As at 31 December
2016 F 2015 4F
2016 2015
F#&x T
HKD’000 HKD’000
Current
Assets 200,052 233,848
Liabilities (174,687) (160,257)
Total net current assets 25,365 73,591

Non-current

Assets 45,963 32,893
Total net non-current assets 45,963 32,893
Net assets 71,328 106,484
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MEAE (#) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEERFFERERSHNE D TN Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
ERME (&) material non-controlling interests (Continued)
ER I AR BTSSRI E ¢ () (@)  Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport
Asiaray: (Continued)
(i) HZekERME (i)  Summarised statement of comprehensive income

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 20154
2016 2015
THERT T
HKD’000 HKD’000
WA ) Revenue 260,706 256,644
R B A5 50 AT A1 E Profit before income tax 75,488 69,553
PRSI Income tax expense (11,796) (10,848)
FEKERBNE Profit from continuing operations 63,692 58,705
HA#R A B8 Other comprehensive loss (5,515) (8,002)
FREWEAE Total comprehensive income 58,177 50,703

Eﬁfi\ /ﬁ\;fi;ﬂﬂ%ﬁnm Total comprehensive income

kAR allocated to non-controlling
interest 28,507 24,844
RESb e Fay R NE) ) Dividend paid to

non-controlling interest 45,733 62,350
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14. fERE #) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
EEERGFIEREZNME QTN Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
ERME (&) material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(a) BB EEREE : (&) (@)  Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport

Asiaray: (Continued)
iy BEEREXRPE (i)  Summarised statement of cash flows

BZ12831BLLEE
Year ended 31 December
2016 F 2015 4

2016 2015
FTExT TAET
HKD’000 HKD’000

EETHRENRSRE Cash flows from operating

activities
REFSHRE Cash generated from operations 60,161 77,747
ERPrISH Income tax paid (13,442) (13,788)
BEEDAEREFHE Net cash generated from

operating activities 46,719 63,959
RERPMBHRLIFR Net cash generated from

investing activities 25,855 110,082
BEEBFTARIR TR Net cash used in financing

activities (92,512) (127,245)
BERBRSEEY Net (decrease)/increase in

(Rl /2 380 cash and cash equivalents (19,938) 46,796

FOMRE RREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of the year 65,248 20,595
Ra KR EBYMELER Exchange losses on cash and

cash equivalents (3,305) (2,143)

FRORERBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year 42,005 65,248
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14. BT (&) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
EAE AEERESHIE AT MBS Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
EEEE () material non-controlling interests (Continued)
(b) TR B R S B - (b)  Summarised financial information of Henan Airport
D Asiaray:
(i) BEBGBRUE (i)  Summarised balance sheet
M12H831H
As at 31 December
2016 F 2015 £
2016 AONES)
F#&xT T
HKD'000 HKD’'000
E Current
BE Assets 53,091 56,189
afE Liabilities (106,893) (81,921)
REAEFEAST Total net current liabilities (53,802) (25,732)
IEFRE Non-current
BiE Assets 65,615 50,072
afE Liabilities (5,310) (6,863)
FREBEEFEL Total net non-current assets 60,305 43,209
EEFRE Net assets 6,503 17,477
(i) fHREWERBE (i) Summarised statement of comprehensive income

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 £F 20154
2016 2015
THT T
HKD’000 HKD’'000
A Revenue 118,808 104,124
BRFTiS B AT (&518),/F (Loss)/profit before income tax (13,923) 24,373
R e,/ (Fx) Income tax credit/(expense) 3,627 (6,267)
REQEEN (B18) FIE  (Loss)/profit from continuing
operations (10,296) 18,106
HEira EE Other comprehensive loss (678) (714)
SE (R WEEE Total comprehensive (loss)/
income (10,974) 17,392
B D45 IETE AR RE R A Total comprehensive (loss)/
me (B18) Wa1esE income allocated to
non-controlling interest (5,377) 8,522
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14. fERE #) 14. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
EEERGFIEREZNME QTN Summarised financial information for subsidiaries with
ERME (&) material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(b) JAREZEBIEAENEERE (&) (b)  Summarised financial information of Henan Airport

Asiaray: (Continued)
iy BEEREXRPE (i)  Summarised statement of cash flows

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2016 F 2015 4

2016 2015
FTExT TAET
HKD’000 HKD’000

EETHMESNRERE Cash flows from operating

activities
REMRFRS Cash generated from operations 18,737 25,322
A& Interest paid (441) (672)
BHFTEH Income tax paid (1,911) (3.312)
BB EBFSIR S HEE Net cash generated from

operating activities 16,385 21,338
KEEEFTAREHE Net cash used in investing

activities (17,829) (12,184)
BMERDREEFR Net cash used in financing

activities (1,167) (1,246)
HeRELEEY Net (decrease)/increase in

GRY),/#EhnEaE cash and cash equivalents (2,611) 7,908

FUMR e RBEEED Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of the year 23,164 17,000
B RIS EEBYWHIME L EIE Exchange losses on cash and

cash equivalents (1,360) (1,744)

FENBERRELEEY Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year 19,193 23,164
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15. BERBH 15. DEFERRED INCOME TAX
BIEFEREERBBHONTT The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is
as follows:
M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2016 F 20154
2016 2015
THET FET
HKD'000 HKD'000
IEIEFTSFIE & ¢ Deferred income tax assets:
— R 1218 A Adk[E — to be recovered within 12 months 43,054 58,588
— R 1218 A & W= — to be recovered after 12 months 37,512 21,466
80,566 80,054
BEERSHREE Deferred income tax liabilities:
— R1I2EAREE — to be settled within 12 months (770) (160)
79,796 79,894
EEFTISTRER B A F e T ¢ The net movement on the deferred income tax account is
as follows:

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 F 20154

2016 A0

F#&T FAT

HKD'000 HKD'000

FH) Beginning of the year 79,894 58,157
MREzERRER (F77£30) Recognised in profit or loss (Note 30) 4,986 25,893
BEEREZTR (HK) 5F A (Charged)/credited directly to equity (53) 263
HEATHLESHERE Disposal of available-for-sale financial assets (240) -
B R Currency translation differences (4,791) (4,419)
FR End of the year 79,796 79,894
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15. EEREH (&)
BEFMEHREEMB BN Z S Rtk
ER—ME AR EENER) T -

15. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
Movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
without taking into consideration the offsetting of
balances within the same tax jurisdiction is as follows:

Deferred income tax assets:

BEEFRSHREE

EHSE
RERRE

Provision

for

impairment

of

Accruals  receivables
Tén TEn
HKD'000 HKD'000

Tax losses
Thn
HKD'000

aftig
SHEEN
AYERS

Fair value

change on
available-

for-sale
financial
assets
TR
HKD'000

BAYE
SABREN
SHEE
NVESE
Fair value
change on
financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or
loss

Tén
HKD'000

LES;
—HBELT
NERYE

Discounting
effect of
loans to an
associate
Tén
HKD'000

Provision

for
compensation
loss

Tin
HKD'000

Total
Tén
HKD'000

BE016512A3BLEE Year ended 31 December 2016
] At beginning of the year 40,347 5012 21,466 392 49 1,183 11,605 80,054
RERF (IR)/3TA (Charged)/credted to profit or loss (160) (479) 17,855 - (Ul (270) (11,343) 5,59
AR MERAKE Charged to other comprehensive income - - - (53) - - - (53)
HEAHNESHEAR Disposal of available-for-sale

financial assets - - - (240) - - = (240)
ERpEEE Currency translation differences (2,358) (298) (1,809) - - (64) (262) 4791)
F& Atend of the year 37,829 4,235 37512 9 [} 849 - 80,566
HENBERANALEE Year ended 31 December 2015
] At beginning of the year 46,058 2159 8337 129 - 1,549 = 58,232
RNEET (1R /E% (Charged)/credlted to profit or loss (3,008) 3,101 14,032 - 49 (276) 12,078 25918
AR Credited to other comprehensive income = = - 263 - - - 263
ERREEE Currency translation differences (2,705) (248) (903) = = 90 (73 (4419
L3 Atend of the year 40,347 5012 21,466 392 ) 1,183 11,605 80,054

A HEEREBERAF
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15. EEREH (&)

BEEFREHAE

BZE2016%F12831H
IEEE

F7)

JraS i Ertankil] oS

Fie

HZE2015412H31H
IEFEE

F7]

RIEEF (30BR), 5T A

T

15. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Year ended

31 December 2016
At beginning of the year
Charged to profit or loss

At end of the year

Year ended
31 December 2015
At beginning of the year
(Charged)/credited to
profit or loss

At end of the year

R20164F 2015412 A31H KN &
[ 4 5 Bl 3t 7T A58 LA AR SR ER AR
U A 945,098,000 JT K 29,601,000
BLTMEEERARCMEHEE
9,780,000/ 7T ) 7,255,000 7 7T ©

Deferred income tax liabilities:

Depreciation
allowance
THT
HKD'000

BRAFESIA
BEERNESHE
wEER EEAFENKE

Fair
value gains

on financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss
THT
HKD’000

Total
T
HKD'000

(160) - (160)
(610) - (610)
(770) - (770)

- (75) (75)
(160) 75 (85)
(160) = (160)

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets
of HKD9,780,000 and HKD7,255,000 in respect of tax
losses amounting to HKD45,098,000 and HKD29,601,000
that can be carried forward against future taxable income
as at 31 December 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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15. EEFRBH (2) 15. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
RIERREF SR EENRIBEIEE W The expiry date of the tax losses for which deferred
HEAT : income tax assets were not recognised is as follows:
MW12A31H
As at 31 December
2016 F 20154
2016 2015
FET FH&TT
HKD’'000 HKD'000
1 FARE W Expire within 1 year 4,164 664
M1 Z2FRNER Expire in 1 to 2 years 3,733 4,164
R2EIFAER Expire in 2 to 3 years 1,792 3,735
RIZEAFREM Expire in 3 to 4 years 8,749 2,104
RAZS5FRNER Expire in 4 to 5 years 9,072 6,218
S5FELAERPRERTE Over 5 years and not subject to expiration 17,587 12,716
45,098 29,601

R2016%F 201561283180 A&
BN 8 5 51| 5 7] A5 88 AR N AR SR FE AR B
U A 9 6,634,000 7 7T % 410,000 7T
H o RS R =R E TSR E
E£ 1,659,000 7T & 103,000 8 7T
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The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets
of HKD1,659,000 and HKD103,000 in respect of other
deductible temporary differences amounting to
HKD6,634,000 and HKD410,000 that can be carried
forward against future taxable income as at 31 December
2016 and 2015, respectively.
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16.

FE UN BR 7R % EL fih FE LR 16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

M®12H31H
As at 31 December

2016 &

2016
TR

HKD’000

20154
2015
FAET
HKD’000

FARBEE Included in current assets
FE U BR K (a) Trade receivables (a) 354,610 376,429
— FEUR A E T I8 — Due from related parties
(K3E 36(b)) (Note 36(b)) 10,428 11,450
— RIRE=FIE — Due from third parties 344,182 364,979
Sk EUER FORB B (b) Less: allowance for impairment
of trade receivables (b) (23,494) (23,911)
TEUBERX - }%%’E Trade receivables, net 331,116 352,518
Fh B UFRIA (¢ Other receivables (c) 98,801 106,623
— FEHQFAQ@EM — Due from related parties
(Kta£36(b)) (Note 36(b)) 6,625 572
— BWE=758 — Due from third parties 92,176 106,051
L H A IR E Less: allowance for impairment
54 (d) of other receivables (d) (1,090) (1,028)
Hib e R IE - FEE Other receivables, net 97,711 105,595
JE USRI B Interest receivable 857 1,541
AR TR Prepaid taxes 14,197 10,831
A FESFRIE (e) Other prepayments (e) 95,268 55,131
— XN TFRE) — Paid to related parties
(K75E36(b)) (Note 36(b)) 3,088 14,225
—XR[FE=F — Paid to third parties 92,180 40,906
=& /Gl i) /NI () Loans to an associate () 4,472 _
543,621 525,616
STAERBEE Included in non-current assets
m—REEE AT ERN Loans to an associate (f) 13,697 18,248
At Total 557,318 543,864
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16. BRI K EAbFEYRRIR (&) 16.
(@) AEBYERTEFEEEES -NE (a)

BEAERABREBBARER B HNE
WERK BBV RRER DTN T

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The Group has no specified credit terms for its customers.
Ageing analysis of the gross trade receivables based on
revenue recognition date at the respective balance sheet
dates is as follows:

R12A31R
As at 31 December

2016 F 20154
2016 2015
THERT T
HKD’000 HKD’000
&% 618 A Up to 6 months 256,304 287,297
6EAZE121EA 6 months to 12 months 49,791 56,380
1FE2F 1 year to 2 years 32,306 19,527
2FE3F 2 years to 3 years 5,499 4,984
3FLE Over 3 years 10,710 8,241
354,610 376,429

M2016%F 2015612 A31H @ B @
HERBRENERERD IO A
331,116,000 7T % 352,518,000/ 7T °
LR B R TS AR TSN
B X PEE - RIRBELS - @]
SRR AW o ZFRUIR KA IRER D
HranT :

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, trade receivables past
due but not impaired were approximately
HKD331,116,000 and HKD352,518,000, respectively.
These mainly relate to a number of independent
customers for whom there were no significant financial
difficulties and based on the past experience, the overdue
amount can be recovered. The ageing analysis of these
trade receivables is as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December

2016 fF 20154
2016 2015
TE T FATT
HKD'000 HKD’000
&% 618 A Up to 6 months 254,829 284,815
6ERAZE1218AR 6 months to 12 months 48,187 55,240
1FE2F 1 year to 2 years 26,859 11,530
2FEIF 2 years to 3 years 1,241 933
331,116 352,518
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16. FEURBRFR I H f FE R IE () 16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
@ (&) (@) (Continued)
M20164E K2015E12 8310 E I As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, trade receivables of
BE 723,494,000 7T }2. 23,911,000 7 7T HKD23,494,000 and HKD23,911,000 were impaired. The
EAERERE - R 2016 F K% 2015F 12 amount of the provision were HKD23,494,000 and
A318 - #B#E<%E» 5 423,494,000 HKD23,911,000 as of 31 December 2016 and 2015. The
BT 5% 23,911,000 7T © sZZ fE W R TE ageing of these receivables is as follows:
HRRERIAT ¢
MW12A31H
As at 31 December
2016 F 20154
2016 2015
FE T T
HKD'000 HKD’'000
&% 618 A Up to 6 months 1,475 2,482
6MEARZE1218A 6 months to 12 months 1,604 1,140
1FE2F 1 year to 2 years 5,447 7,997
2FE3F 2 years to 3 years 4,258 4,051
3FLE Over 3 years 10,710 8,241
23,494 23,911
(b) AEBEFBEEKRFHAERENESN (b) Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of
TS 8 trade receivables are as follows:

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 20154

2016 2015

FHET FHETT

HKD’000 HKD'000

FE4] At beginning of the year 23,911 8,027

BB Provision for impairment 1,134 17,019

BEmE = Currency translation differences (1,551) (1,135)

FR At end of the year 23,494 23,911
ERERKFIRNBEED T AG GRS The provision for impaired receivables had been included
WHERAWMTHRFEN]  EBHTE in ‘administrative expenses’ in the consolidated statement
WEE SRR  NMEERPHIRNE of comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the
B — MR T UAMES - allowance account are generally written off, when there is

no expectation of recovering additional cash.
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16. FEWERR R HAitFEWFRIE (&)

(0 EMBEUGIEEZRATRIEEERE
EAXNOERRES REYE T#EE
75 3R o PR20164F K& 20154F 12 A 31
B - BE@HEREENE A EREIED
BI149 46,625,000 7T 12 572,000/ T ©
I EFIEE B T W RS A EE#
REE A RERE - RIBBALE - mH
SREA AU o %S5 H fh R IRGRIB RO AR
BT

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(c)  Other receivables mainly represent guaranteed deposits
paid to various media resources owners and amounts due
from certain related parties. As at 31 December 2016 and
2015, other receivables past due but not impaired were
approximately HKD6,625,000 and HKD572,000,
respectively. These mainly relate to certain related
companies for whom there were no significant financial
difficulties and based on the past experience, the overdue
amount can be recovered. The ageing analysis of these
other receivables is as follows:

180 HE A
180 HLA £

P 20164 2015412 A31 8 » 180 B A
B E b & U 5% 781,090,000 7T &
1,028,000 L EERBERIE - BB
%8 5 Bl /51,090,0007% 7T & 1,028,000
BT

(d) AEEBREEMEYKIBRERENE

M®12H31H

As at 31 December
2016 £ 20154F
2016 2015
F#&T T4
HKD’'000 HKD'000
180 days or less 6,486 137
Over 180 days 139 435
6,625 572

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, other receivables of
HKD1,090,000 and HKD1,028,000 over 180 days were
impaired. The amount of the provision were
HKD1,090,000 and HKD1,028,000, respectively.

(d)  Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of

BT - other receivables are as follows:
R12H31H
As at 31 December

2016 F 20154
2016 2015
TExT FETT
HKD'000 HKD’'000
FE4] At beginning of the year 1,028 1,285
B, () Provision for/(reversal of) impairment 133 (189)
Bl E Currency translation differences (71) (68)
FR At end of the year 1,090 1,028

BB EE AL BRI B S B R
Bt AGHEA SRR [1THE
X]  BEEMAEREELREER 1
BERP RS R T AWM -
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The provision and reversal of provision for impaired other
receivables have been included in ‘administrative
expenses’ in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the
allowance account are generally written off, when there is
no expectation of recovering additional cash.
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16. FEWERR R H bW FRIH ()

(e)

(9)

HAFENFIBDTAT

BEEERFFREE RN
BRIA
HA

B Bt mEE kN E SR EAR
He BB 81 —817,050,000/%
7 (AR #15,251,0007T) AN EH
&% Kk — 184,472,000 T (A R
4,000,000 7T) MR FHE R - MIBER
B E N FED BIER AR B ARETT
BRI IRITEEFIE 6.55% % 6.15% 5T
EMEXRNBAMNRESREET -

R2014F - EBRCHEBEMAESE
EAER AR — M EXNBRAEEEHH
k—miErmm e (ZSHEl) - R
EZEWHE BEIFESEN2014F6
B 30 B YR EE 49% ZEFI| (%9 17,050,000
BT (AR#15,251,0007T)) B EARR
BEIRT E/EHELHE  WHEAIE B
E¥RTHNEAERZHERTREEKD
BE - EAHBREBNES -

7R [ 78 YR R B A FE M IR 0 BR T
ERAATEEEE

AR
BT

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(e)

Analysis of other prepayments is as follows:

M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2016 £

20154
2016 2015
FHExT FETT
HKD’000 HKD'000

Prepayments for concession
fee charges for advertising spaces

88,160 52,690
7,108 2,441
95,268 55,131

It represented two interest-free loans from Shanghai
Asiaray to Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising, including a loan
of HKD17,050,000 (RMB15,251,000) which had a term of
6 years and a loan of HKD4,472,000 (RMB4,000,000)
which had a term of 2 years. The initial fair values of the
two loans were based on cash flows discounted using
interest rates based on the prevailing borrowing rates of
6.55% and 6.15%, respectively, promulgated by the
People’s Bank of China.

In 2014, Shanghai Asiaray entered into a formal equity
transfer agreement and a related supplemental
agreement with Xiamen Iport Group Co., Ltd. (EFIF%
= A B 2 7l) (the “Agreements”). Pursuant to the
Agreements, approximately HKD17,050,000
(RMB15,251,000) representing 49% of the retained
earnings of Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising as at 30 June
2014 was declared as dividends to Shanghai Asiaray,
which was immediately loaned to Fujian Zhaoxiang
Advertising through entrusted loan arrangement with
commercial banks for funding its business expansion.

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

M®12H831H

As at 31 December
2016 & 20154
2016 2015
THET FET
HKD'000 HKD'000
462,832 425,966
94,486 117,898
557,318 543,864
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17. BEHER
B E 20164 %2015 12 A31 8 I-F
B AEEVNTSFHENT6EAZ1F
WEAERNEEREMNED R A1.96% K&
1.88% °

AEEEIFRIAA T EHEHE

17. SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS
The effective interest rate for the short-term deposits of
the Group with initial terms ranging from 6 months to 1
year for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015
was 1.96% and 1.88%, respectively.

The Group's short-term deposits were denominated in
the following currencies:

AR
BT

RHTRMESS  INERE - AAF]
BEERA M2016%F K2015F12 A
3NE BETRNEAEREATE
HHE

18. IRFRERRERREEE
Y1

M®12H831H

As at 31 December
2016 F 2015 4
2016 2015
THET FET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
46,537 87,557
200 27,200
46,737 114,757

Short-term deposits were neither past due nor impaired.
The directors of the Company considered that the
carrying amount of the short-term deposits approximated
their fair value as at 31 December 2016 and 2015.

RITFRRFERE
o RREIRE (b)

RERREEEY ()
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18. RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
M®12A31H

As at 31 December
2016 F 2015 £
2016 2015
TExT FETT
HKD'000 HKD’'000
Cash at bank and on hand 280,888 323,753
Less: Restricted cash (b) (63,552) (81,807)
Cash and cash equivalents (a) 217,336 241,946
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18. ERFRERAETRAELEE 18.
(&)

@ EFHERSERRESFEWNATIEET (@)
#:

AR RMB

BT HKD
ZRIBEEAARBE - SRFIBS (b)
BT

BT RITATE B R
ERREE

AN REEEHE R 48 85 RSN Rt
o B KB B Hh % AN RTHE R IRTT A5 85
KB & - BETHEAERFEMAEIN
BEE 422 1 g 9) K OB o

RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the
following currencies:

M®12H831H

As at 31 December
2016 F 20154
2016 2015
THET FET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
152,519 187,466
64,817 54,480
217,336 241,946

Restricted cash was denominated in RMB. An analysis of
restricted cash is as follows:

M®12H31H
As at 31 December
2016 20154
2015
F& T
HKD'000

2016
TET
HKD’000

Guaranteed deposits for
letter of guarantee issued
by certain banks

63,552 81,807

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into
foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign
currencies denominated bank balances and cash out of
the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.
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19. K&K 19. SHARE CAPITAL

EER#E EEKREE

Number Nominal value

of ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
(FA%) (F7%7T)
(thousand) (HKD'000)
EE - Authorised:
A2015%12H318 - At 31 December 2015,
2016 F1HA1HR 1 January 2016
201612 H31H and 31 December 2016 1,000,000 100,000
28T Issued:
M®2015%F1A1H At 1 January 2015 330,000 33,000
BITHRG Issuance of new share 110,000 11,000
20156128318 - At 31 December 2015,
20161818 R 1 January 2016
2016%12H31H and 31 December 2016 440,000 44,000
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20. f#& 20. RESERVES

DY
mfthE Bty EAY E
EMREER SHEE BHRE 1 Rttt
Available - Share-
Currency for-sale based

translation financial  compensation Warrant Other
differences assets reserve reserve reserves Total

THL THL THL THL THL
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

R201551 B 18 268 Balance at 1 January 2015 9,029 (392) - = (12,906) 4,269)
—FRIMBLRMNEAEES  Changein ownership interest of a
BHEEE (EHELR subsidiary without change
BEZE) () of control (a) = = - - 2,085 2,085
(ERRRESE Employee share option scheme
—EEMBEEAF34)  — value of employee services
(Note 34) - - 14,854 - - 14,854
UEHESREELTEEE  Losses from changes in fair value
BR(EMH) of available-for-sale financial
assets, net of tax - (1,545) - - - (1,545)
ElBEEE Currency translation differences (20,641) = = = = (20,641)
R2015%12 8310244  Balance at 31 December 2015 (11,612) (1,937) 14,854 - (10,821) (9.516)
R2016 51 A1 &8 Balance at 1 January 2016 (11,612) (1,937) 14,854 - (10,821) (9,516)
EEBREHS Employee share option scheme
—EERBEEME34)  —value of employee services
(Note 34) - - 11,355 - - 11,355
EHESREEATAESEE  Gains from changes in fair value
s (B308) of available-for-sale financial
assets, net of tax - 343 - - - 343
HEFRILESRER (A5 Disposal of available-for-sale
financial assets, net of tax - 835 - - - 835
BITRIBIER (Wi 35) Issuance of warrant (Note 35) - - - 3,075 - 3,075
EHnEEE Currency translation differences (31,892) - - - - (31,892)
R2016512 8318 Balance at 31 December 2016 (43,504) (759) 26,209 3,075 (10,821) (25,800)
(@) 2015128 @ EH AT HERIEIER (@ In December 2015, Wuxi Metro Group Limited, non-
B EEE AR AR KRR &S controlling interest of Wuxi Asiaray completed the capital
AL #3£716,0008TH)EE - WiGH injection of HKD716,000 in Wuxi Asiaray and increase its
% # R 10% 1R F+ £ 25% © & Of ) & 6 equity interests from 10% to 25%. The difference between
5 3 5 TE R MR 5 AL AR 15% A BEE Y the capital injection consolidated and the carrying amount
Pt 2 M Z RN B FEEP IR - of the 15% diluted equity interest in Wuxi Asiaray at the

Group level was recorded in other reserve.
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21. &K 21. BORROWINGS
R12A31R
As at 31 December
2016 F 20154
2016 2015
FTHERT T
HKD’'000 HKD'000
FEENHARIT AR Non-current bank borrowings
— B () — secured (a) 6,428 8,057
B FERNERIE R BN ER ED 5> Less: current portion of non-current
borrowings (1,118) (1,194)
5,310 6,863
BNHASRIT AR Current bank borrowings
— B @) — secured (a) 8,100 15,500
— SERNEARE RV BN ED — current portion of non-current
borrowings 1,118 1,194
— A — unsecured 52,420 _
61,638 16,694
SRITIETABE Total bank borrowings 66,948 23,557
(@) ABAEMEZHTBEOT (@)  The details of the secured borrowings are as follows:
R12A831R
As at 31 December
2016 20154
2016 2015
FHERT THET
HKD'000 HKD’000
NERAHEESRMEER Secured by the pledge of available-
—fE KB A R RITIF R for-sale financial assets and bank
[(Ftisi deposits of a subsidiary 8,100 15,500
DA H0RT R Ze B B 4 Y Secured by the pledge of certain
ETEERER properties of Henan Airport Asiaray
(K6 X8) (Notes 6 and 8) 6,428 8,057

14,528 23,557
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21. BR(E) 21. BORROWINGS (Continued)
b) REFEZEAMMETHERREOT (b) The weighted average effective interest rates at each
balance sheet date are as follows:

R12A31R
As at 31 December
2016 20154
2016 AONES)
JERNEAE TR Non-current borrowings 5.88% 7.38%
BREAfE R Current borrowings 4.22% 2.74%
() 201645 &2015F12A831H @ & & () At 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Group's borrowings
BEEEERNT are repayable as follows:
R12A31R
As at 31 December
2016 20154
2016 2015
THERT THBT
HKD'000 HKD’000
1EAR Within 1 year 61,638 16,694
1FE2F Between 1 and 2 years 1,118 1,193
26F5F Between 2 and 5 years 3,354 3,581
S5FLAE Over 5 years 838 2,089
66,948 23,557
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21. @)
© (&

@) REE AEEEREENFIEEDR

BREFEEAHWT :

618 B s AR
6MEAZ=12A
1FE5F
S5E

A HEEREBERAF

2016 F 3}

166

21.
(0)

Wholly repayable within 5 years
Wholly repayable after 5 years

BORROWINGS (Continued)

(Continued)

M®12H831H

As at 31 December
2016 F 2015 4
2016 2015
THET FET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
61,638 16,694
5,310 6,863
66,948 23,557

The exposure of the Group's borrowings to interest rate
changes and the contractual repricing dates at the end of

the year are as follows:

6 months or less
6 months to 12 months
1 year to 5 years

Over 5 years

M®12H31H

As at 31 December
2016 20154
2016 2015
FHT F& T
HKD’000 HKD'000
57,029 8,347
4,609 8,347
4,472 4,774
838 2,089
66,948 23,557
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21.
(e)

[ xhH =

g (&)

BNERTE R A TE B H AR (E AR -
RMBNZETK -

FERHE RN REER A HERT

fREE
ATE

FERIHE R R FEDERABRITEE
MEAENRESREMRMAE - L5
ARHEBHRPHEIR -

AEEERNEEASBELATERET
EH:

AR
BT

21. BORROWINGS (Continued)

(e) The fair value of current borrowings approximated their
carrying amount as the impact of discounting was not
significant.

The carrying amount and fair value of the non-current
borrowings are as follows:

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
2016 &

20154
2016 2015
FE&xT FAET
HKD’000 HKD’000

Carrying amount 5,310 6,863

5,344 7,085

The fair values of non-current borrowings were based on
the cash flows discounted using a rate based on the
prevailing borrowings rate and were categorised within
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:

M®12H831H

As at 31 December
2016 F 20154
2016 2015
THET FET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
38,848 8,057
28,100 15,500
66,948 23,557
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

22. ENERERREMENIE

e R (a)

— FENRBRE T3 BB (152 36(b))
— BB =77308

RS MR EE X (b)

— FE BB B (W 36(b)
— ENE=5HE
BkES AN TR

E AR BR
fEfTH S B 8 TR

A8 A3 (O

— B BB B (H 4 36(b)
— N E=550E

(@) 20164 K%2015F12 4318 » RN
HZEA MM EMRFERE DT

=% 6@ A
6TEAZE121EA
1FEE24F
2FFR3F
3FLA

b) EEERIZBREAEBRENBEER
Y BRE PR FE R R AR & B ST BRAR IR A BT
REkEDRENFERBRTCEES
HZ PRI ERR ©

(© HiENFAREZ2HECKREFPERRE
ERETRNBEETA -
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Trade payables (a)

— Due to related parties (Note 36(b))

— Due to third parties

Accrued concession fee charges for
advertising spaces (b)

— Due to related parties (Note 36(b))

— Due to third parties

Advances received from customers

Other taxes payable

Salary and staff welfare payables

Other payables (c)

— Due to related parties (Note 36(b))
— Due to third parties

MR12H831H

As at 31 December
2016 F 2015
2016 2015
FHBxT FETT
HKD’000 HKD'000
83,536 69,077
24,250 23,080
59,286 45,997
210,278 238,684
149,849 150,771
60,429 87,913
133,077 104,757
4,755 6,063
16,245 18,053
24,018 40,693
1,666 145
22,352 40,548
471,909 477,327

(@) Asat 31 December 2016 and 2015, the ageing analysis of
the trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:

R12H31H

As at 31 December
2016 F 20154
2016 2015
FE T T4
HKD’'000 HKD'000
Up to 6 months 42,633 63,335
6 months to 12 months 17,396 3,201
1 year to 2 years 22,225 1,421
2 years to 3 years 184 521
Over 3 years 1,098 599
83,536 69,077

(b)  This mainly represented the differences between the
minimum guaranteed concession fee charges recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the beneficial
periods and the minimum guaranteed concession fee
charges paid payable according to the concession rights
agreements.

(c)  Other payables mainly represented guarantee deposits
received from customers and certain amounts due to
related parties.
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23. WA

BAMWAKANFSZ AT

b

REERBEEESH

T B 2K AR HAA

Y% - BERERIBITE (Hits)
BAEYLpEAE)

EEXH
Hit

BRANASENHRBERMMENT

Yzl

Category

XiegE®R=E

Culture and construction fees

YR T R T IR

City construction tax
HEKINE
Educational surcharges
I B K g

Local educational surcharges

23. COST OF REVENUE
Expenses included in cost of revenue are analysed as
follows:

BZ12831BLEE
Year ended 31 December

2016 & 2015 £

2016 2015
FTEx TAT
HKD’000 HKD’000

Concession fee charges for

advertising spaces 1,032,974 967,533

Project installation and dismantling
costs 67,062 73,295

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 6) 25,976 24,702
Tax and surcharges (a) 20,736 17,576
Utilities 13,045 11,966
Others 20,519 20,825
1,180,312 1,115,897

(@) Tax and surcharges that are applicable to the Group are
as follows:

B BEEE

Tax rate Basis of levis

3% TRt/ 5 AR HO W A\ HIRLE 5 B 2
Revenue from rendering advertising services
deduct advertising expenditures

7% B EmEER ([12EH])

Actual Value Added Tax (“VAT") payment
3% BER S ANGER

Actual VAT payment
2% BER S NGER

Actual VAT payment
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24. HERTHERMX 24. SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES
EANE RIS HER YRS ST Expenses included in selling and marketing expenses are
T analysed as follows:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 F 20154

2016 2015

F#ET T4

HKD'000 HKD’'000

EERFMAX Employee benefit expenses 84,177 78,682

G R Marketing research expenses 19,045 5,462

ERMEBBAERS Travelling and entertainment

expenses 16,749 12,235

RHEE B (K7 35) Warrant expenses (Note 35) 3,075 -

MAERXE Office expenses 1,418 1,717

MAEHERAE Office rental expenses 611 930

SEEE S (T 36(a) Sales commissions (Note 36(a)) 544 507
M - BB RREITE (Mfits) Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment (Note 6) 22 30

Hih Others 997 990

126,638 100,553
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25. THRX 25. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
BATERAIHAI ST : Expenses included in administrative expenses are
analysed as follows:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 F 20154
2016 2015
FET T
HKD’'000 HKD'000
EERFMAX Employee benefit expenses 78,560 77,441
NN Office expenses 13,155 10,548
WAEHESHE Office rental expenses 12,560 14,031
HiEERKE Other professional service fees 12,467 11,092
EIR R EBHBEFRS Travelling and entertainment expenses 11,915 15,762
M - BB RREITE (Hfits) Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 6) 7,583 6,833
ZE RN $ Auditors’ remunerations 4,142 4,400
— EETRS — Audit services 2,800 2,876
— JEEFT RS — Non-audit services 1,342 1,524
RITFEE Bank charges 3,590 2,841
I LM g Taxes and surcharges 2,529 1,763
FEUBR TR K EAth FE UK IR (B8 Impairment provision for trade and
other receivables 1,267 16,830
ik PR8N (fYaE 8) Amortisation of land use rights
(Note 8) 414 421
B EERE (M 10) Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 10) 462 312
REMERE (B 9) Depreciation of investment properties
(Note 9) 86 92
LR Listing-related expenses - 1,859
Hih Others 1,265 2,519
149,995 166,744
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26. BERAFX  BREESHE

(@) EEBAMAX (a)

TE  #FeRIELg
BRINERA — EBHEEE

AEELERRTHERE

B/ BEREA

BRERMRAXNAHESKRARTET
SRR B AHIBR -

Wages, salaries and bonuses

Pension costs — defined
contribution plans

Share options granted to
directors and employees

Welfare, medical and others

26. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS

Employee benefit expenses

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 2015 €
2016 2015
FHBxT FHIT
HKD’000 HKD'000
127,399 117,773
20,211 19,325
11,355 14,854
3,772 4,171
162,737 156,123

Employee benefit expenses were charged in the following
categories in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income:

BZ12831HLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 F 20154

2016 2015

TE T FAT

HKD'000 HKD’000

$HE K T 95 HE R 7 2 Selling and marketing expenses 84,177 78,682
THAX Administrative expenses 78,560 77,441
162,737 156,123
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26.

(a)

(b)

BEERFAMAX BRESHE
(4)

EEEFFX(F)

A5 MR BB A R0 1R B /R 2 B ph bty
FHBAERMEHOEREFERS
iHE o AR BRI F H B R E 0 E
ELLBI (N FREF S 13%E21% -
RAELTR) #it) &5t BIEH R
REBHERABEFRAES -

REBREEEMAZH KB A 7 & E
—HEBRHENGE - REE-RNEAX
FREAEENBLESARE - ZEMEB
NEIRRE B F 2 5% 80 B E Bl M
ERERE BB EEER -

LEBEHMAL
HE2016F 12 A31HILFE » AEE
hEERTMALTEE=%5 (20154 :
ME)RITEER —EIENTES ' &
ZHMELEEWTL0M DT DRI
o HZE2016F12A31BIEEE - H
BR—RZ(2015F : —F) AT &
EH#ET -

26.

(a)

(b)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered and operated by the
local municipal governments. The Group contributes
funds which are calculated on fixed percentage ranging
from 13% to 21% of the employees’ salary (subject to a
floor and cap) as set by local municipal governments to
each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of the
employees.

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong
operate a defined contribution plan, the assets of which
are generally held in a separate trustee-administered
fund. These subsidiaries pay fixed contribution into such
defined contribution plan on a fixed percentage of 5% of
the employee’s salary.

Five highest paid individuals

The 5 individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016
included 3 (2015: 4) executive directors and 1 non-
executive director whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis presented in Note 40. The aggregate amounts of
emoluments for the remaining 1 (2015: 1) individual for
the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out below:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 20154

2016 2015

FER FAT

HKD’000 HKD’000

TERES Wages and salaries 1,614 1,618

Mg 8% T e BB AR i Share options granted to employees 256 327

TEAT Bonuses 44 66
BRESRA — EREHEREE Pension costs — defined

contribution plans 18 18

1,932 2,029
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26.

(b)

27.

BEEEANHE BIEEEHS
(&)

TEBREFMAL(E) (b)
H 2 2016F K2015F 12 A31H I 4
EERRAZEATINOMESBR T 5%

H

26. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments payable to these individuals for the
years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 fell within the
following bands:

BZ12A31ALFE
Year ended 31 December
20154

2015

2016 &
2016

& E

1,000,001 7T % 1,500,000 8 7T
1,500,001 7 7T % 2,000,000 8 7T
2,000,001 /& 7T = 2,500,000 7T

Emoluments band

HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 - -
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 - 1

-
|

KB ZE2016F k2015F12 A31H 1k
FEAN AEEHEREAESEHTSL
REHFMA T NEMMES - (ERINE
NS B S AN R 1% 1O SE Y X AF BRI AV
B MEFHESCRELARBMEL
] A o

Hl A

During the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office, no directors waived or
have agreed to waive any emoluments.

27. OTHER INCOME

BZE212A31MHILEEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 F 20154
2016 2015
F#ET FHIT
HKD'000 HKD'000
B s RIS Advertising consulting service income 2,700 3,417
EERET IR YA Advertising design service income 981 -
At E SR E ER R BIRA Dividend income on available-for-sale
(K17£33) financial assets (Note 33) 2,536 1,202
BT A BRI (a) Government subsidy income (a) 2,414 4,164
BT —EEE AT BUA  Interest income on loans to
(B1a%33) an associate (Note 33) 1,080 1,151
RIK) TR RS Compensation from counter parties
for breach of contracts 906 886
SR T I M RN Reimbursement of installation and
maintenance costs 722 793
A E S BV E E R F B Interest income on available-for-sale
(Ha#33) financial assets (Note 33) 705 976
WEMENHES WA Rental income on investment
properties 213 169
12,257 12,758
(@) BUTHEIRAEEBEFEESIMER (@) Government subsidy income represented various tax

A HEEREBERAF

refunds granted by the relevant government authorities
with no future obligations.

BARREETRENEEEY o
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28. Hftilz, (&HE) - FHE

REERAEE(BE) ()

28. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

HBE12H831BLLEE

Year ended 31 December
2016 &

2015 €
2016 2015
THT FHETT
HKD’000 HKD’000

Written back/(provision for)

compensation loss (a) 24,662 (48,312)
BAFEIABZENESMEE Fair value gains/(losses) on financial
R EKE(EE) assets at fair value through profit
(Kt 11(a) or loss (Note 11(a)) 72 (445)
& 5 B8 5 5E Net exchange losses (24) (2,918)
HEWE - BEMRENER Losses on disposal of property,
(Btat33) plant and equipment (Note 33) (186) 3)
HEAHEESRMEENER Losses on disposal of available-for-sale
(K2t 33) financial assets (Note 33) (1,127) =
Hib Others (405) (715)
22,992 (52,393)

R2015F 10 A - AEERERAZ L
REFHEI1FRABI0OFNEEE
RIS M - BB EREEABRBA
NEBE ERRAK IS NMEERE
5’5 °

R2015612 A31 8 KAREEEN
PLERIRAIR AN AR EN S REEE
BEREA NETHERER - BIBEARE
EREAEERENERZER  ARAE
ERAE ABEMNERESEAYH
48,312,000t ( A K 38,890,0007T.)
W—FHE - BERBEDRNEZE2015
F12A31 BILFERBEELE -

R2016F5 8248 ARAIEEEE
BHBERA BEEERBEERER
20,441,0007% 7T( A K # 15,173,000
TL) o YIB A e HEMRERERZ
M K = %27,871,000%8 jt( A R #
23,717,0007T ) * E R & £2016F 12
A31AIEFEABELITR [HAibUkss -
HEE | MR o

In October 2015, the Group decided to early terminate
the 10-year concession contract for operation of the
media resources at Ningbo Metro Line No 1. The owner
of the media resources has informed the Group to
compensate for the loss occurred due to the early
termination of the contract.

As at 31 December 2015, the management of the
Company were still negotiating with the media resources
owner in the arbitration procedure to agree the amount
of the compensation of the early termination contract.
Based on the legal advice from the Group’s PRC legal
advisor, the directors of the Company are of the view that
the maximum amount of the compensation will be one
year rental payment of HKD48,312,000 (RMB38,890,000).
The amount was fully provided for during the year ended
31 December 2015.

As on 24 May 2016, the management of the Company
received the arbitration award which determined the final
compensation to be at HKD20,441,000 (RMB15,173,000).
The difference of HKD27,871,000 (RMB23,717,000)
between the initially estimate and the final outcome of
the arbitration was written back and recognised in “other
gains, net” during the year ended 31 December 2016.
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29. MEWA - FEE

29.

FINANCE INCOME, NET

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2016 &

2015
2016 2015
FE&T T 7T
HKD’000 HKD’000

R WA Finance income

RITIFFF B UA Interest income on bank deposits (2,869) (5,576)
5= 2% Finance costs

RITERNFEAS Interest expense on bank borrowings 2,545 3,222
MERA - FHE Finance income, net (324) (2,354)

30. FAIBHiMY (ER)
AEBEH E2016F %2015 12 A 31
B I FEREERMAS (E%) D HTan
T

30.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

The income tax expense/(credit) of the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 is analysed as
follows:

BZ12A31MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2016 &

2015 £
2016 2015
F#&T T 7T
HKD’'000 HKD’000

BIHARR 15352 Current income tax
— PR ERBR — PRC corporate income tax 16,387 18,406
— HEFEH — Hong Kong profits tax 3,172 3,678
19,559 22,084
EEFTSR (HaE15) Deferred income tax (Note 15) (4,986) (25,893)
14,573 (3,809)

(a) BASREREHR
ARBRHASESRERASESARDA
MR REREERAF - FitRs
FSESMEH -

(by FEREH
HRAEERB ERNE AT GHNE
BB - e B BNEH T REE -
AEBEBREHZE2016%F K% 2015F 12
A3 B IEFESFRNEFTERTFE
12 16.5% BT R G HEHHE ©
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(a)

(b)

Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is
exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for as there was
business operation that is subject to Hong Kong profits
tax. It had been provided for at the rate of 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits for each of the years ended
31 December 2016 and 2015.
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30. Fr8%iBAY (ER)#)

(c)

(d)

B S AT B

AEBCDRBRITED  2BLERE
I3t H P B KB R TG BRI (A 5HIE
AR A B 4% 25% O B R 51 12 P S A B
- BRIFBERNBENRAMERR -

AEENBLREREBREHNPE
ERAKY - FEERNHBEARERA
RELENESHEBRER  #EF
15% MBEMEBRHE

B FE OB

RIEE AR BB ER - A BIRREER
ST HIAFFL 200841 A1 B ZBEAR
FEmINEIEEE D IRARS - —ARAB
R10%HRBHATEH - MR ESTE
MRS SN E B TSP R AESRE
FER] M Akt G B B T HERY IR R
o BEBEMRREEHI10%EER
5% °

ZNE5 B R PTAS B0 AR R 0 A5 1R BRER R
ARUATEHEREE@REERME
FERMMETEHEGHNERSET
[@ :

30.
(c)

(d)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued)

PRC corporate income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of
operations in Mainland China has been calculated at the
tax rate of 25% on the estimated assessable profits for
each of the years ended, based on the existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof, unless
preferential tax rates were applicable.

Yunnan Airport Asiaray, a subsidiary of the Group, was
established in Yunnan Province, PRC. It was eligible for
preferential tax policies applicable for the development
of western regions in Mainland China, and was entitled to
a preferential income tax rate of 15%.

PRC withholding tax

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations,
dividends distributed by a company established in
Mainland China to a foreign investor with respect to
profits derived after 1 January 2008 are generally subject
to a 10% withholding income tax. If a foreign investor
incorporated in Hong Kong meets the conditions and
requirements under the double taxation treaty
arrangement entered into between Mainland China and
Hong Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate will be
reduced from 10% to 5%.

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of
consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as
follows:

BZ12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

BRATSBLATFIE, (E518R)
B DIEREE R RIMIRE XS

HBLE 25% 3 BV BUE

R A A EE T E B2 A
TRBENYE
BERBEA

GLEN R

EIERIAE ER KRR IAER
AERRLEHAEEN

E =R
BABEFERERNHEAESR

Frsmifs (%)

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Less: share of results of investments in
associates

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25%

Effect of different tax rates applicable
to different subsidiaries of the Group

Incomes not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible
for tax purposes

Tax losses not recognised for
deferred tax assets

Temporary differences not recognised
for deferred tax assets

Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised in prior years

Income tax expense/(credit)

Asiaray Media Group Limited

2016 F 20154
2016 2015
FET T
HKD'000 HKD'000
54,678 (6,005)
(5,255) (8,177)
49,423 (14,182)
12,356 (3,546)
(6,546) (5,826)
(469) (209)
4,876 3,342
2,986 2,540
1,556 9
(186) (119)
14,573 (3,809)
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31.

(a)

(b)

KA HEEREBERAF

gREF(HR)

A
SRERRF, (BR) HREAR AR
BARMEFIE (B1R) - BRAFNEH
TERBIE TR -

ARAVEE ARG, (E518)

31.

(a)

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

Basics

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing
the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December
2016 &

20154
2016 2015
FE&T FAETT
HKD’000 HKD’000

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners

of the Company 15,826 (39,616)
B 31T E B IAE T8 Weighted average number of ordinary
(LATFR&ET) shares in issue (thousands) 440,000 435,781
Fha (ER) Earnings/(loss) per share (HK cents
(LAZRRABLEITR) per share) 3.60 (9.09)
e (b) Diluted

FREERT,(BR) HDRXEERAE
RAMRBREMELNMBEEHS
LTER(ERAESREERTN, (B
B)Ms F)He BT SRR NETS
BUEREE - IEHAN (EE)
(DR ELRE -

&R [ B AR (PR RE 34) KRR & (Pl
35 HERAEEREERELRR
A/ (BE)  BEEREMRIIFEAS
REBHE WEFESRESR
R/ (B8 R AT EIER o

20168 178

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding by the assumption of the conversion of all
potential dilutive ordinary shares arising from share
options granted by the Company (forming the
denominator for computing diluted (earnings/(loss) per
share). No adjustment is made to earnings/(loss)
(numerator).

The Group’s share options (Note 34) and warrants (Note
35) could potentially dilute basic earnings/(loss) per share
in the future, but were not included in the calculation of
diluted earnings/(loss) per share because they are anti-
dilutive for the years presented.
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32. KB 32. DIVIDENDS

HE12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 F 20154
2016 2015
FHET FHIT
HKD’000 HKD’'000
FEAHR B ER0.108 T Proposed final dividend of HKDO0.10
(20154F : 0.09%7T) (a) (2015: HKDO0.09) per share (a) 44,000 39,600
AR B EA0.13 8T Interim dividend of HKDO0.13
(20154 : 0.055%7T) (2015: HKDO.055) per share 57,200 24,200
101,200 63,800
@ M2017F3F24BRITZARELE & (@) At the meeting held on 24 March 2017, the Board
FERFRNEZE2016F12A3181E recommended the payment of a final dividend of
FERREREFHR0.108 (20154 HKDO0.10 (2015: HKDO0.09) per share for the year ended
FH%0.09787T) - 4858 /5 44,000,000%5 31 December 2016, amounting to a total of
70 (20154 : 39,600,0007% 7T ) & % A% HKD44,000,000 (2015: HKD39,600,000). This proposed
BARAAREERRBFAS LER dividend is to be approved by the shareholders at the
REERTAEE o b FVHRRIAK forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
R RS - These financial statements do not reflect this dividend
payable.
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33. HEMB (FTAR:E 33. CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN)

OPERATIONS

BZ12A31BLEEE

Year ended 31 December

MEHEEREBERARF 20165#H 180

2016 20154
2016 2015
TF#ExT FATT
HKD'000 HKD'000
BT SR ETALE(Ei8) Profit/(loss) before income tax 54,678 (6,005)
R Adjustments for:
JE WS AR R B B A R MR IR (E Impairment provision for trade and
B (K 25) other receivables (Note 25) 1,267 16,830
SRITEERNERX Interest expenses on bank
(K17E29) borrowings (Note 29) 2,545 3,222
HRITFRF LA Interest income on bank
(Htat29) deposits (Note 29) (2,869) (5,576)
BT R E A amF R Interest income on loans to
WA (Bt£27) an associate (Note 27) (1,080) (1,151)
AEHESREENTE Interest income on available-for-sale
WA (Btat27) financial assets (Note 27) (705) (976)
AtHEEREENKE Dividend income on available-for-sale
WA (Hfat27) financial assets (Note 27) (2,536) (1,202)
ME - BERBBOITE Depreciation of property,
(Kiat6) plant and equipment (Note 6) 33,581 31,565
s R R 8 (f77E 8) Amortisation of land use
rights (Note 8) 414 421
REMFEINE (Mt 9) Depreciation of investment
properties (Note 9) 86 92
BV EERHE (M 10) Amortisation of intangible
assets (Note 10) 462 312
REME - HERERED Losses on disposal of property,
518 (K12 28) plant and equipment (Note 28) 186 3
HEITHEESHEED Loss on disposal of available-for-sale
E518 (M17£28) financial assets (Note 28) 1,127 -
AT E A B RS Fair value (gains)/losses on financial
SRMEEATEWE), assets at fair value through profit
B8 (f1 £ 28) or loss (Note 28) (72) 445
DIEREE R R E & Share of results of investments in
(H1a%13) associates (Note 13) (5,255) (8,177)
RERAEAEED Written back of provision of
(K2t 28(a)) compensation losses (Note 28(a)) (27,871) -
53,958 29,803
LEEE Changes in working capital (excluding
(TERENEHAERBEAD the effects of currency translation
EEmE N E) differences on consolidation):
—F5 — Inventories 17 (1,075)
— FEUBR RN & B Ath R MR IR — Trade and other receivables (20,290) (143,363)
— FEBRR B HoAth e < FRIA — Trade and other payables (9,950) (23,105)
— ZBRHHEE — Restricted cash 18,255 (839)
LIEAE, (FTHR)R& Cash generated from/(used in)
operations 41,990 (138,579)
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33.

34.

(a)

CEME /(A RE@

EAHRERERT  HEVE K&
KBRERSFEERE

33.

CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN)
OPERATIONS (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds
from disposals of property, plant and equipment
comprise:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 20154

2016 2015

TERT FHET

HKD’'000 HKD'000

BREDFE (K777 6) Net book amount (Note 6) 727 752

& B1R (Mfat 28) Losses on disposals (Note 28) (186) ©)

& PSR Proceeds from disposals 541 749
IR 63 B ERB A 34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

BB IR T & (a) Share Option Plan

RAE M BIRER 8 ([Z%ar ) TR
ER20144F 12 B 6 B BB RZERK
W EEZEMNAREGEBATHASE
FT{E H 3k AT BE VB HH /O B8R i i S5 4R 4L 48
Ehsk El=R °

MN2015F5 4218 - EE @ RIEZ% T
ZI LR H11,534,875 0 BB E T B
IABRARBEFERERRTE NEHE
(IMEEDINESR(EERERIERE
BT 2 ]) RARE Z AT & B AR S
4,400,000 17 8 B # F #R 8 A ([T A
ERERAERTE ) RR2015F 6 A10H
BT R RIAR D B ISR R o

CERENRBREER AR TARE
0.6F%AI{TE30% M EER T AL
1.6FE BT ITETORI D » AT AR
20164E1 A1H £2020F6 A998 ( &
EEEMB) BEATE LRESHhER
HERENE30%K G ARAR
201741 A1 H £2020F6 A998 ( &
EEHEMB) BHEAUTESNEELE
FEFEHY E 82 70% A% 17 ©

AEEWELRREERT  UREME
PR E R

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 6 December 2014 (the
"Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

On 21 May 2015, the Board approved to grant
11,534,875 share options under the Scheme to its
employees and directors that excluding Lam Tak Hing,
Vincent (“Mr. Lam”), the chairman and the chief executive
officer of the Company ("Employee and Contributor
Share Option Plan”) and 4,400,000 share options under
the Scheme to Mr. Lam (“Executive Share Option Plan”)
that was approved and confirmed by the independent
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held
on 10 June 2015.

The vesting schedule of above share options is 30% after
0.6 years from the grant date and 70% after 1.6 years
from the grant date. The first 30% of the above share
options granted shall be exercisable by the grantees
during the period from 1 January 2016 to 9 June 2020
(both days inclusive); and the remaining 70% of the share
options granted shall be exercisable by the grantees
during the period from 1 January 2017 to 9 June 2020
(both days inclusive).

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.
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34. LIBRHBABEBRAFARE)

(b) HEERENEES
BRTHERERE R AT
FEERESBERNT :

R2016%5£1818  At1January 2016
KM Lapsed

N2016%E12 8318 At 31 December 2016

R2015F1A18  At1January 2015
it Granted
KA Lapsed

2015412318 At 31 December 2015

(© ERFBRE
R R B BT AR 5K B RAT (B
T

K% H—2020F6 A9H

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

(b) Movements in share options
Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices were
as follows:

EERERERRETE
Employee and Contributor
Share Option Plan
RR=ZEIL(d

B

THABRRETS
Executive
Share Option Plan
VT
B BRE BRRE
(LA st HE HE
(F#) SHERE) (F4) (F4)
Number of Average Number of Total
share exercise price share number of
options (HKD per options  share options
(thousands)  share option) (thousands) (thousands)

B

(AE s YE

SHBERE)
Average
exercise price
(HKD per
share option)

6.95 11,356 6.95 4,400 15,756
6.95 (309) - - (309)
6.95 11,047 6.95 4,400 15,447
6.95 11,535 6.95 4,400 15,935
6.95 (179) - - (179)
6.95 11,356 6.95 4,400 15,756

(c) Outstanding share options
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the
following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Expiry date — 9 June 2020

M®2016F12H31H
As at 31 December 2016
TEE
LA Tt BREHE
(1)
Number of
share options

(thousands)

BHBERE

Exercise price
in HKD per
share option

BENERBERITRAR Employee and Contributor and
BE AR 2 Executive Share Option Plans 6.95 15,447
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34.

(d)

35.

AR BE BB
BREQTLE
AAREEEE—RBILAEMITESE
HEAR A B E AR SR T A
HM AT EE TG - BRENATEE
TER-—XBAETE - RERERMERE
BT B E R AR EANERH AR
BB EITEE « JRIE30.493% ~ AR E
E1.0726 2 - THEAEREFHS1FER
ERREFR1.2258E - THAEE
AT B E R AR EANERH AR
BAEMITEE  KIE31.29% - BE
R 1.0726 2 - TEAAMBARREF HA 5 FF R
[ B 4F | %= 1.3088 [ ° ATt 2 MK I8
THAZ BRI E LR A R A F IR A
WIE st - 201545 821 BB #(E
BRERMEBRET SR ERED
1B & 419,402,000 7T MR IR TT
B B R T IR 1 IR AR A B
A#17,453,0008 7T °

MEZE 2016512 A31 B ILEEEKE
B RIS R MR ¥ A 11,355,000
7677 (2015 4F : 14,854,000/ 7T) °

AR EE A
2016410 4108 + N A 7] BiGreat
World HK Media Pte. Ltd. ([ Great
World HK]) &T 37 %8 S 14 & 1E 1 & -
# ARt A A A EL Catterton
Management Limited ( E5 LVMH Moét
Hennessy Louis Vuitton S.A. * Catterton
Holdings, L.L.C & Groupe Arnault SAS
PR RIRL B AR EIRE N B B EIE ©
[ B @ AA A Great World HK 5T 52
EiE (BB A2016F10 138K
WMABRETRHR)  ABEBEAR
Al LA 1T{E S #£3,000,0008 7T + &
7 SRR 78 0.3 7 7T 817 10,000,000 15
RIKERE o AN A T RRAE R AR
TEESRRBIREERD 4.108TRE
&% 10,000,000 IR R AEFZAX D © FRa%
REE 7 BT RRER - BITRRE
& B PTAS FORFERE S 4349 40,700,000 78
IT o

34.

(d)

35.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

Fair values of share options

The directors of the Company appointed an independent
valuer, Greater China Appraisal Limited, to estimate the
fair value of the above share options as at the respective
grant dates. The fair values of the share options were
determined using the Binomial method. The significant
inputs used in the Employee and Contributor Share
Option Plan valuation method were exercise price shown
above, volatility of 30.493%, dividend yield of 1.0726%,
an expected option life of 5.1 years, and an annual risk-
free interest rate of 1.2258%. The significant inputs used
in the Executive Share Option Plan valuation method
were exercise price shown above, volatility of 31.29%,
dividend yield of 1.0726%, an expected share option life
of 5 years, and an annual risk-free interest rate of
1.3088%. The volatility measured is estimated by the
average of 5-year weekly volatility of several comparable
companies. The fair value of share options granted on 21
May 2015 under Employee and Contributor Share Option
Plan was approximately HKD19,402,000 and the fair value
of options granted under Executive Share Option Plan
was approximately HKD7,453,000.

The total expenses recognised for employee services
received in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016
was HKD11,355,000 (2015: HKD14,854,000).

WARRANT RESERVE

On 10 October 2016, the Company entered into a
strategic alliance agreement with Great World HK Media
Pte. Ltd. (“Great World HK") to enhance the business
collaboration between the Company and L Catterton
Management Limited, a private equity firm formed by
LVMH Moét Hennessy Louis Vuitton S.A., Catterton
Holdings, L.L.C and Groupe Arnault SAS. On the same
day, the Company and Great World HK entered into a
subscription agreement (as amended and supplemented
by a supplemental agreement dated 13 October 2016) in
relation to issue 10,000,000 warrants of the Company at
issue price of HKD3,000,000 in total, or HKDO.3 per
warrant. The Company entitled the subscriber to
subscribe for up to 10,000,000 warrant shares at the
exercise price of HKD4.10 per warrant share. Assuming
the warrants are exercised in full by the subscriber, the
net proceeds of the warrant issue will be approximately
HKD40,700,000.
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35.

36.

KA HEEREBERAF

RREE®EE &)

REEEN 2016512 A29 B ° &N
RRIBER T EB Y EMITEZET
BEAERA ARG Ll RREE 2 A F
B o RHEBH A FE T A= XA
BE e NBTRE  RREZBZAFE
/3,075,000 T © A B £2016F 12
AMBIEFEZBE=ANE  HER
R SFHREEFE0.30758 7T ° I
REAEFE HER AP EANERNH AR
BATEESHRIREFRL10E T
R IE38.0567% ~ A% B Mk es24.7483% -
EAFEHIFE REEERRF R
1.3713% °

EXEBAIRS

7R 8% Media Cornerstone Limited (72
RBRZAES M) ZH - EEEAR
A 7 B% 19 #)55% ° Space Management
Limited (MR BE LB STMA L) FE
AR FRRAD B 20% o E M #2 T 25% B 15
D ELFF B o & F 15 Media Comerstone
Limited 15X A B R AR A R © 2R
E BRI BIRELE ©

WA _ESCE M T RS AEE A
HEBBEANEE 2016412 A31 BILE
BETTUTERRS - RAREER
B ZEREFRHNIER EEBIRE
7 52 (B £ % (B 2 O T o MO AR R T o
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35.

36.

WARRANT RESERVE (Continued)

The subscription was completed on 29 December 2016.
The directors of the Company appointed an independent
valuer, Greater China Appraisal Limited, to estimate the
fair value of the above warrants. The fair values of the
warrants were determined using the Binomial method. As
at date of issue, the fair value of the warrants was
HKD3,075,000, which was charged to profit or loss during
the year ended 31 December 2016, representing
HKDO0.3075 per warrant granted. The significant inputs
used in the warrants valuation method were exercise price
of HKD4.10 per warrant, volatility of 38.0567%, dividend
yield of 4.7483%, an expected life of 3 years, and an
annual risk-free interest rate of 1.3713%.

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Group is controlled by Media Cornerstone Limited
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, which owns 55%
of the Company'’s shares. Space Management Limited
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands holds 20% of the
Company'’s shares. The other remaining 25% of the shares
are widely held. The directors regard Media Cornerstone
Limited as the holding company and ultimate holding
company respectively. The ultimate controlling party of
the Group is Mr. Lam.

Same as disclosed in other notes above, the following
significant transactions were carried out between the
Group and its related parties during the year ended 31
December 2016. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the related party transactions were carried out
in the normal course of business and at terms negotiated
between the Group and the respective related parties.
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36. EXBBMAERS (&) 36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(a) BABARS (a) Transactions with related parties
() BEEETRERA (i)  Advertising display service incomes

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 20154
2016 2015
THERT TR
HKD’000 HKD’000
BEAF Associates:
— R 5 4 — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 4,236 2,341
— REIKAESE — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 2,203 4,597
R—EHEA = Non-controlling interest in
FEIER R a subsidiary:
— EGWEEERR AT — Wuxi Metro Group Limited and
NEF AR ([0 E its subsidiaries (&5t 1 &
REFRARD BERARIREFRA)
("Wuxi Metro and its
subsidiaries”) 3,066 1,101
— EERSEEER — Yunnan Airport Group Company
BEERAIREFAA Limited and its subsidiaries
(T EmEHS R (EEHSEERRAETEAR
HFRrall) KEF 7)) (“Yunnan Airport
and its subsidiaries”) 482 =

9,987 8,039
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36. EXBEHAIRS (&) 36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(a) BEARZ (&) (a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)
(i)  EBEZEEfFTs S8 (i)  Concession fee charges for advertising spaces

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 20154
2016 2015
THERT THETT
HKD’000 HKD’000
LB/ Associates:
— BEXIES — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 6,679 12,631
— EAER — Guangxi Top Source 3,418 3,330
— R T A — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 99,139 89,647
RHE 2T Non-controlling interests in
FIERER ¢ subsidiaries:
— EmE#IE & — Yunnan Airport and its
HF QA subsidiaries 113,768 111,539
— AEEKEEEBR AR — Henan Airport Group Company
([ R #eIE ) Limited (i F & ISR E B R
2 7)) (“Henan Airport”) 102,159 36,643
— EHHE R E T AR — Wuxi Metro and its subsidiaries 28,062 47,163
— EBHERBERERR — Qingdao Chengyang
NG )) Development and Investment
Company Limited (5 S5
FEREBRAQA)
("Qingdao Chengyang”) 12,815 10,179
366,040 311,132
(i) Bt TE S EREE (iii) ~ Sales commissions paid/payable

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 FF 20154
2016 2015
FET THET
HKD’000 HKD'000

BENT : Associates:
— R T A A — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 544 504
— REIAEE — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising - 3

544 507
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36. EXBEHAIRS (&) 36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(a) PBEAREZ (&) (a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)
(iv) WAEHZFHES (iv)  Office rental expenses

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 20154
2016 2015
THET TR
HKD’000 HKD’000
R—EHE L= Non-controlling interest in
FEIERR R a subsidiary:

— EEBEREFRF — Yunnan Airport and

its subsidiaries 1,492 1,640
) Bt ENEELHER (v)  Utilities cost paid/payable

HBZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 20154
2016 2015
THERT T
HKD’'000 HKD’'000
e NG Non-controlling interests
FrIERRER in subsidiaries:
— EMBERET AR — Yunnan Airport and
its subsidiaries 4,116 4,573
— U5 — Henan Airport 2,594 739

6,710 5,312
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36. EXBBMAERS (&) 36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(a) BEARZ (&) (a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

i) FEEHEASFH (vi) Key management compensation
HEEBRBENNEMNEEZEE The compensations paid or payable to key
AB(BRESE  THAHLEEH management personnel (including directors, chief
HERITHAR) KR T executive officer and other senior executives) for

employee services are shown below:

HZ12A3MBLEE

Year ended 31 December

2016 F 20154
2016 2015
FHET T4
HKD'000 HKD’'000
ITERF® Wages and salaries 8,362 9,499
ARG B ERE 2 38 Share-based payments 7.575 9,246
RIRETEIE TR Retirement scheme contributions 285 290
TE4T Bonuses 44 66
Bt Total 16,266 19,101
(b) EEBAESMILX (b) Balances with related parties
(i) ErREWRERL - () Included in trade receivables:
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2016 fFF 20154
2016 2015
FHET FHIT
HKD'000 HKD'000
A PNCIE Associates:
— RIS T4 — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 9,007 9,156
— REIES — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 949 1,652
R—REME A RN Non-controlling interest in
IR ¢ a subsidiary:
— EGHE N E TR T — Wuxi Metro and its subsidiaries 472 642

10,428 11,450
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36. EXBEBAIRS (&) 36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) EERAELMGEX(E) (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)
(i) EBREER - (i) Included in trade payables:
R12H31H
As at 31 December
2016 20154
2016 2015
FE T THETT
HKD’'000 HKD'000
B AT - Associates:
— RYIH 5 ML 4 — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 141 -
ey NG Non-controlling interests
FrERRER in subsidiaries:
— EEBEREFRF — Yunnan Airport and
its subsidiaries 1,996 760
L — Henan Airport 22,113 22,320
24,250 23,080
(i)  BFREMPETHIEA - (iii)  Included in other prepayments:
R12831H
As at 31 December
2016 F 2015 4F
2016 2015
F#ET FATT
HKD'000 HKD'000
il PN Associates:
— REIAES — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 841 1,301
— EATER — Guangxi Top Source 154 155
AR B A RIHY Non-controlling interests
FERER in subsidiaries:
— EHHE R AT AR — Wuxi Metro and its subsidiaries 617 10,441
— 555 — Qingdao Chengyang 1,476 2,328

3,088 14,225
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ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. EXBEBARS (&) 36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) EERAELMGERX(EZ) (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(iv) BRIEFELEMEFTERLES (iv)  Included in accrued concession fee charges for
5 advertising spaces:

i

MW12A31H
As at 31 December
2016 F 20154
2016 2015
F#ET T4
HKD'000 HKD’'000
-4 BN Associates:
— BEKAES — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising = 105
— YIS — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 23,219 39,981
RHE QR Non-controlling interests
FrIERRER in subsidiaries:
— EEBEREF AT — Yunnan Airport and
its subsidiaries 98,538 96,243
— 0] — Henan Airport 28,092 6,154
— EH U R EFAF] — Wuxi Metro and its subsidiaries = 8,288
149,849 150,771
) EBRAEMBEWIA - (v)  Included in other receivables:
R12A31H
As at 31 December
2016 fFF 20154
2016 2015
FHET FHIT
HKD'000 HKD'000
BE AT : Associates:
— EBER — Guangxi Top Source 112 119
— YIS T — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 3,169 379
R—REMEA RN Non-controlling interest
IR ¢ in a subsidiary:
— EEEIG R AT AR — Yunnan Airport and
its subsidiaries 76 74
— S N E TR F] — Wuxi Metro and its subsidiaries 3,268 -

6,625 572
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ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. EXEBARE (&) 36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) EEREEAMLER (E) (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)
(i) EBREMENZIE (vi) Included in other payables:
R12A318
As at 31 December
2016 FF 20154
2016 2015
FET TET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
R—REHRBATN Non-controlling interest
JEIRRRAE RS ¢ in a subsidiary:
— SH F 35 — Henan Airport 1,666 145
LREEETMERTBEK The above balances with related parties were
o RERRERER - unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
EXREMETRESTEER The English names of certain related parties referred
KX &M ERNABIIEANR to above represented the best efforts by
FIE B & N X B R A management of the Company in translating their
e Chinese names, as they do not have official English
names.
37. REMERIE 37. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
AR AR AR A f8K 8 A 5 P S 105 R L The Group leases certain office buildings and certain
ETMAMERETHEEER - sl media resources under non-cancellable operating lease
MEEENMAPH 1 FE10FTE - M agreements. The lease terms for office buildings are
HEEERAIA 1 FE10FTE - MAZ negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 10 years, and
NHAEHEIRBREREZNSHEE those for media resources are negotiated for terms
e ranging from 1 to 10 years, and majority of lease

agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period
at market rate.
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ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. KEHERE®) 37. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (Continued)
AT AREERETRE&LHEER The Group's future aggregate minimum lease payments
R EEFAS N sasE under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
R12A31R
As at 31 December
2016 F 20154
2016 2015
FET THETT
HKD’000 HKD’000
NE2NE:S Not later than 1 year 853,071 805,066
SRV FETZREF Later than 1 year and not
later than 5 years 1,613,948 1,727,255
%5 F Later than 5 years 750,371 817,451
3,217,390 3,349,772
38. HEEHE 38. CONTINGENCIES
REEMN20165F R2015F 12311 The Group had no material contingent liabilities
BMESASIAEE - outstanding as at 31 December 2016 and 2015.
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ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY

39. ARFEERBRRMEERE

MW12A31H
As at 31 December
2016 £ 20154F
2016 2015
F#&T FHT
HKD'000 HKD'000
BE ASSETS
FRBEE Non-current asset
R—ERB AR ZIRE Investment in a subsidiary 280,094 280,094
REEE Current assets
H b U RIR Other receivables 514,128 555,249
(SRS Short-term deposits - 27,000
HEeRIREEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 2,442 35,828
516,570 618,077
HWEE Total assets 796,664 898,171
EankaE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
AAREEA Equity attributable to owners
b of the Company
[N Share capital (a) 44,000 44,000
gyl Share premium (a) 461,013 557,813
oy Reserves (a) 278,958 264,528
2t EE Accumulated losses (a) (27,840) (9,260)
RS Total equity 756,131 857,081
=L Liabilities
REEE Current liability
H A BRI Other payables 40,533 41,090
BaE Total liability 40,533 41,090
HERRAE Total equity and liability 796,664 898,171

ARBEERBERELEFTEN 2017
FIA24BHETIE - YHUTEER

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the
Board of Directors on 24 March 2017 and was signed on

REE - its behalf.
MEE BREX
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent So Chi Man
FE HITEE
Chairman Executive Director
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ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. ARAREERERRREEED 39. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
(4&) OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) ZAQREZEH (a) Equity movement of the Company

REEH/ HRHRER
Bx  (Z:HER)  ROEE NREERE IBERRE  RHEE
Retained
earnings/ Share-based

Share  (accumulated Share  compensation Warrant Other

capital losses) premium reserve reserve reserves Total

TiEx TERL TATL T TERL ThEL Tin
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

R201581 418 At 1 January 2015 33,000 539 - - - 29,674 283213
FEER Loss for the year - (9.799) = = = - (9,799)
Brakt Issuance of new shares 11,000 - 810,613 - - - 621,613
RE Dividends - - (52,800 - - - (52,800)
EaRRETY Employee share option scheme:

—REREER —value of employee sevices - - - 14,854 - - 14,854
R2015512 318 At 31 December 2015 44,000 9,260) 557,813 14,85 - 29,674 857,081
R16E1A1R At 1 January 2016 44,000 (9,260) 557,813 14,854 - 249,674 857,081
FEER Loss for the year - (18,580) - - - - (18,580)
k& Dividends - - (96,800) - - - (96,800)
ERBRE: Employes share option scheme:

- E2RBER — value of employee services - - - 11,355 - - 11,355
BN i Issuance of warrant . - - - 3075 . 3,075
R2016512A31R At 31 December 2016 44,000 (27,840) 461,013 26,209 3,075 249,674 756,131
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ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40.

EEME
BNEENEZE 2016512 A31 BILE
EHWEBEE7 0T

40. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31

December 2016 is set out as below:

Name of directors

IR Chairman

L5 Mr. Lam

YTES Executive directors
HEX So Chi Man

WRE Lam Ka Po

FTES Non-executive director
HAX Yung Chung Man
BukynEs Independent non-executive directors
SheH Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung
558 Ma Ho Fai

B+ Chan Chi Fai Andrew

i

Fees Salary
TR TEL
HKD'000  HKD'000

BERA

Discretionary
bonuses
Tén
HKD'000

RHR
LY

Allowances
and benefits
in kind
Ti#n
HKD'000

Y
B
R L

Employer's
contribution
toa
retirement
benefit
scheme
ThR
HKD'000

HEZER
ZAONGTE:S
KEARER
ZHHHM
BEEHR
EyELHS
Other
emoluments
paid or
receivable in
respect of
director's
other services
in connection
with the
management
of the affairs
of the
company
orits
subsidiary
undertaking
TR
HKD'000

- 1,200 - 3,361 18 -
- 1,920 - m 18 -
- 1920 - 954 18 -
- 500 - 1,494 18 -
216 - - 5 - -
216 - - 5 - -
216 - - 15 - -

Asiaray Media Group Limited

2016 Annual Report

Total
ThR
HKD'000

4,579

2,909
2,892

2,012

291
291
291
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ESOtEAFRERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. EEME (&)

BNEENEHZE2015F12A31 BILE
EHEBEE7 0T

iR
v

unge
REX
BEX
n5E

BUkufTES
BRE

55R

B

A HEEREBERAF

Name of directors

Chairman
Mr. Lam

Executive directors
Yung Chung Man
So Chi Man

Lam Ka Po

Independent non-executive directors
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Ma Ho Fai

Chan Chi Fai Andrew

20168 196

40.

Fees
Fim
HKD'000

216
216
216

DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31
December 2015 is set out as below:

Salary
TER
HKD'000

1,200

2,245
1920
1920

Discretionary
bonuses
TiEL
HKD'000

R RS

Other

emoluments

paid or

receivable in

respect of

director's

other services

in connection

with the

management

Employer's  of the affairs

contribution of the

toa company

Allowances  retirement orits
and benefits benefit  subsidiary
inkind scheme  undertaking
Thr T Thn
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

4,092 18 -
1,934 18 -
1,257 18 -
1,236 18 -
97 - -
97 - -
97 - -

Total
T
HKD'000

313
313
313



ESOtEAFEERZRMIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

EEWS
HZE2016F12A31BILEFE @ HESE
FEERE BB TS 1E AN A S EE
FASE R R s R AR A FE B
EEENSREREABRESREME
BN (20154 : 4E) -

EEERKER
HZE2016F 12 A31HILEE @ HER
EARRRREWBRARESIRERN
EEREIMBBEIEANRNENB
ARAIEKEEZ HMRY - AAARE
EXHEMBAERLENTEERR
K& 78/ E F R IKE F (20154 -
£ 3

EEEBEA
HZE2016F 12 A31HILEE © HER
RARERRAKRIEEAMAESEI
EfaI {8 (20154 « £E) o

AE=AXNRHEESHRH2KE

HE2016F 12 A31BILFE * RNAF]
WARREABLE = AT ERRIEZ
KB (20154 : ) o

BEUES  EEcZEHEEREE
EREAZBACER EERREMR
Z2ER

HZE2016F 12 A31BILFE © &
RARES  BERZZEHIEEREE
BERAZSAZER - EEFRRHEMR
5 (20154 « #&) »

EENRS  RERSHZEAER

RERSFAEMMEERE - RATESH
BERARRERIVEAREEEBHR
BEBRG  RHRANTHREEAEKX
Bk R (20154 : &) -

40. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

Directors’ remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2016, no director
received any emolument from the Group as an
inducement to join or leave the Group or compensation
for loss of office; no directors and senior management
waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments (2015:
nil).

Directors’ retirement benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2016, no retirement
benefits paid to the directors of the Company by a
defined benefit pension plan operated by the Group in
respect of the director’s services as a director of the
Company and its subsidiaries or other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking (2015: nil).

Directors’ termination benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2016, no payments
to the directors of the Company as compensation for the
early termination of the appointment (2015: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company
did not provide to any third party for making available
director’s services (2015: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2016, no loans,
quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors of the
Company, controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors (2015: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year
(2015: nil).
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D FH AR
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

E RESULTS

BZ12A3MBLEEE
Year ended 31 December
2016 FF 20154 20144 2013 20124

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
TER TR TAT TAT TR
HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000 ~ HKD'000  HKD'000

RANBBEB AL Profit/(loss) attributable to
FE,/ (E58) owners of the Company 15,826 (39,616) 142,555 129,261 59,625

KETAIE - FiIE - #TE Earnings before interest, tax,
K SHATE B depreciation and
amortisation 88,897 24,031 258,145 238,193 124,056

BEERERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
2016 F 2015 20145 20134 2012

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
TER TAET TAT TBT TAT
HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000 ~ HKD'000  HKD'000

BEE Total assets 1,132,134 1,260,694 992,386 856,413 627,069
FER=R Total liabilities (549,629) (560,025)  (783,615)  (649,049)  (586,998)
FEE Net assets 582,505 700,669 208,771 207,364 40,071
fEkE AN AR HEIA2014F12A31 HAY The results and summary of assets and liabilities for the years
BREEAHZE2012F & 2013F 12 A 31 ended 31 December 2012 and 2013 which were extracted from
AIEFEZEEUREERBEHRETIR the Company’s Prospectus dated 31 December 2014 have
BIEAREERSE  DBRAEEES B been prepared on a combined basis to indicate the results of
AN BB B R T E IR ETh I 2 AN &= the Group as if the Group structure, at the time the Company’s
BIEBRZEFE —HEFE - shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,

had been in existence throughout those years.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent

(Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. So Chi Man (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Lam Ka Po (Chief Marketing Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yung Chung Man
Mr. Wong Chi Kin

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Mr. Ma Ho Fai SBS JP

Professor Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP
COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. So Chi Man

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVE

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
Mr. So Chi Man

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung (Chairman)
Mr. Ma Ho Fai SBS JP

Professor Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP
NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman)
Professor Chan Chi Fai Andrew SBS JP
Mr. Ma Ho Fai SBS JP
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Ma Ho Fai SBS JP (Chairman)

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
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Mayer Brown JSM
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Central, Hong Kong
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Messis Capital Limited
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Shanghai Pudong Development Bank,
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REGISTERED OFFICE

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309 Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
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Unit 01-03, 17/F.

Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower
1 Kornhill Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.

Hopewell Centre
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Wanchai, Hong Kong
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